

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2016

Exploring Best Practices to Utilize Business Intelligence Systems

John James McHenry *Walden University*

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations Part of the <u>Business Commons</u>

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

John James McHenry

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Yvette Ghormley, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Carol-Anne Faint, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Steve Munkeby, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer Eric Riedel, Ph.D.

Walden University 2016

Abstract

Exploring Best Practices to Utilize Business Intelligence Systems

by

John James McHenry

MA, Liberty University, 2011

BS, Liberty University, 2009

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

August 2016

Abstract

Organizational leaders who can manage business intelligence system (BIS) resources may achieve sustainable success in economic, political, and corporate environments. The review of professional literature indicated that effective resource management in a BIS environment requires the establishment of best practice. The purpose of this qualitative, single-case study was to explore best practices among 9 BIS practitioners for effective resource management. Participation criteria included the active engagement in BIS professional disciplines and the willingness to share their perspectives. The conceptual framework for this study was the cognitive experiential self-theory (CEST). Five leaders and 4 data analysts at an eastern U.S. county government agency were interviewed. Using computer based qualitative data analysis software to assist with the coding process, interview transcripts and the published directives of government agency leaders were reviewed to identify themes and achieve triangulation. Five themes emerged: the need for comprehensive policies and procedures for creating operating standards, updated data acquisition training, human capital dynamics management for improved efficiency, protocols for transforming raw information into knowledge, and safeguards for preventing bias in data analysis. Findings derived from this study could contribute to global social change as BIS leaders use best practices to improve resource and data management proficiencies for rapidly transforming information into knowledge for developing policies, services, and regulations that affect public safety, fiscal planning, and social risk management.

Exploring Best Practices to Utilize Business Intelligence Systems

by

John James McHenry

MA, Liberty University, 2011

BS, Liberty University, 2009

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

August 2016

Dedication

I dedicate this paper to my father and mother, James and Norma McHenry, thank you for your unconditional support and encouragement. Without you, Stephanie and I could not have pursued our goals and earned our doctorates. Dad, one of my greatest regrets will always be that I did not graduate before your passing on September 4, 2015, so we could share the experience together. To my sons, Ryan, Zachary, Isaac, and Jacob, I am so proud of you all. You were all great children and now that you are men, you are my best friends. To my sister Sandie and brother Robert Dickerson, thank you for cheering me on to the finish line and understanding my eccentricities. To my sisters, Hope and Faith, you have wonderful families. If there were a doctorate for motherhood, you would both be recipients. To our family friends, Sundi and Brian McLaughlin, without regard for personal gain your family has taken up a post on the wall to guard our freedom. I sincerely thank you for the sacrifices you make to keep us safe; they have not gone unnoticed or unappreciated. If I could choose another brother and sister, I would choose you two. With all of my heart I want to thank the most important person in my life, my wife Stephanie McHenry; DNP. You are one of the most remarkable people I have ever known. You raised four incredible sons, balanced a professional career, earned your doctorate, and spent countless days and nights supporting me without a complaint. I am your son, father, brother, husband, and friend, but I am nothing without all of you. Thank you all.

Acknowledgments

First, I would like to thank my chair, Dr. Yvette Ghormley, for all the encouragement and not letting me settle for less than my skills would permit. Between Dr. Yvette Ghormley and Dr. Stephanie McHenry, I could not get away with the slightest infraction. Dr. Yvette Ghormley, you were the perfect choice as the Committee Chair. You are an all go, no quit, no excuses professional and I thank you for your commitment. Moreover, I thank you and your family for the sacrifices they have made to protect the freedoms we enjoy. To you and your family, I wish you fair winds and following seas.

The ability to achieve goals is easier with the support of friends and other scholars. I would like to thank Dr. James Alexander for his support and allowing me to stand on his shoulders to achieve my goals. I would also like to thank Mr. Charlie Thorpe M.A. for his continued support and embodying the very definition of a good leader and friend, by encouraging me to achieve personal and professional goals.

I would like to acknowledge my second committee person, Dr. Carol-Ann Faint, and the URR, Dr. Steven Munkeby, for their wisdom and efforts to make the study better. Often the smallest change in a study makes the difference. Thank you for your attention to detail. Also, thank you Dr. Freda Turner for every attempt to make the program better.

Section 1: Foundation of the Study1
Background of the Problem2
Problem Statement
Purpose Statement4
Nature of the Study4
Research Question
Interview Questions
Conceptual Framework7
Definition of Terms9
Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations10
Assumptions11
Limitations11
Delimitations11
Significance of the Study12
Contribution to Business Practice
Implications for Social Change12
A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature14
Cognitive-Experiential Self-Theory15
Leadership23
Intelligence Cycle
Advancements in Intelligence Systems

Table of Contents

Data Intelligence Systems Value	
Data Analytics	
Summary of Literature Review	53
Transition	53
Section 2: The Project	55
Purpose Statement	55
Role of the Researcher	55
Participants	58
Research Method and Design	60
Research Method	60
Research Design	
Population and Sampling	64
Ethical Research	66
Data Collection	68
Instruments	68
Data Collection Technique	71
Data Organization Techniques	74
Data Analysis	76
Coding and Themes	77
Reliability and Validity	79
Transition and Summary	81
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	83

Introduction
Presentation of the Findings
Theme 1: Development of Policies and Procedures for the Creation of
Operating Standards
Theme 2: Data Acquisition Training
Theme 3: Human Capital Dynamics Management for Improved Efficiency 92
Theme 4: Protocols for Transforming Raw Information into Knowledge97
Theme 5: Data Analysis Bias Prevention Safeguards
Findings Aligned with the Cognitive-Experiential Self-Theory 107
Findings Aligned with Existing Literature 109
Applications to Professional Practice111
Implications for Social Change113
Recommendations for Action114
Recommendations for Further Study116
Reflections117
Summary and Study Conclusions
References
Appendix A: Organizational Approval to Conduct Research162
Appendix B: E-mail Introduction
Appendix C: Interview Protocol and Questions165

List of Tables

Table 1. Development of Policies and Procedures for the Creation of Operating	
Standards (Frequency)	87
Table 2. Data Acquisition Training (Frequency)	90
Table 3. Human Capital Dynamics Management for Improved Efficiency	
(Frequency)	95
Table 4. Protocols for Transforming Raw Information into Knowledge	
(Frequency)	102
Table 5. Data Analysis Bias Prevention Safeguards (Frequency)	104

Section 1: Foundation of the Study

The concept of BISs applies to any intelligence tool used to monitor information from different sources to help make managerial decisions in organizations (Affeldt & da Silva, 2013). BIS leaders utilize information technology (IT) for data acquisition and analysis to improve decision-making and productivity (Popovic, Hackney, Coelho, & Jaklic, 2012). The BIS construct provides private business and government agency leaders with the ability to exploit operational data and improve management control systems (Elbashir, Collier, Sutton, Davern, & Leech, 2013). However, BIS implementation is complex, requiring considerable resources with limited error tolerance to maximize critical success factors (Olszak & Ziemba, 2012). Implementing an organizational system for effective BIS operation may require years to complete. Santos (2013) conducted a case study of new organizational safety policies and procedures at a government agency during BIS implementation. The implementation required 7 years to complete due to the complexity of the three-phase process: (a) initial constitution of a planned framework, (b) institutionalizing program practices and procedures, and then (c) finalizing an organizational goal specific strategy through normalization (Santos, 2013). The complexity of introducing policy and procedural changes in an organization make best practices essential to controlling the timeframe of an implementation process.

The failure of BISs can occur for various reasons. Popovic et al. (2012) stated that leadership is the most significant factor influencing the success of IT-intensive strategies, inclusive of BIS. Intelligence systems (IS) leaders may not have the knowledge needed to select the appropriate data analytic techniques in order to achieve precise outcomes (Chen, Roger, & Storey, 2012). The sustainability of BISs may decline if data managers inaccurately assess the level of skill required by personnel to transform data into intelligence (Evans & Kebbell, 2012). Furthermore, with frequency, organizational leaders neglect to identify the existence of *Big Data* and the value of information refined for intelligence-led actions (Evans & Kebbell, 2012). Chen, Mao and Liu (2014) argued datasets incapable of transformation into information with a distinguishable value using conventional means within an acceptable timeframe define the abstract concept referred to as Big Data. Moreover, when BISs are flawed, organizations cannot produce reliable information for a decision support system or do so inefficiently (Olszak & Ziemba, 2012). Among the challenges encountered by organizational leader's employing big data, include the need to maximize BIS performance.

Background of the Problem

In response to industry and vendor interest, BIS researchers focused on IT innovations; however, essential human resource (HR) management factors were ignored (Elbashir et al., 2013). Furthermore, Elbashir et al. (2013) posited that a substantial investment globally by private and government organizations to unlock the potential value of big data for BISs, illustrates the intrinsic value of intelligence-led practices. BISs are useful as constructs for leaders to form management control systems necessary to support regulatory compliance and to govern risk management (Elbashir et al., 2013). The success of economic, political, and organizational systems relies on effective leadership to implement BISs (Parris & Peachey, 2012). Further research identifying the value of effective leadership guidance in business systems is necessary to assess the influences on economic, political, and organizational system operations (Parris & Peachey, 2012).

Government entities in the United Kingdom applied business management philosophies and practices to fulfill government IS responsibilities prior to 1990 (James, 2014). An evolution in the business-to-governmental (B2G) use of BIS models occurred as government officials attempted to meet public needs and services (Bharosa et al., 2013). The use of emerging BIS models by administrators of private organizations allowed leaders of government agencies to address safety and security risks to society, and helped assure financial and social stability (Bharosa et al., 2013). Mirroring IS-led policies in the United Kingdom, government agency leaders in the United States have adopted similar B2G practices (Carter & Phillips, 2013). A paradigm shift in the use of BISs by government agencies necessitated the establishment of innovative information system policies capable of predictive analytics (Gravelle & Rogers, 2012).

Problem Statement

The shortage of 1.5 million knowledgeable business intelligence leaders in the United States may leave corporations with the inability to transform raw data for strategic use (Chen et al., 2012). Sixty percent of successful outcomes generated using a business intelligence system have a direct correlation to leadership (Elbashir et al., 2013). A lack of leadership expertise regarding information management and analysis results in the failure of intelligence systems (Farrokhi & Laszlo, 2013). The general business problem was the selection of an inappropriate cognitive strategy by business intelligence leadership creates data management and analysis inefficiencies. The specific business problem was data management leaders lack best practices needed to utilize business intelligence systems for effective resource management.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative, single-case study was to explore the best practices needed by data management leaders to utilize BISs for effective resource management. The population consisted of county government leaders and data analysts in the eastern United States who were using intelligence system methodologies (ISM) within an implemented BIS. According to Ganzert, Martinelli, and Delai (2012), due to recursive processes in an ISM environment, a systematic approach to decision-making involves each person contributing to IS functions. The results of this study may contribute to social change through the utilization of a government BIS framework to improve the development of public safety policies.

Nature of the Study

I selected a qualitative method for this study. Qualitative researchers use interviews, combined with stories, observations, and other pertinent information to acquire research data (Sandelowski & Leeman, 2012). Policy and practice decisionmakers use the qualitative research method to gain needed insight into complex business strategies (Sallee & Flood, 2012). In contrast, quantitative researchers implement a variety of methods to gain knowledge about a population (Schrodt, 2014), which result in generalized numeric outcomes (Houghton, Casey, Shaw, & Murphy, 2013). A quantitative research method was not appropriate for this study because I did not obtain statistical data or test a hypothesis. Using the mixed method approach, researchers combine qualitative and quantitative methods to understand a particular problem (Cameron & Molina-Azorin, 2014). Since I gathered information from various sources to gain a multifaceted view of the problem, absent of statistical data, the mixed method approach was not appropriate for this study.

The five strategies for qualitative research are case studies, ethnography, narrative, grounded theory, and phenomenology (Petty, Thomson, & Stew, 2012). I used a single case study design. A case study design allows researchers to explore a multifaceted social phenomenon (Yin, 2014), and permits the researcher to explore numerous data sources, ensuring a multifaceted view of the phenomenon (Hoon, 2013). Therefore, I selected a single case study design to provide a comprehensive exploration of multiple perspectives involving a complex business situation.

The ethnographic researcher explores the beliefs, language, and behaviors of a group by immersing in the culture (Jansson & Nikolaidou, 2013). Since I focused on the participant's experiences as opposed to cultural immersion, the ethnographic approach was not suitable for this study. Researchers use the narrative design to explore the human experience and collect insight in the construction of personal identities by gathering multiple narratives (Pettigrew, 2013). Insights into the construction of personal identities

were not the focus of my intended research, making the narrative design an inappropriate selection. The grounded theory researcher uses collected data to posit a substantive theory about the study population's experiences (Wyatt, 2013). Since I did not seek to develop a theory, grounded theory was not appropriate for this study. Phenomenology allows a researcher to explore the lived experience of a participant group (Moustakas, 1994). Since I focused on causation, as opposed to lived personal experiences associated with a phenomenon, the phenomenological approach was not appropriate for this study.

Research Question

The central research question that will drive this study is: What best practices are needed by data management leaders to utilize business intelligence systems for effective resource management?

Interview Questions

The participants will respond to the following questions during the interview process:

- 1. What task analyses are necessary to utilize an intelligence system for effective resource management?
- 2. What skills and training do leaders need to utilize an intelligence system for resource management?
- 3. What principles can leaders espouse when utilizing an intelligence system to establish best practices to manage resources?

- 4. What are best practices that may assist leaders in effectively utilizing intelligence systems at government agencies?
- 5. What data analytic model(s) does your agency need to utilize an intelligence system to identify patterns or themes in information?
- 6. How do the data analytic model(s) used by your agency transform information into actionable intelligence?
- 7. What data analytic reasoning process(es) should leaders choose for the implementation of an intelligence system for the proficient use of resources?
- 8. What information technology requirements are essential for the successful implementation of an intelligence system?
- 9. What knowledge relating to data analysis technologies and methodologies do leaders need for the effective utilization of an intelligence system to proficiently employ resources?
- 10. What additional information can you add that would be valuable to this study?

Conceptual Framework

The conceptual framework for this study was the CEST. In 1991, Epstein (2014) published CEST to explain the thoughts, perceptions, and analytic methods of individuals. Epstein stated that essential decision-making factors identified in the CEST model included (a) emotion, (b) cognitive bias, and (c) personal experience. Epstein offered insights into the problem solving and information analysis methods used by BIS practitioners based on the principles of CEST.

Analytic intelligence personnel frequently exhibit specific factors attributed to cognitive and experiential reasoning (Brewster et al., 2014). The decision-making key factors may extend to an individual's information analysis discernment (Cerni, Curtis, & Colmar, 2012). Using the CEST theory, analysts can make sense of multifaceted and convoluted information using positive affect behaviors and intuition (Burton, Heintzelman, & King, 2013). The analytical method must match the propensities of an individual to optimize the positive effects on the decision-making process (Armstrong et al., 2012). Leadership relies on CEST components to advance the analysis of information and resolve problems in dynamic situations (Akinci & Sadler-Smith, 2013).

Organizational leaders use the principles of CEST to reduce the risk of bias decision-making, and improve information processing by allowing analysts to employ experiential and rational reasoning (Neuert & Hoeckel, 2013). Government agency analysts have developed a pronounced experiential thinking style to make decisions expeditiously (Worrall, 2013). According to Skaržauskienė and Jonušauskas (2013), fluid business environments require concise business decisions; the ability to produce accurate business decisions quickly defines an effective business leader (). Effective decisionmaking requires a system perspective to address the significance of problem convolution. Departure from a system perspective can yield inaccurate decision-making ().

The CEST framework allows organizations to benefit from the advantages of intuitive decision-making without the risk of biased results (Neuert & Hoeckel, 2013). Fostering an environment of experiential and rational analytic integration might improve efficiency (Armstrong, Cools, & Sadler-Smith, 2012). Armstrong et al. (2012) stated that, to optimize the positive effects of the decision-making process, the correct analytical method must match an individual's analytic propensity.

Definition of Terms

Big Data: Big Data is an abstract concept encompassing datasets incapable of identification, acquisition, management, and processing by conventional information technology and software/hardware tools within an acceptable timeframe (Chen, Mao, & Liu, 2014).

Case-based reasoning: Case-based reasoning is a process used by individuals and artificial ISs to solve new problems, based on comparative situations and resolutions (Shokouhi, Skalle, & Aamodt, 2014).

Cognitive bias processing: Cognitive bias processing is a method of information processing and decision-making involving the conversion of objective evidence and subjective estimates using distorted information (Hilbert, 2012).

Experiential information processing: Experiential information processing is an intuitive cognitive style derived from personal experience used by an individual to organize, represent, and process information based on life experiences (Akinci & Sadler-Smith, 2013).

Field interview: Field interviews typically occur in an unstructured environment requiring an interviewer to listen actively as an interviewee offers answers to questions or information freely without unnecessary interruption (Colomb et al., 2013).

Intelligence cycle (IC): An intelligence cycle is a method of transforming information into knowledge for use by decision-makers, using distinct stages including planning, collection, processing, analysis, and dissemination (Anton, 2013).

Intelligence system (IS): An intelligence system is a formal or informal system used to combine data gathered from different sources into information of value (Rudas, Pap, & Fodor, 2013).

Multivariate reasoning methods: Multivariate reasoning methods are a means of integrating multiple decision-making methods to process large volumes of complex data (Furao, Sudo, & Hasegawa, 2010).

Rational information processing: Rational information processing is an analytical style using mathematic analysis requiring inquiry and evidencing to organize, represent and process information (Akinci & Sadler-Smith, 2013).

Rules-based reasoning: Rules based reasoning is the use of a data-mining algorithm to discover hidden patterns and relations in complex datasets (Kahn & Mohamudally, 2012).

Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

Assumptions are espoused ideas based on information accepted as plausibly true based on a researcher's representation of the study population, statistical validation, research design, or other explanations of facts (Martin & Parmar, 2012). Limitations are research restrictions commonly beyond the researcher's control that may affect the study design and results (Kirkwood & Price, 2013). Delimitations define the boundaries set by a researcher to prevent the expansion of a study, and to safeguard the feasibility of the research (Becker, 2013).

Assumptions

This research was subject to five assumptions: (a) Leaderships' best practices influence IC success (Popovic et al., 2012). (b) CEST was an appropriate and useful method to understand the data analyst methodologies (Akinci & Sadler-Smith, 2013). (c) BIS leadership lacked best practices to manage resources and meet stakeholder expectations. (d) Interviewing IS leaders, analysts, and information gatherers was sufficient to answer the research question. (e) The participants responded truthfully to the interview questions.

Limitations

Limitations are potential weaknesses of a study (Kirkwood & Price, 2013). Two limitations were present in the study. The first limitation was my research study was restricted to a single county government agency located in the United States and may not reflect the findings of other organizations and geographical locations. The second limitation was that I only utilized a qualitative single-case study to address the research question.

Delimitations

Delimitations are the bounds of the study (Becker, 2013). Two delimiters were present in the study. The first delimitations of this study was that I only interviewed IS leaders and analyst in a targeted county government agency. The second delimitation was that CEST was the sole conceptual framework through which I analyzed the study findings.

Significance of the Study

Contribution to Business Practice

The data collected for the study may contribute to the gap in business practice regarding leaders' administration of BISs in the government and private sectors. Organizations should recognize the need to optimize training and development programs involving the assessment of individual cognitive styles for employees and leaders tasked with IS functions (Akinci & Sadler-Smith, 2013). Understanding and utilizing the benefits of experiential and rational analytics can aid in the development of reliable predictive ISs formed of interdisciplinary skills providing a construct for the efficient processing of Big Data (Chen et al., 2012). The converging dynamics of government and private sector BISs are necessary to construct an effective intelligence infrastructure (Copeland et al., 2012). Innovative private sector business models and management philosophies, inclusive of business intelligence (BI), are alternatives to outmoded government practices (Anton, 2013). Leadership tasked with administering BISs may benefit from best practices to identify data analytic processes and manage outcome expectations related to organizational strategic plans.

Implications for Social Change

The BIS label refers to a systematic chain of tasks, applicable to government or private sector intelligence models (Carter & Phillips, 2013). Leaders of government

agencies recognize the value of knowledge-led initiatives via BISs to improve public safety policies (Carter & Phillips, 2013) and are adapting business practices to deliver public safety services (Coyne & Bell, 2011). Carter and Phillips (2013) further stated the practice of extracting intelligence from data for decision-making has evolved since the 1970's. Moreover, the expanded operation of BISs in the United Kingdom aided government leaders in the design and implementation of the National Intelligence Model and the establishment of a comparable U.S. model, the American Nation Criminal Intelligence Sharing Plan (Gibbs et al., 2015). Using an IS, government agencies in the United States may reduce strategic uncertainty for decision-makers by preparing public service strategies and future capabilities through an anticipatory needs approach (Gibbs et al., 2015).

Darroch and Mazerolle (2013) argued the application of BIS functions by leaders of government agencies may help exploit information previously considered incomplete or too complex for use in the decision-making processes. Further, leaders may gain the knowledge necessary to reduce public anxiety through policy and regulatory development. Government agency leaders use the structure of BISs to develop actionable knowledge and share information related to public safety in a proactive effort to mitigate risks (Carter & Phillips, 2013). The use of intelligence-led initiatives has increased globally the operational effectiveness of government agencies that manage public safety risks to society (Darroch & Mazerolle, 2013). Establishing the leadership best practices that are required to implement BISs may enhance the efficiency of all ISs, whether oriented toward the private or public sector.

A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

The review of professional and academic literature included peer-reviewed articles and scholarly material relating to BI systems, data analytics and processing models, and CEST to explore leadership best practices needed to implement BISs for effective resource management. I conducted the literature review to establish a scholarly, theoretical foundation to address the research question: What best practices are needed to implement BISs for effective resource management. The following databases were used to identify relevant journal articles and dissertations: ABI/Inform Complete, Business Source Complete, Emerald Management Journals, Sage, Science Direct, and WorldCat resulted in the material for this review (see Table 1). Keywords included *Big Data, best practices, business analytics, business intelligence, business intelligence leadership, data analytics, case-based reasoning (CBR), CEST, cognitive bias and heuristic, IC, intelligence systems, and multivariate reasoning. I gathered information from 123 sources, of which 120 (97.6%) were peer-reviewed journal articles and 118 (98.3%) were published between 2012 and 2016. I also reviewed one seminal book (.008%).*

Six categories were in the literature review: CEST, leadership, intelligence cycle, advancements in intelligence systems, value of data within the intelligence systems, and data analytics. Subcategories of the CEST section included advantages of CEST, disadvantages of CEST, and an evaluation of leadership's best practices using CEST.

Subsections of the leadership section include best practices, human resource management and knowledge management. Incorporated into the IC section are subcategories relating to business and government uses for the IC, and challenges and vulnerabilities of the IC. Subsections of the data analytics category encompass CBR, RBR and multivariate problem solving reasoning for BISs.

Cognitive-Experiential Self-Theory

Epstein (2014) formed the cognitive experiential self-theory to explain a person's capacity to integrate preconscious, unconscious, and conscious faculties to process information. As posited by Epstein, and supported by Armstrong et al (2012), CEST includes an explanation of psychodynamic and psychoanalytic concepts (). Data analysts use CEST to analyze large and complex data sets (Worrall, 2013). The functionality of an individual's experiential competence increases through associative learning based on previous experiences (Armstrong et al., 2012). Epstein described the experiential system as rapid, evolutionary, automatic, non-verbal and typically operates outside the scope of awareness; intuitive processing (Epstein, 2014). In contrast, during the decision-making process a person uses rational system functions predominantly within the scope of consciousness, involving the brains slower, deliberate and language based functions; cognitive processes (Epstein, 2014). The heuristics in complex processes associated with perception, learning, and solving problems contribute to leadership decision-making in business (Armstrong et al., 2012).

Armstrong et al. (2012) argued that the cognitive style of business leader shares an association with experiential knowledge. Analysts make decisions based on cognitive experiential systems using two parallel, but different, information-processing methods: experiential and rational reasoning (Neuert & Hoeckel, 2013). The experiential and rational domains of CEST are independent, yet interactive, with one cognitive domain often more pronounced than the other (Curtis & Lee, 2013; Neuert & Hoeckel, 2013). Cerni et al. (2010) stated organization administrators employing increased rational and experiential thinking encouraged the development of transformational leadership techniques. According to Hample and Richards (2014), CEST as an experiential system is part of associative learning, and verbal reasoning has an association with the rational system. Each system operates with different rules and attributes (Hample & Richards, 2014). The experiential domain gleans and stores vital information gained through experiences (Neuert & Hoeckel, 2013). The experiential system functions are automatic (pre-conscious), nonverbal and require little cognitive effort (Hample & Richards, 2014). The rational (conscious) system operates on quantitative concrete data, is relatively slow, and exceedingly cognitive taxing all aspects of the analyst (Worrall, 2013). The components of CEST equate to the quantitative processes in RBR, and the qualitative processes in CBR, to function as support for decision-making (Hample & Richards, 2014). The advantages and disadvantages of CEST relate to the appropriately matching of system processes with the required task (Epstein, 2014).

Advantages of cognitive experiential self theory. The advantages of CEST may account for the theory's rise to distinction in the business intelligence community (Akinci & Sadler-Smith, 2013). A correlation exists between an individual's Rational Experiential Inventory (REI) and the measurable choice to utilize rational or experiential analysis for problem solving (Akinci & Sadler-Smith, 2013). The ability to apply REI as a dual-processing instrument increases the value of CEST in an occupational surrounding (Akinci & Sadler-Smith, 2013). The adaptive nature of experiential (intuitive) and rational (analytical) processing strengthens CEST by exploiting the strengths of both techniques (Hample & Richards, 2014). The CEST method neutralized the complexities of emotion and cognition infused in the analytical processes (Curtis & Lee, 2013).

Scientifically defining CEST served to demystify the inclusion of intuition as a component of the experiential method aiding the analytic system (Curtis & Lee, 2013). Burton et al. (2010) discovered intuitive processing is superior to effortful analysis tasks involving participants evaluating the existence of common three-word associations. Decidedly, intuitive individuals with positive perspectives identify triads (three associated items) with an accuracy and coherence not explained by speed of processing.

Through CEST, the successes of an analyst promotes positive emotion (pride, confidence), increasing the probability of future accomplishment (Carroll, Agler, & Newhart, 2015). The cycle continues as the analyst's self-worth increases and expands the potential for resolving analytical problems. Carroll et al. (2015) cautioned that the positive transformation process often begins with an analyst's personal failures. The

feeling of failure then transitions into a protective measure to avoid subsequent deficiency and prevents overconfidence; an event referred to as remedial attribution (Carroll et al., 2015).

Disadvantages of cognitive experiential self theory. The protective controls encouraging the accomplishments of an analyst after a failure could lead to diminished of self-worth and a situational handicap (Carroll et al., 2015). Continued failures cause the analyst to question her or his personal judgment and avoid conclusions (Carroll et al., 2015). With regard to the cognitive processes in CEST, Burton et al. (2010) expressed concerns about the dismissal of individual personalities and the subsequent influence on personal judgment. The personal information processing style of the analyst could compromise the application of intuitive reasoning (Burton et al., 2010).

The REI used to measure CEST, focuses on the subject's perceived ability to use rational or experiential thinking (Akinci & Sandler-Smith, 2013). The practice focuses on a subject measurement and diminishes the role of objective assessment (Akinci & Sandler-Smith, 2013). Dane, Rockmann, and Pratt (2012) argued CEST is not applicable to the conscious execution of systematic problem solving. Intuition lacks precision as a problem-solving instrument and may result in extreme judgment errors (Dane et al., 2012). Moreover, the ability to offset the imprecise attributes of CEST may depend on an analyst's level domain expertise (Dane et al., 2012).

Cognitive experiential self theory in leadership practices. Individuals using the CEST model for data analysis may invoke the self-associative aspect infuses introspect

for problem solving. CEST is useful as a predictive tool to identify competent and ineffectual leader's strategies (Curtis & Lee, 2013). Furthermore, Chaston and Sadler-Smith (2012) noted that a lack of technical knowledge or cognitive abilities is not the cause of inadequate leadership. Flawed interpersonal strategies outweigh the existence of a manual skill set (Chaston & Sadler-Smith, 2012). The success of a BI is dependent on leadership's ability to exercise interpersonal skills, and requires the management of personnel with attuned cognitive abilities prone to egotism, to promote accurate intelligence (Curtis & Lee, 2013).

Leaders might improve rational system functions serving the knowledge base and abstract problem-solving skills of subordinates through selective dialog (Curtis & Lee, 2013). Affect shares a close relationship with experiential system processes and inappropriate discourse could reduce the effectiveness of analyst (Curtis & Lee, 2013). When leadership provides an environment inclusive of a training program to assist personnel with the development of a meta-cognitive strategy to negotiate failures, analyst experience personal growth and improve core competencies (Carroll et al., 2015).

Daily operational tensions and stressors strain the affective and cognitive reasoning powers of an analyst (Curtis & Lee, 2013). Complex analysis strains the physical constitution of an individual, diminishing rational processing skills. The task of a leader is acknowledging and tempering the burdens of analysis requiring high-capacity conscious thought (Neuert & Hoeckel, 2013). Leaders must provide a balanced environment to capitalize on the intuitive and logical solution skills of analyst (Curtis & Lee, 2013). Effective leadership programs include personal reflection elements to encourage problem resolution through peer discussion. The practice of reflection extends to leadership best practices, defining the qualities of a superior problem solver and decision maker. The management role of leadership, as the position relates to the cognitive and affect attributes of CEST, is critical to establishing a relevant BI framework (Curtis & Lee, 2013).

Leadership may use a psychological self-report instrument (i.e., REI) to identify personal cognitive style and the style of each subordinate analyst. Assessing a person's inclination toward demanding cognitive activities (need for cognition), or feeling and intuition (faith in intuition) to make decisions is vital to job pairing (Neuert & Hoeckel, 2013). A correlation exists between the structure of a problem and the appropriate selection of a reasoning style. Intuitive reasoning is an effective method for unstructured problems, while rational analysis is more efficient for structured problems (Neuert & Hoeckel, 2013).

Each analyst, data manager, and leader should complete an REI to assist with categorizing the individual's mode of information processing information (Curtis & Lee, 2013). A person will favor experiential (i.e., intuitive or implicit) reasoning, or rational (i.e., analytical, explicit, or effortful) reasoning (Curtis & Lee, 2013). Akinci and Sadler-Smith (2013) argued an individual's level of self-awareness as the matter relates to intuitive and analytical cognitive styles may manage emotions better and exercise metacognition effectively.

Leadership can aid the decision-making process by establishing problem-type categories to provide analysts guidance (Neuert & Hoeckel, 2013). Constructing category types will assist leaders with the delegation process, specific to the selection of reasoning style. The use of intuitive processing must remain well defined to resist the perception that decision-making occurs as a matter of random choice (Neuert & Hoeckel, 2013). Gentry (2014) stated a gap in definitive literature relating to leadership's effect on the success and failure of data analytic systems exists. Business and government agency BISs require leadership with the ability to manage human resources and an understanding of the concept needed to transform raw data into intelligence (Marrin, 2012a). The IC is an essential function of the BIS, with numerous vulnerabilities introduced by human error, flawed data, and environmental influences (Harrison et al., 2015). The selection of a data analysis method for information development is a fundamental decision, and the catalyst for IC success or failure (Wu, 2013). The transformation of information into knowledge occurs as BIS managers and analyst apply cognitive and experiential skills in CBR, RBR, or multivariate reasoning to process data (Neuert & Hoeckel, 2013). Organizational leaders may apply CEST principles to establish the best practices needed to implement BISs for effective resource management (Akinci & Sadler-Smith, 2013).

Contrasting decision-making theories. In addition to CEST, other formal decision making theory exist, with expected utility (EU) theory identified as the most popular (Stiegler & Tung, 2014). Developers of EU theory speculated humans make decisions by assessing levels of probability and benefit from choice (Buchholz &

Schymura, 2012). A disadvantage of EU theory was assumption the decision-makers possessed the capacity for probabilistic logic for all potential choices and consequences in a well-organized manner (Stiegler & Tung, 2014). Due to incomplete data and outcome uncertainty, EU theory has limited application in a real-world business decision-making environment (Stiegler & Tung, 2014). Further, decision-makers operating under risks encounter paradoxes and anomalies, causing them to abandon the axioms of EU theory (Buchholz & Schymura, 2012).

Additional alternatives to CEST also included the Bayesian static probability theory and the formalized pattern-matching theory. Stiegler and Tung (2014) stated by employing an adaptation of the Bayesian and EU theories of concepts, decision makers may include new information to modify the probability of a decided outcome. As a part of the decision-making process in business, application of the Bayesian probability theory requires expert knowledge or historical data to form an accurate conclusion, and may result in errant or subjective opinion by an analyst (Rigoux, Stephan, Friston, & Daunizeau, 2014). Moreover, the Bayesian theory approach involves multiple parameters operating in tandem (Rigoux et al., 2014). The Bayesian theory is inappropriate for this qualitative case study due to over fitting, because the data cannot be verified independently using external sources increasing the potential for errant outcomes.

Stiegler and Tung (2014) identified the use of the formalized pattern-matching theory in decision making, as a method to cope with limited statistical information and utilize the remarkable intuitive human ability to provide the meaning of information by identifying patterns. The capacity to analyze multifaceted or unstructured information is attributable to a person's ability to process information in a bi-directional, interactive system by accessing conscious and preconscious levels of the mind (Cerni et al., 2012). The concept of pattern matching, an inherent intuitive human ability, is reliant on the experiential context possessed by the analyst, and subject to error in the absence of adequate comparative data from learned experiences (Stiegler & Tung, 2014). Further, the concept of formalized pattern matching is subject to error in the absence of adequate comparative data from learned experiences, rendering the model inappropriate for this study. The selection of CEST over formalized pattern matching and the Bayesian static probability theories involved an understanding that data analysis often requires the use of multifaceted and convoluted information to advance information and resolve problems in dynamic situations.

Leadership

An individual's ability to retain conceptual knowledge, grasp organizational principles and procedural guidelines, and possess the ability to apply information in contextual situations defines a leader's value (Hendriks & Sousa, 2013). Competent leaders link success and business through action (Parris & Peachey, 2012). Moreover, Hoppe (2013) proposed that business leadership is a process of coordinating the mental environment, rather than the physical situation. An environment where business decisions occur in a vacuum at the top of the organizational chart is no longer effective (Hoppe, 2013). Establishing a defined role for qualified BIS leaders is vital to the success of organizational strategy, and minimizes the potential failure of the IS (Farrokhi & Laszlo, 2013). Leadership best practices should involve the conception and articulation of organizational goals, uniting of subordinates, and preventing a preoccupation with petty conflicts, all for the purpose of resource management (Molloy & Barney, 2015).

Leadership best practices. Best practices are measurable and teachable (Bloom, Eifert, Mahajan, McKenzie, & Roberts, 2013). Examples of best practices include a contextual application of quality control, inventory management, and the management of human resources (Bloom et al., 2013). Further, leaders using best practices understand organizational goals, promote a team environment, and possess the ability to selfdevelopment in a BIS environment (Gurses & Kunday, 2014). The capacity to learn from experience and invest the knowledge in associates is evidence of leadership best practices (Gurses & Kunday, 2014). According to Bloom et al. (2013), a strong association exists between the execution of best practices and higher productivity.

If leaders do not apply best practices during an organizational performance evaluation, incorrect assessments of intelligence analysis techniques may occur, resulting in errant or compromised decision-making (Marrin, 2012a). Data managers lacking best practices with minimal training, experience, or guidance perform data analytics based on trial and error (Serban, Vanschoren, Kietz, & Bernstein, 2013). Moreover, using decision makers to evaluate the quality or accuracy of intelligence analysis within the IS framework is problematic during the IC (Marrin, 2012a). Bauer et al. (2013) stated that absent cognitive influence, leaders form decisions using two types of information: experiential and numeric. The experiential factor involves problem resolution using knowledge gained through experience. Using the information derived from statistical reports to solve problems is an example of numeric reasoning. Bauer et al. (2013) further posited that favoring one type of data to the exclusion of another might cause biased decisions and render sub-optimal outcomes. The employment of CEST requires orthogonal constructs for data analysis to increase the probability of accurate conclusions (Akinci & Sadler-Smith, 2013).

The perceptions of the decision maker, particular to preconceived outcomes, may create a decision-making bias influencing the evaluation of data (Marrin, 2012a). Utilizing systems thinking among organizational management encourages the development of free thought by leadership to troubleshoot BIS issues, without the encumbrance of the surrounding events and details experienced by decision makers (Skaržauskienė & Jonušauskas, 2013). BIS administration requires engaged leaders to offer support and commitment to staff implementing an organizational plan (Farrokhi & Laszlo, 2013), and the establishment of a management control system (Jamil, 2013).

Prior to the implementation of BISs, the establishment of a management control system (MCS) structure is vital to leadership system performance evaluations (Jamil, 2013). Per Jamil (2013), a MCS serves the function of measuring the capacity of an organizational strategy to gather, absorb, and leverage new information; a process described as absorptive capacity. Absorptive capacity attributes are an indicator of

organizational framework and leadership's ability to establish the technological infrastructure needed for a BI (Jamil, 2013). Further, absorptive capacity reflects management's knowledge and skill with a correlation to the potential assimilation of BISs. Managers that focus on gaining a broad overlapping knowledge of organizational requirements, a profound understanding of the implementation strategy, and interpersonal skills exhibit core MCS competencies (Jamil, 2013). Keung and Shen (2013) argued the possession of any skill set is not sufficient to define the effectiveness of a manager. Instead, Keung and Shen (2013) stated, the application of a leader's skills are the catalyst for becoming an effective HR manager.

Learned consequences influence the decision-making process of individuals (Akgün & Keskin, 2014). Akinci and Sadler-Smith (2013) determined that an individual's cognitive style has a direct correlation to their critical leadership skills, including decision-making, interpersonal communication, and team building. Optimizing business training and development programs focused on best practices involves assessing and incorporating the individual cognitive styles of employees and leaders (Akinci and Sadler-Smith, 2013). However, Dane, Rockmann, and Pratt (2012) explored the use of intuition in conjunction with analytical decision-making, and determined organizations that use the cognitive data analysis style have the highest potential for affecting change in a Big Data environment. Furthermore, Dane et al. (2013) established a correlation between groups with an elevated level of domain expertise, and the use of experiential intuition as an effectual analytic tool for decision-making. The ability to create a data

analytic strategy capable of rapidly transforming information into knowledge with accuracy must include the experiential and rational analytics core principles of CEST (Dane et al., 2012).

The uses of experiential and rational decision-making processes similarly serve leaders and data analysts to develop problem resolution skills (Dane, Rockmann & Pratt, 2012). Moreover, Neuert and Hoeckel (2013) postulated that effective business leadership must avoid slow, ineffective decision-making processes. Understanding the characteristics of problems influencing the analyst's decision-making process may facilitate the development of improved reasoning strategies. Furthermore, Neuert and Hoeckel stated that when faced with complex problems, data analyst exhibited an increase in accuracy with the use of intuitive judgment. Neuert and Hoeckel determined the development of an application-oriented approach to annualize data, inclusive of intuition, might allow companies to make rapid decisions in a fluid business environment. Leadership must exhibit best practices, by understanding the mental processes related to reasoning and problem resolution to administer effective BIS (Hoppe, 2013).

Human resource management. Human capital is essential to BI success and decreasing the time and cost of transforming information into knowledge (Gurses & Kunday, 2014). Information technology businesses that focus on the existence of experts, professionals and knowledgeable workers experience overall increases in performance. Organizations heavily invested in human capital exhibit elevated levels of performance, well above the norm. An essential component of resource management is leadership best

practices, allowing administrators to recognize the value of human capital as an intangible resource vital to the sustainability of the organization (Gurses & Kunday, 2014).

Business leaders view HR as essential to overcoming knowledge management challenges (Nandita, 2013). Employing an educated workforce with a similar vision creates a favorable environment where an effective IC can thrive (den Hengst & Staffeleu, 2012). A 2012 industry assessment identified a workforce shortage of 190,000 workers with analytical expertise, and an additional 1.5 million data-literate managers in the United States (Geanina, Camelia, Apostu, & Velicanu, 2012). Furthermore, Geanina et al. (2012) stated the workforce shortage identified in the 2012 study inhibits Big Data initiatives focused on transforming information into knowledge. The capacity of an organization's leadership to manage human and non-human resources is essential to achieving sustainability goals (Molloy & Barney, 2015). Furthermore, organizational leadership's ability to form a comprehensive BI solution requires the coordination of internal and external resources (i.e., vendors, IT specialists, data managers, and organizational leadership), during the planning, implementation, and operational phases (Popovic et al., 2012).

Human resource factors contribute to a skilled workforce shortage. Minbaeva and Collings (2013) noted HR department architectures frequently lack best practice and standards to evaluate and recruit the talented human capital needed to fill developing strategic positions. The influence of a workforce comprised primarily of older workers creates a gap between the available personnel and qualified employees. Acknowledgment of the labor force issues relating to resource management caused organizations to prioritize recruitment in an effort to secure talented employees (Minbaeva & Collings, 2013).

The breadth and complexity of implementing BISs necessitate mandates from ranking officials in businesses and government agencies, with declarations strong enough to facilitate vital changes (Popovic et al., 2012). Business leaders have an expectation of accuracy regarding the transformation of information into knowledge (Geanina et al., 2012). Only 33% of leaders trust information derived from Big Data processing to form business decisions (Geanina et al., 2012). The inadequate development or identification of human resources occurs in IS environments (Anton, 2013). Chen et al. (2012), Evans and Kebbell (2012) argued that analysts need the skills required to convert raw data into knowledge and possess the ability to communicate gained intelligence to decision makers.

Knowledge management. Knowledge management is the result of a systematic approach to understanding the prerequisite skills needed to perform job tasks (Larsen & Olaisen, 2013). Knowledge management involves the training of skilled HR staff, adept at comprehending the role of data analysis and the benefits of accurately interpreting information (Nandita, 2013). Further, Nandita stated the mechanics of knowledge management requires data control systems to make valuable information available to the appropriate person in a timely manner. Three key dimensions comprise the foundation of

knowledge management: (a) whom to share, (b) how to share, and (c) what to share (Nandita, 2013). Leaders of knowledge management programs must control the distribution of intelligence, by matching the need for information with organizational member's tasks and goals (Nandita, 2013). The whom to share dimension requires decision makers to develop a plan of discernment to distribute information on an internal and external organization basis (Nandita, 2013). Information deemed to possess a value for improving quality, pattern recognition, minimizing cost, and producing a faster response to consumers' needs composes internal sharing (Ndinguri, Prieto, & Machtmes, 2012). External sharing includes elements necessary to improve information quality, pattern recognition, cost reduction, and improve responses to stakeholders. Mason and Simmons (2014) stated that the category of stakeholders is more than investors, customers, and employees. Instead, the term stakeholder is more expansive and includes groups and entire communities, with service expectations (Mason & Simmons, 2014). Leaders must select how to share knowledge by using a method to inform and update information consumers without providing redundant information (Ndinguri et al., 2012). Moreover, leaders establishing a plan to distribute knowhow and best practices to subordinates are central to the theme of what to share (Nandita, 2013). The systematic approach to knowledge management requires skilled human capital resources for data control and sharing to achieve proficiency (Nandita, 2013).

The ability to perform particular BIS jobs competently is dependent on an individual's knowledge and skill sets (Deng & Chi, 2012). According to Evans and

Kebbell (2012), the desire to improve job performance and pride in work products are intrinsic to high functioning data analyst. Despite the latter, when data analysis outcomes are faulty neither the analyst, nor the decision-maker identifies the basis for the resolution (Gentry, 2014). Moreover, the integrity of ICs requires continuous evaluation, incorporating the analyst as a component of the system examination to analyze functions and identify the potential for errors (Gentry, 2014). Errors by BIS decision-makers risk the safety and security of stakeholders (Perry, Wiggins, Childs, & Fogarty, 2012).

Proficiency in decision-making is necessary and difficult to achieve (Perry et al., 2012). The complexity and time sensitive nature of ICs often form a dynamic situation requiring expedited decision-making. Employing personnel with the ability to shift the resolution criterion based on the situation, is advantageous to a company and by extension beneficial (Aminoff et al., 2012). Moreover, a direct link exists between decision criterion, memory recognition and performance (Aminoff et al., 2012). Expert decision-makers possess a superior capacity to compensate for a normative BI strategy and provide decisions with an increased level of accuracy (Perry et al., 2012). Individuals with the ability to adapt in a fluid work environment were more successful, compared to counterparts without flexibility in assigned tasks, regardless of experience or knowledge deficiencies (Aminoff et al., 2012). Perry et al. (2012) ascertained computer-based decision support systems (DSS) did compensate for the lack of workforce experience in the information acquisition phase of BISs.

Improper data acquisition wastes resources and causes distractions or misdirection for decision makers (Bärenfänger, Otto, & Österle, 2014). Faster decisionmaking, not the speed of information processing, is the goal of BISs (Bärenfänger et al., 2014). Amara, Soilen and Vriens (2012) suggested leadership should understand data collection, the interim steps of analysis, and the correlation of data provenance to prequalify the value of information. The framework of an IS is inherently unstable, ever changing and complex, increasing the level of difficulty and demands leaders encounter (Coyne, Bell, & Merrington, 2013). Comprehensive data collection is not enough. Organizational leadership must contemplate data collection criteria and the potential uses for information to meet strategic BIS goals (Ramakrishnan et al., 2012).

Intelligence Cycle

An IC is a systemic application of disciplines requiring the transformation of data using a deliberate architecture to minimize analysis vulnerabilities to produce actionable knowledge (Bartes, 2013). Used synonymously with Intelligence Process, the IC concept is centuries old (Agrell, 2012). A simple IC includes data collection, analysis, and decision-making functions linked together to form a process (Phythian, 2013). Categorized as an endless chain of functions, an IC only performs to the optimal level afforded by the most inefficient service (Phythian, 2013).

The purpose of an IC is to transform raw data into knowledge for use by decision makers (Zeng, Li, & Duan, 2012). The transformation process, universally described as BI, occurs as a series of events furthered by data analysis (Zeng et al., 2012). Predictive

outcomes are achievable by using an appropriate data analytic style (Cox & Jantti, 2012). Wu (2013) stated the cultivation of intelligence from raw data requires a cyclical process that includes phases of assessing stakeholder needs: (a) planning, (b) data collection, (c) evaluation of information, (d) data analysis, (e) production of intelligence, and (f) dissemination of knowledge for action. Chen et al. (2012) and Den Hengst and Staffeleu (2012) stated that businesses incorporating a centralized information organization strategy, employing highly educated people sharing a similar vision, created an environment where the IC thrived. Furthermore, the use of proper data collection, data analysis techniques, business IC, and decision support systems expedite the information chain providing actionable intelligence (Chen et al., 2012). Although data forms the foundation for ISs, information unique to e-commerce, government, science, health care, and security and public safety may require domain-specific analytics for accurate parsing (Chen et al., 2012). The capability to achieve the correct parsing of information requires IT tools (Den Hengst & Staffeleu, 2012)

According to Sangar and Iahad (2013), an organization's IT solutions must support BIS functions to capitalize on critical success factors. Whether ad hoc or systematic in architecture, BISs share a common objective to refine information into intelligence for use in decision-making (Sangar & Iahad, 2013). The collection of information from suitable sources is cultivated and enriched using an appropriate analysis method, providing actionable intelligence (Sangar & Iahad, 2013). The efficiency of a BIS influences the value of actionable intelligence (Phythian, 2013). **Organizational intelligence cycles.** Understanding BISs in the information systems era is a core component of business competencies, and necessary for the construction of a sustainable business design by organization leaders (Hoppe, 2013; Nandita, 2013). The BI market continued to expand and by 2011, 10.7 billion dollars was invested in the development of IT functions and developing capabilities globally (Zeng et al., 2012). In the global market, successful applications for BI include conventional and contemporary business models that affect the sustainability of organizations (2012).

On a micro level, members of the healthcare industry are dependent on IT to improve operating efficiency and increase patient safety (Ashrafi, Kelleher, & Kuilboer, 2014). In 2001, the Institute of Medicine administration called to action hospital administrators and physicians to improve record keeping through computerization of orders and archival databases to improve patient safety. An implementation of the noted IT laden practices directly affected healthcare providers and hospitals finances. Members of the healthcare industry implemented key components of the BI cycle to increase efficiency and control expenditures by transforming information into actionable knowledge. Further, Ashrafi et al. (2014) stated the BI cycle implementation increased the value of clinical and administrative data, without a substantial investment in a health information technology infrastructure. Moreover, aligning information management philosophies with an IC strategy, may allow administrators to reduce waste, improve patient safety, and rapidly produce policy drivers (Ashrafi et al., 2014). On a macro level, organizational leaders continue to refine the BI cycle to gain a competitive advantage. The establishment of a free-trade zone, due to a proprietary partnership, and cooperative agreement with the European Union, Tunisia is poised to become an international economic power (Nasri, 2011). Narsi examined six businesses functioning in different sectors across Tunisia, and determined that locating reliable information to support the BI cycle is fundamental to the success of each organization. Further, Narsi stated predominately internal, rather than external, intelligence sources yielded the greatest actionable intelligence. However, the ability to drive knowledge into action requires an organized infrastructure. Narsi argued unorganized BIS structures were common in Tunisia, especially in burgeoning ICs. A structured environment with supporting policies increases the probability of maintaining a competitive IS (Nasri, 2011).

Ellis (2013) described business intelligence as a decision model, where data drives the decision support process, improves efficiency, and enhances the effectiveness of a project. A failure in any of the IC functions may negatively influence the profitability of an organization (Tallon, 2013; Bartes, 2013) and competitive advantage (Roberts & Grover, 2012). Organizations must analyze multiple sources of data systematically, prioritizing problems for resolutions, to exploit the value of intelligence (Lowe & Innes, 2012; Nag & Gioia 2012). Selecting the proper BI framework aids companies in strategic development and increases efficiency (Harrison et al., 2015). **Government agencies intelligence cycles.** The conventional use of BISs served corporations as an aid to forecast stakeholder interest by analyzing collected information relating to customer needs and product rating (Demirkan & Delen, 2013). Copeland et al. (2012) researched BI models and stated the complex chain of tasks composing BISs, are universally applicable to private business and government agency goals. Different BI models exist with similar purpose, providing intelligence for decision-making by extracting information from raw data stored in relational and multidimensional databases (). Through the implementation of an enterprise strategy, BI models are useful to government agencies, supporting decisions at all levels of an organization ().

Evans and Kebbell (2012) argued contemporary government agencies are utilizing traditional business models to manage stakeholder expectations. Fiscal cuts and increased media attention require government agencies to operate efficiently and manage a brand standing (Evans & Kebbell, 2012). Businesses and county government agencies are utilizing business models to plan IS frameworks designed to meet needs of stakeholders. Government and business leadership focus on elements aligned with Total Quality Management and other force factors observed in public and private sector environments (Carter, Phillips, & Gayadeen, 2014).

Essential to an effective government IS is a centralized authority overseeing the management of information (Sahin & Matusitz, 2013). Pee and Kankanhalli (2015) asserted government organizations with proactive roles in developing policies to improve information sharing, demonstrated the most desirable performance enhancement

increases. Moreover, performance outcomes included decreased production times, reduced backlog, and improvement in processing efficiency (Pee & Kankanhalli, 2015). Government agencies will only succeed at meeting goals by promoting the uninhibited flow of information and interagency collaboration (Schnobrich-Davis, 2014).

The cooperation of leadership is an essential factor in allowing information to flow effectively between multiple government agencies beyond jurisdictional boundaries (Steden, Wood, Shearing, & Boutellier, 2013). The dynamics of a county government require the trading of information with other administrations to exploit intelligence and identify patterns. The selection of a proper technological solution and training program is imperative for the creation of a permissive environment for analysis and the identification of patterns (Steden et al., 2013). Phythian (2012) established that regardless of the selected analytic discipline, IC interruptions affect stakeholders.

Intelligence cycle challenges. In the information technology era, digital technology influences every business group and organization (Liu, 2013). The rapid increase in information production has expanded the demand for data processing (Tallon, 2013). Xindong et al. (2014) cited the creation of 2.5 quintillion bytes of data daily, with 90 percent of all the existing data in the world produced between 2010 and 2012. The expansion is equal to a data volume 60 million times greater than the content stored in the U.S. Library of Congress (Hilbert, 2012). Projections suggest data collection has a potential growth rate of 40% annually (Tallon, 2013). The number of platforms available to individual users, businesses, and governments to view and analyze data increased

substantially within the last decade (Geller & Drachsler, 2012). Delimiters of Big Data include the quantity of information received and stored, rate of information production, complexity of the data source, and distribution to end-users (Louridas & Ebert, 2013). The failure to implement an adaptable IS strategy, capable of compensating for substantial influxes in data, will result in the loss of actionable intelligence (Louridas & Ebert, 2013).

The use of Big Data to develop intelligence influences an organization's competitive advantage (Liu, 2013). Even with advancements in technology, companies still struggle to assign value and meaning to stored data (Liu, 2013). Assigning value to information occurs differently based on the decision criteria applied by organizational leaders. While Louridas and Ebert (2013) identified set limits for the storage of information, Huang and Rust (2013) explained multiple data sources define the value of Big Data by size, variability, and complexity. Companies must examine the value of the data to assess the return on investment, which includes the cost of data collection, analysis, and storage of mined information (Tallon, 2013). Two frequent challenges encountered by organizations are the diversity of collected data and the appropriate selection of analytic processes (Tallon, 2013). A crucial element for creating a successful information system in a Big Data environment involves the improvement of data and task parallelism, and support of vertical and horizontal computation parallelism (Tallon, 2013).

George, Haas, and Pentland (2014) reviewed the processes necessary for effective and efficient collection, retention, and analysis of data. A key aspect related to proficient information system processes relied on the accurate defining of informational needs and characteristics of the collected data, to develop ethical practices. In a Big Data environment, revisions to data management procedures ensure that collection and storage policies align with organizational strategic requirements (George et al., 2014). Moreover, George et al. stated accurately defining information systems management policies and procedures minimize data storage vulnerabilities.

Corporate leaders view Big Data as a tool for marketing and product development (Wigan & Clarke, 2013). Similarly, government agencies use Big Data for strategic and predictive planning (Steinhoff & Carnahan, 2012). However, the unethical use of Big Data has consequences. Businesses and governments occasionally ignore the potential risk to minority groups, when the collection of valuable data benefits the majority (Wigan & Clarke, 2013). The adverse outcomes of improperly handled Big Data can affect individuals, social groups, and government entities (Wigan & Clarke, 2013).

Intelligence cycle vulnerabilities. The distinct attributes and business strategy of an organization frame IC vulnerabilities. According to Jenster and Soilen (2013), organizational designs include the structural characteristics of defenders, prospectors, analyzers, and reactors. Businesses must create an intelligence structure aligned with the organizational leadership's, implicit or explicit, IC strategic goals. Harrison et al. (2015) emphasized the significance of structure to minimize IC vulnerabilities during BIS implementation. Weaknesses in ICs include unidirectional communications, lack of support regarding meta-data management, and lack of operational data stores. Moreover, the absence of sufficient structure encourages problems relating to the proficient sharing of information. Ong et al. (2011) stated that five major layers comprise appropriate BIS architectures to form an IC: (1) data source, (2) extraction, transformation and loading; (3) metadata, (4) data warehouse, and (5) the end user. Establishing a BIS with these five layers of architecture may ensure data output of sufficient value for use by leaders in decision-making processes.

Ong et al. (2011) described the data source layer as a composition of information developed within the organization and data originating from an external source. The differentiation between the origins, whether internal or external, is critical to the extraction, transformation and loading of data to identify and collect relevant data from different sources. The metadata layer is data-about-data, offering a link between information by providing context through correlation (Ong et al., 2011). The data warehouse layer involves the process of storing data based on a subject matter, storage based on collection time, and the need to maintain information without inadvertent change. In the end user layer, BIS leaders disseminate intelligence using a variety of tools to display information in different formats. Organizational leaders employing a proper BIS architecture reduce IC vulnerabilities (Ong et al., 2011).

Beyond the scope of architectural design flaws, several general factors render ICs ineffective; human resources, data management, and organizational change (Amara et al.,

2012). As a positive affect tool, knowledge gained from an effective IC provides business and government agency leaders with the information needed to serve stakeholders (Popovic et al., 2012). The speed or quantity of information produced using a BIS is not an appropriate measure of success. Quantifying the worth of any BIS occurs through an examination of the information value chain; the time and effort spent to link raw data, information, and knowledge for use in decision-making (Popovic et al., 2012).

Popovic et al. (2012) argued that to achieve success, business leaders must integrate intelligence into all business processes to improve decision-making and fulfill stakeholder expectations. Isik, Jones, & Sidorova (2013) stated the BIS selected by leaders must match the problem space or decision environment to prevent vulnerabilities. Furthermore, a failure by leadership to rely on strict operational guidelines governing BIS functions, results in data analysis deficiencies and the potential misinterpretation of analysis outcomes (Popovic et al., 2012). Managers that do not understand the business processes supporting an IS and hardware infrastructure diminish information quality, reduce BIS maturity, and subsequently render an IC ineffective (Popovic et al., 2012). Moreover, the decision-making environment created by organizational leaders moderates the success BISs (Isik, Jones, & Sidorova, 2013).

Advancements in Intelligence Systems

The human race is dependent on the collection and interpretation of data (Boyd & Crawford, 2012). The nature and philosophy associated with information handling form the future of the world (Leeper, Richter, & Walker, 2012). The production of large

volume data at an accelerated pace creates benefits and challenges for processing, managing, and applying intelligence (Boyd & Crawford, 2012). Each challenge associated with the collection and transformation of Big Data into knowledge has an intrinsic affect on ICs and the encompassing BISs (Leeper et al., 2012).

New inventions encounter resistance before gaining a level of acceptance (Rivard & Lapointe, 2012). With respect to IT, employee resistance to implementing policies may serve the function of problem identification, promoting further change, and providing a corrective value during the development process. The value of resistance diminishes as opposition leads to organizational dysfunctional (Rivard & Lapointe, 2012). Evolutions in IT promoted advancements in IC disciplines, and caused practitioners to consider the actions of a population as a collection of facts waiting to have context assigned (Rasanen & Nyce, 2013).

Hallmarked by the rapid transformation of information into knowledge, ICs present challenges for government agencies (den Hengst & Staffeleu, 2012). Bureaucracies associated with conventional government models inhibit the ability to exploit the value of actionable knowledge. The implementation of an intelligence driven model requires organizational change and an adjustment to a plan of action influenced by cultivated knowledge (den Hengst & Staffeleu, 2012). Technology drives the speed of information production, collection, and analysis. For example, Summerville and Dai (2012) proved a competitive advantage was obtainable through proper data management. Data management specific to IT initiatives must conform to organizational requirements, strategies, and business and government models. Further, forecasting opportunities that IT innovations may provide, and investing in the future to secure a competitive advantage is the responsibility of organizational leaders (Summerville & Dai, 2012).

Ramakrishnan, Jones, and Sidorova (2012) identified an isomorphic relationship between organizations and the use of BI to achieve operational consistency. A link exists between achieving operational consistency, and the operation of a comprehensive BI data collection strategy (Ramakrishnan et al., 2012). However, technological innovation presents challenges. Overcoming obstacles introduced by IT advancement, by adapting and changing policies and procedures as necessary may define the success of organizations utilizing BISs (Chadhuri, Dayal, & Narasayya, 2011). George et al. (2014) argued concurrent revisions to an organization's information system management practices and procedures ensure transformed data aligns with operational needs.

Data Intelligence Systems Value

Substantiated data has a definable value as a commodity for businesses (Summerville & Zong, 2012). Evans and Kebbell (2012) and Rasanen and Nyce (2013) stated information has a depreciable value. Utilizing intelligent information in an expeditious manner capitalizes on the value of knowledge (Amara et al., 2012). However, sacrificing the quality of intelligence to expedite DSS operations is not a strategically prudent practice (Amara et al., 2012).

Kowalczyk and Buxmann (2015) observed that maintaining the quality of intelligence begins with the information source. Geller (2012) cautioned the greatest

downfall of any dataset analysis model is the tendency to predetermine the value or accuracy of all collected information. Data flaws include untrustworthy information, bias analytic assumptions, and computation errors (Shull, 2013). When unidentified errors exist, data may yield faulty intelligence resulting in specious decision-making (Shull, 2013). An example of inadvertent and unidentified errant data could consist of data collections from two sources of varying reliability (Kowalczyk & Buxmann, 2015). The infusion of aberrant material into a reliable data flow poses issues with synthesizing, refining, and standardizing the information for additional BI task challenges. However, efficient and accurate data loading are indispensable to the success of BISs (Kowalczyk & Buxmann, 2015).

Leaders must evaluate individual data types singularly and as a whole to improve the efficiency of BIS (Geller, 2012). Changing a leader's focus will allow a company to optimize advantages of the BIS in less time, and enable the organization to stay competitive in a malleable business environment (Geller, 2012). Managers need to assess and categorize information (Bärenfänger et al., 2014). Certain information may contain knowledge of greater value, making prioritization in data analysis a fundamental practice requirement. Kowalczyk and Buxmann (2015) and Bärenfänger et al. (2014) stated information source selection is imperative to the efficiency of data flow, and the ability to provide a refined product to the decision support system of the BIS.

Shull (2013) hypothesized data analyst spend significant time sifting through large volumes of data with disqualifying flaws, diminishing or nullifying the anticipated value of the information. Bärenfänger et al. (2014) argued that gathering the information truly needed for proper analysis allows managers to make faster decisions. Wigan and Clarke (2013) deduced the enthusiasm of leadership and gatherers to collect information overshadows the need to compile quality data from discriminate sources. Qualitative or quantitative information, obtained from suitable sources, is necessary to serve key intelligence functions defined by leadership (Sangar & Iahad, 2013).

Organizational strategies must include information quality assessment as part of an overall digital technology design to remain competitive (Pankaj, Viswanath, & Supreet, 2013). Safeguards may minimize statistical errors associated with flawed data. Errors are preventable with the inclusion of standardized methods in data analysis (Wigan & Clarke, 2013). Ji et al. (2012a) emphasized the need to include the insight of individuals with domain expertise in data clustering to improve the accuracy of analysis and the subsequent reporting analytics. The proper structuring of heterogeneous human capital, specific to analysis styles, influences the effectiveness of an IC and reduces the probability of flawed outcomes (Phythian, 2013).

Data Analytics

Predictive analysis allows all industries to forecast future actions of stakeholders (Gold, McClarren, & Gaughan, 2013). Key factors in developing a reliable predictive model for analytics require a framework capable of accounting for existing iterative and fluid dynamics, and incorporate new data as the information becomes available (Gold et al., 2013). Wu (2013) stated data analytics and processing in an IC involves (a) problem

specification, (b) planning and direction, (c) collection of information, (d) processing information, (e) data analysis, and (f) dissemination. First, the process of cultivating actionable intelligence begins with the *problem specification*, permitting leaders to *plan* for the collection of raw data from appropriate sources (Wu, 2013). Second, BIS leaders must design a direction for analyst to follow for researching the problem, analyzing data, and completing articulate reports for decision-makers (Phythian, 2013). Third, after leadership completes the planning and direction phase of the IC, personnel must collect raw data. Fourth, post collection, data analysts' process information to achieve validation and data representation (Phythian, 2013). Through data cultivation using human data analytics or artificial intelligence tools (i.e. computers and software), information development tasks are accomplished (Wu, 2013). The fifth action, *analysis*, is the transformation of raw data into knowledge requiring data analyst to provide contextual meaning for all collected information (Phythian, 2013). The sixth and final step is dissemination of intelligence to the decision-maker. Concerns relating to the use of automated tools for analysis exist. Artificial intelligence tools adapted for use with BISs are imperfect and lack the combination of cognitive and experiential reasoning humans possess (Wu, 2013).

Data analytics is a distinctive and deliberate step in the IC. Wu (2013) examined the curricula of 27 institutions offering professional tradecraft and domain intelligence education courses. Although all of the institutions provided instruction on data collection, only three explicitly or implicitly included intelligence information-processing elements. As argued by Wu (2013), the benefit of an education in information processing competencies strengthens an intelligence analyst's ability to process larger volumes of information proficiently. In a collective environment, similarly trained analysts possess the capacity to share knowledge with an increased speed and accuracy, improving the general performance of an intelligence group (Chen et al., 2012).

ISIS practitioners utilize knowledge organization systems (KOS) to enhance information-processing competencies (Wu, 2013). The analysis and interpretation of raw material with a goal to organize and represent concepts, and documents describes the function of a KOS. The proper operation of a KOS allows users to cultivate intelligence from raw data and then fuse the insight into meaning, forming interrelated concepts. Organizing intelligence furthers the ability to share knowledge with internal workgroups and external organizations (Wu, 2013). Organizational leaders recognize the advantages of the outcomes associated with CBR, rule-based reasoning (RBR) and multivariate reasoning advanced data analytics (Apte, Dietrich, & Fleming, 2012).

Case-based reasoning. CBR is an extension of human rationale, applying learned experiences to assess new situations or solve problems (Marling, Montani, Bichindaritz, & Funk, 2014). The word case, in CBR, denotes a single episode or occurrence of a problem, a solution, and the resolution (Marling et al., 2014). As a sustainable value process, CBR is a collective of four critical steps: retrieval, reuse, revise, and retain. The retrieval action requires the practitioner to match the current problem with a previous case in their personal memories. Marling et al. further stated the implementation of the

most relevant solution should occur following an assessment of past solutions for application to the current case problem. CBR is a building process, with each episode stored for future retrieval, revision, and reuse. Marling et al. (2014) argued perspective analyst candidates should possess personal life experience applicable to problem solving. The use of CBR in rule induction or machine learning industries is common, and gaining acceptance and popularity in deductive reasoning domains (Marling et al., 2014).

Performance measurement is a priority for management personnel (Behzadian et al., 2012). Private and government leadership need effective tools to evaluate the performance of interests. Behzadian et al. (2012) argued that CBR forecasting is a valuable method to predict interest failure or success using inductive processes. Compared to the restrictive nature of deductive reasoning, the flexibility of CBR allows data analyst practitioners to operate under the assumption that previous experience is applicable to future situations. Moreover, CBR may provide superior results in environments with reoccurring themes; however, the unique nature of crises makes the analysis process unsuitable (Behzadian et al., 2012).

CBR is a data analysis methodology requiring the analyst to possess prior case knowledge to solve a problem (Sun, Li, Huang & He, 2014). A derivative of the cognitive science, information retrieval, reuse, revival, and retention comprise the foundation for CBR processing (Hu, Qi, & Peng 2015). The benefit of CBR to BISs is the continued engagement of human resources, to maintain a connection between contextual information and operative knowledge; supporting differing aspects of human reasoning (Chang, Lee, & Wang, 2015). Li and Sun (2012) established CBR as an effective information-processing tool to aid leaders in strategic decision-making. Managers must reduce judgments' based on emotion, intuition, and unconsciousness influencers (Ghadami, Seyedhosseini & Makui, 2012). The use of CBR coupled with rational decision-making by organizational executives and leaders increases the probability of successful business choices (Li & Sun, 2012). Using CBR, managers may adapt previous solutions to a new situation, producing credible recommendations based on the experiences of organizational leaders (Ghadami et al., 2012).

Information systems managers encounter obstacles linked to supporting strategic decisions with long-term consequences (Ghadami et al., 2012). Businesses and government agencies seek ways to employ strategic decision-making to facilitate competitive advantage. Gaining a competitive advantage in business relies on the exploitation of an organization's primary resources and capacities (Ghadami et al., 2012). Executives assessing business problems categorize elements of a dilemma based on prior experiences and involuntarily create response patterns; an example of leadership utilizing CBR (Behzadian et al., 2012). An advantage for business leaders to apply CBR in problem solving includes filling gaps in knowledge and compensating for data containing uncertainty, by using prior experiences of similar context (Paikari, Richter, & Ruhe, 2012). Marrin (2012b) equated qualitative analysis, aligned with CBR, to the art of analysis based on intuitive process combining education, instinct, and experience. An

individual's creativity as an analyst is critical and requires support and fostering by a collaborative group, including leadership (Marrin, 2012b).

According to Ji, Park, and Lee (2012b), real world problems have properties that are dynamic, independent, and unpredictable. CBR is applicable in different professional disciplines to aid DSSs. The use of CBR permits powerful management panels the capacity to take action when events are complex and uncertain, by using previous experiences. Ji et al. examined the use of CBR, paired with adaptation and candidate selection, to enhance cost models and guide decision-making processes by eliminating distortion. Inexperienced industry practitioners or individuals without the exposure to similar cases can use attributes of CBR to retrieve and qualify information proactively and project outcomes (Ji et al., 2012b).

Rules-based reasoning. The increased volume of data created in the technologically contemporary global market, expedited innovation and improved algorithms to process more data at an increased pace (Mooney & Roddick, 2013). Advocates of the scientifically based quantitative analysis method, Rule-based Reasoning (RBR), argue the impossibility of considering all variables during the analysis process (Marrin, 2012b). Data appears as sequences in either total or partial ordering, allowing observers to predict the next event in a sequence by using algorithms. Mooney and Roddick designed a data organization and processing criteria known as Sequential Pattern Mining (SPM). The SPM model has a transferable application for the study of criminal

offender behaviors, goods and services market analysis, system failure prediction, and a plethora of other BIS uses (Mooney & Roddick, 2013).

Using the RBR method, analysts work to identify key variables and weigh the significance of each element, connecting known variables to offer a scientific conclusion (Marrin, 2012b). Scientific analysis assists analysts resolve the significance of information to structure outcomes (Marrin, 2012b). Kahn and Mohamudally (2012) identified robustness, scalability, and efficiency as benefits of RBR analytics. However, if the data flow is too vigorous, or the dataset becomes too substantial, the acquired knowledge could qualify as misleading intelligence (Kahn & Mohamudally, 2012).

Computer based DSSs rely on RBR, and organizational leaders employ technology to compensate for, and improve, decision-making skills of less experienced personnel (Perry et al., 2012). Haberman and Ratcliffe (2012) determined the predictability of increased public safety risks by implementing spatiotemporal pattern practices in data analytics. Moreover, Greengard (2012) explored the affirmative use of technology to perform predictive analysis for government functions, specific to legislative action, noting a U.S. city that experienced a 25% increase in public safety by using proactive measures afforded by intelligence driven policies. The combined methods of data analysis, software development, and predictive analytics may permit government agencies to perform proactive operations to influence public policies.

Multivariate reasoning. Marrin (2012b) argued that valuable intelligence work is a product of quantitative (scientific) analysis, coupled with intuitive and experiential

analysis. Organizational leaders developing ISs use a combination of science and art to form a meaningful information analysis process. Without an automated DSS, unchecked human bias may influence final decisions (Winter et al., 2013). The multivariate behavioral approach offers a favorable design for predictive modeling (Winter et al., 2013). Zhao and Harrison (2012) established that multimodel analytics allow data analysis to occur in an informed and thoughtful manner. Kim, Lee, Woo, and Shin (2012) discovered by adding algorithms to the CBR method the accuracy of projections improve. The sole use of CBR may result in data analysis errors due to flawed reasoning (Ahmed, Banaee, & Loutfi, 2013). The advantages of multivariate reasoning include exploitation of incremental knowledge and generalizations, without duplicating results and amplifying robustness of noise (Joshi, 2012).

Companies must operate using a balanced decision method to remain competitive (Bauer et al., 2013). Bauer et al. explored biases that may exist in single method analysis, which may lead to faulty leadership decisions. When a leader possesses applicable experiences, they may make faster decisions resulting in systematic biases due to overconfidence. Bauer et al. argued the use of a heuristic process or method to analyze data might introduce bias based decision-making. Analysts conducting exemplar-based data analysis, mimicking previous observation with favorable outcomes, frequently introduce bias (Bauer et al., 2013). Reducing bias during data analysis may require the use of a statistical model to create a visual representation for multivariate data (Martínez, Márquez, Gunckel, & Andreani, 2013).

Summary of Literature Review

Visual analytics is a computer mediated visualization technique or tool used to maximize a human's capability to decipher conflicting and dynamic data (Kang & Stasko, 2012). The use of visual analytics creates an environment conducive to the collation of new information quickly (Andrienko & Andrienko, 2013). The problem of resolving information scalability issues are the responsibility of IS administrators. Kang and Stasko (2012) described the challenge of information scalability as the transformation of raw data into actionable intelligence using massive Big Data, with the added task of adapting outcomes for presentation and use by different audiences. The task of adapting outcomes for organizational leadership's presentation to stakeholders aligns with visual scalability problems, defined by the inability to represent massive sets of data in relatable terms visually (Kang & Stasko, 2012). Further, Armstrong et al. (2012) argued stimuli consistent with individual processing preferences produced greater engagement with the viewer, demonstrating a correlation between visual learning and cognitive processes.

Transition

Section 1 contains an introduction for the foundation of the study relevant to the problem and purpose statements, research question, conceptual framework, operational terms, the significance of the study, and review of the literature. Additionally, Section 1 includes an overview of the IC, data analytics, and CEST. Further, improvements to business practices, achieved by understanding the CEST perspective, may allow IS

leaders to capitalize on the value of information and produce actionable intelligence using a delegation process based on the individual analyst's reasoning style. Section 2 includes the (a) role of the researcher, (b) identification of study participants, (c) identification and justification of the research method and design, (d) population and sampling, (e) ethical research conditions, (f) data collection, (g) data analysis techniques, and (h) reliability and validity considerations. Section 3 includes a detailed presentation of the (a) research findings, (b) application to professional practice, (c) implications for social change, (d) and recommendations for action, (e) further study, and (f) reflections.

Section 2: The Project

Section 2 includes an outline of procedures used for this doctoral study and begins with a review of the purpose statement and a description of the project's methods and processes. Section 2 also includes the (a) role of the researcher, (b) identification of study participants, (c) identification and justification of the research method and design, (d) population and sampling, (e) ethical research conditions, (f) data collection, (g) data analysis techniques, and (h) reliability and validity considerations.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative, single-case study was to explore the best practices needed by data management leaders to utilize BISs for effective resource management. The population consisted of county government leaders and data analyst in the eastern United States performing IS methodologies (ISM) within an implemented BIS. According to Ganzert, Martinelli, and Delai (2012), in an ISM environment, a systematic approach to decision-making involves each person contributing to IS functions, due to recursive processes. The results of this study may contribute to social change through the utilization of a government BIS framework to improve public safety policy development.

Role of the Researcher

As the researcher, I engaged in every aspect of this study, including the data collection. Researchers develop a meaningful understanding and personal identity associated with the study subject matter when they engage in all facets of the research (Berger, 2015). My private sector professional experience includes 7 years in the textile

industry elevating to mid-level management and holding the title of Assistant General Manager. My duties involved interviewing employee candidates and managing organizational resources. Using a BIS model, I assisted in the implementation of a consumer care plan addressing customer problem resolution, Profit and Loss statement analysis and management, and a growth development strategy. Further, my public sector professional experience encompasses 17 years as a county government employee, which included more than 8 years as an investigator with over 200 hours of investigative and interviewing training. My investigator training included instruction in kinesics interviewing. Analysis, organization, and validation of all data occurred post-collection phase, while the study participants work at a government agency as analysts, data managers, and members of the IS leadership, I had no professional or personal relationship with the participants.

Using the Belmont Report protocol, including and not limited to participant confidentiality, obtaining informed consent, and the storing of data gathered during the study, I addressed the researcher's responsibility to address ethical issues. After training provided by the National Institute of Health was completed, I received a Certificate of Completion for Protecting Human Research Participants, identifiable as Certification #997248. The study did not include the targeting of a vulnerable population. A qualitative researcher must demonstrate a practical understanding of conceptual knowledge relating to a code of ethics, and exemplify responsibility and integrity in research (Damianakis & Woodford, 2012). In addition, I minimized systematic errors and bias by following an appropriate research design, and using professional experiential knowledge to review the collected data. According to Gargon et al. (2014), using a deliberate research design to meet study aims mitigates researcher bias.

Using multiple data sources, member checking, and a well-designed interview instrument structured to explore the research question, I reduced bias during the study. Enhancing the accuracy and repeatability of the research data by avoiding bias is incumbent on the researcher, and requires the researcher to remain mindful of the need to prevent unnecessary personal influence (Malone, Nicholl, & Tracey, 2014). Attention to the initial interview instrument is necessary to assure the queries focus on the research question without biasing the participant (Gioia, Corley, & Hamilton, 2013). Furthermore, Petty at al. (2012) argued that researchers who use multiple data sources protect against bias. Reducing the potential for bias is the responsibility of the researcher and necessary to assure the validity of the study outcomes (Malone et al., 2014).

I implemented a semistructured interview instrument. Developing an interview protocol that aligns with the research enhances the quality of study results (Xu & Storr, 2012). Researchers use the semistructured interview process to elicit in-depth spontaneous answers from study participants (Rowley, 2012). Moreover, using the semistructured interview method, researchers may have an opportunity to explore insights arising from unplanned and instinctive responses given by the participants (Schatz, 2012). Researchers conduct interviews with an open-ended question format to elicit meaningful and culturally salient participant responses, rich and explanatory in nature (Stuckey, 2013). Furthermore, interviewers use open-ended questions and a semistructured interview technique to provide an environment for better communication (Andersen et al., 2012).

Participants

Eligible participants served either as leaders tasked with the implementation of a county government BIS, or worked as data analyst within the scope of control to transform raw data into intelligence. All participants (a) held a position within a U.S. based county government, (b) contribute to the function of the county government BIS, (c) and participated in a face-to-face interview. I interviewed four data analyst, and five IS administrators tasked with the responsibility of implementing a BIS.

Conscientious researchers are concerned the interpretive account represents the underlying group encompassed in the investigation (Frels & Onwuegbuzie, 2012). Establishing participant criteria to ensure representative samples of study population prevents compromises to external validity (Horan et al., 2015). The selection of study participants for inclusion involves the identification of individuals suited to address the overarching research question, and provide evidence a researcher may use to further the study (Sargeant, 2012).

Following the identification of a county government agency utilizing a BIS structure, using the LinkedIn[®] public database, I communicated with an authorized representative of the organization via email to assess interest in study participation (see Appendix A). The authorized representative of the government agency emailed all IS

leaders and analysts to request participation (see Appendix B), and asked the interested employees to contact me directly. Through informed consent and disclosing the interview questions prior to the interview meeting, I established a working relationship with study participants. Andersen et al. (2012) argued subjects presented with the interview question prior to meeting were more confident in their responses. Permitting the interviewee a chance to review the interview questions prior to the meeting may orient participants to questions relating to personal knowledge (Mikecz, 2012). Moreover, granting research participants access to questions prior to an interview results in the disclosure of richer feedback (Englander, 2012). Revealing the interview questions to the study participants prior to the meeting may enhance the quality of the collected data.

The interview process creates a working relationship with and allows the interviewee to contribute personal insights and perspectives with limited inhibitions, compared to the restrictions imposed by closed-ended questions (Xu & Storr, 2012). Researchers and participants may begin the formation of an ethical working relationship by way of disclosures in the informed consent form with language expressing the desire to protect the individual's identity (Judkins-Cohn, Kielwasser-Withrow, Owen, & Ward, 2014). Doody and Noonan (2013) argued that establishing guidelines to provide participants with an understanding of complex question phrasing, and a potential for the discussion of sensitive topics prior to the interview, might aid the completeness of the respondent's answers.

Research Method and Design

Using a qualitative single case study method and design, I explored the best practices needed to implement BISs for effective resource management. Qualitative research allows the researcher to explore and interpret the experiences of the study participant (Parker, 2012). The qualitative researcher method was an appropriate selection to explore different sources, and collect the insights of the participant's professional experiences

Research Method

I chose a qualitative method to conduct this research. Qualitative researchers focus on finding meaning behind actions and behaviors, and serving the integral role of data interpreter (Sinkovics & Alfoldi, 2012). The qualitative research method is appropriate for researchers exploring complex management issues (Parker, 2012). Moreover, qualitative research is essential to uncovering the deeper meaning of a phenomenon that unfolds over time (Parker, 2012). The flexibility of the qualitative method allows the researcher to incorporate unexpected findings that arise during the research (Cope, 2014).

Qualitative researchers gain insight into an individual's experiences; the nature of the method allows the researcher to interpret experiences (Staller, 2010). Researchers are considered an instrument central to the study process in qualitative research (Frels & Onwuegbuzie, 2012). In addition, the use of a qualitative research approach establishes an environment to comprehend the human experience in a natural setting (Knudsen et al.,

60

2012). Researchers use the qualitative methodology to increase the probability of understanding the meaning of micro-processes related to culture and context, associated with the collaboration and integration of sources (Teixeira, Jabbour, & Jabbour, 2012). I employed the qualitative method to understand the context of the study participant's personal experiences.

Researchers use a quantitative research method to test theories and hypotheses objectively by examining relationships between variables (Yilmaz, 2013). When using the quantitative research method, the goal of the researcher is to describe, predict, or control the occurrences or phenomena investigated (Gibson & Fedorenko, 2013). In quantitative research, an acquisition of knowledge can occur through the examination of numeric data that is analyzed using statistically based methods to determine relationships between variables (Gilstrap, 2013). Since I did not intend to test theories or a hypothesis, the quantitative research method was not suitable for this study.

Mixed method research combines qualitative and quantitative methods to collect, analyze, and merge data to provide a deeper understating of the research issue (Chilisa & Tsheko, 2014). In mixed method research the implementation of qualitative methodologies, increase the depth of understanding a phenomenon, while quantitative techniques allow researchers to test hypothesis and further comprehend predictors of effective implementation (Chilisa & Tsheko, 2014). Researchers use mixed-methods to combine participant experiences and statistical data to identify correlations between variables (Scammon et al., 2013). The purpose of the completed study did not include the exploration of statistical data in correlation with assumptions viewed through a theoretical lens, rendering a mixed method approach inappropriate.

Research Design

Petty at al. (2012) described five research design frameworks for a qualitative study: grounded theory, case study, phenomenology, ethnography, narrative, and methodologies. I chose a single case study design for this research. Researchers use the case study design to collect data from several different sources including observations, interviews, and archival documents (Yin, 2014). Using the single case study design, researchers can address how and why questions and focus on qualities, processes, and meanings in contrast to quantities, amounts, or frequencies (Kim, Price & Lau, 2014). The case study design is the dominant study approach in management research requiring qualitative analysis (Bizzi & Langley, 2012). The benefit of a case study design is the ability to explore and gain profound insights about a single complex entity (Petty et al., 2012). Researchers use an explanatory process in case studies to focus on the how and why questions, relating to the subject matter (Wynn & Williams, 2012). The case study design was appropriate for this study, because I collected data from multiple sources.

In grounded theory, the study participants represent a phenomenon, rather than a group of individuals experiencing a paradox (Adolph, Kruchten, & Hall, 2012). For the systematic exploration of data to identify theories (Parker, 2012) and explore social processes or actions researchers use a grounded theory design (Campbell et al., 2012).

Explorations of social processes or actions are beyond the scope of this doctoral study, for this reason ground theory was inappropriate for this study.

Researchers use the phenomenological design to focus on the meaning of the study subject's lived experiences with a relation to a particular phenomenon (Moustakas, 1994). The phenomenological design involves the study of a small population for a period with the purpose of identifying patterns and meaningful relationships (Petty et al., 2012). Using a phenomenological design, researchers collect data through cycles of questions and answers, with the intent to assign meaning to the experiences and derive expanded knowledge regarding a phenomenon (Tuohy et al., 2013). The phenomenological approach was not appropriate for this study, because I focused on the how and why of participants personal experiences, rather than assigning meaning to the lived experiences.

The ethnographic study design is useful to researchers exploring the behaviors of chosen cultural groups (Fetterman, 2010). Further, the ethnographic researcher explores the beliefs, and language of a society (Jansson & Nikolaidou, 2013). Ethnographers study cultural groups in a natural setting for a substantial period with the use of observation and interviews (Tong et al., 2012). Since I focused on the participant's experiences as opposed to my personal observations to describe behaviors or communication patterns, the ethnographic approach was not appropriate for this study.

The narrative design is a process of listening to participant's stories to identify the significance to the experiences and construct meaning applicable to a broader social

context (Ison, Cusick, & Bye, 2014). Researchers use the narrative design to explore the meaning of study participant's detailed stories regarding their life experiences (Erlingsson & Brysiewicz, 2013). In narrative research, researchers gather creative and holistic person-centered stories from participants as the basis for data collection and analysis (Garud, Gehman, & Giuliani, 2014). Since detailed stories of life experiences did not add to the findings of this study, the narrative research approach was not appropriate for this study.

The interview process continued until interviewee responses were repetitive to ensure data saturation. Marshall et al. (2013) stated a sufficient study sample group provides data replication or redundancy. Moreover, Nakkeeran and Zodpey (2012) stated the objective in determining the correct qualitative sample size is subject to reflecting the purpose and aims of a study; with a focus placed on the quality of data, not quantity. Shuttleworth (2014) stated reaching data saturation occurs when the researcher hears the same information repeatedly without gaining new data.

Population and Sampling

The population for this study consisted of a purposeful sample of leaders and data analysts in an eastern U. S. county government that contributed to the function of the organizations BIS. The application of purposeful sampling prevents personal bias and generalized findings to a larger population, and provides the descriptive knowledge desired with the limitations of the study sample available (Petty et al., 2012). Researchers use purposive sampling to synthesize gained knowledge from different sources to make an explicit connection that did not previously exist (Suri, 2011). Purposive sampling is useful for conceptualizing results from a well-defined study population to identify regular patterns of behavior (Olsen, Orr, Bell, & Stuart, 2013).

The data collection process included interviews with four data analyst, and five IS leaders in an organization with specialized IS skills and expertise. Logan et al. (2013) defined stability in a study as achieving continuity between interviews, which may occur by interviewing as few as five subjects. Rowley (2012) conducted a series of semistructured comprehensive interviews with 5 to 25 participants, affording an integral understanding of the subject matter, by adding the respondent's perspective. O'Reilly and Parker (2013) argued a sample size is suitable when the information yield is sufficient for the researcher to answer the research question.

I reached data saturation by interviewing participants from a county government agency BIS until responses were repetitive. Logan et al. (2013) argued the optimal sample size for a study is determined by reaching saturation Nakkeeran and Zodpey (2012) stated the objective in determining the correct qualitative sample size is subject to reflecting the purpose and aims of a study; with a focus placed on the quality of data, not quantity. Further, a study sample group size is sufficient when the researcher reaches saturation; a point where new information is gathered (Marshall et al., 2013).

Requirements for participation included leaders tasked with the implementation of a county government BIS, and data analyst working within the boundary of that control. Participants maintained a position in a U.S. based county government and contributed to the function of the BIS. Participants completed a face-to-face interview for inclusion in the intended study. In qualitative studies, selecting participants capable of offering a diverse interpretation of the research question is beneficial (Yilmaz, 2013). The selection of potential study participants rests on the candidate's ability to address the research questions and provide an enhanced understanding of the topic (Sargeant, 2012). Knudsen et al. (2012) concluded a positive correlation exists between the quality of the participants' interview responses and a familiarity with the research question through personal circumstances.

In a private office at their county government agency, I conducted face-to-face interviews with participants. Interviews conducted in a face-to-face setting allow the researcher to gain more information by affording the participant confidentiality (Rowley, 2012). In a face-to-face environment with the interviewer, the participant is encouraged to share information in an atmosphere where the subject feels safe and comfortable, which may yield unexpected results applicable to a study (Jacob & Furgerson, 2012). Mikecz (2012) stated face-to-face interviews located in a place with minimal interruptions, allows an interviewer to develop trust and rapport, improving the quality of the responses to questions.

Ethical Research

Securing permission from a county government agency administrator and each participant via an emailed consent form confirmation occurred before the commencement of the intended research. The consent form contained detailed information regarding the study. Voluntary and informed consent are necessary for the ethical conduct of research (Horwitz et al., 2013). Participants could withdraw from the study at any time before the completion of the research by notifying me via email. Hadidi, Lindquist, Treat-Jacobson, and Swanson (2013) suggested that when conducting an ethical study, participants must have an opportunity to withdraw without penalty. The consent form included a statement advising no incentives existed for participation.

I conformed to all ethical and legal requirements including Walden University's Institutional Review Board (IRB) guidelines to ensure participants were free from harm or exploitation in the promotion of knowledge. Ethical research is the foundation for the production of excellence and significant to qualitative research (Sandelowski, 2014). According to Glerup and Horst (2014), all researchers must use methodologically sound and ethically just practices. When studying a community, precautions must exist to minimize risks to the individual subjects, as well as the group (Leitão, Falcão, & Maluf, 2015).

Sole access to all data and recordings stored on an external hard-drive, located in a fire rated safe for a period of 5 years, is limited to me. Following the designated period, a forensically validated data wiping process will render all data on the external hard-drive null. Yin (2014) stated the researcher must protect the privacy and confidentiality of the study participants to prevent inadvertent exposure to undesirable situations. After IRB approval, I commenced the study. Omitting names and section/department positions in the agency protects the identity and privacy of all participants (Sandelowski, 2014). Research participants received an alphanumeric identifier to assure the confidentiality of respondent's identities and the integrity of the study. The analyst participant interviews received the letter *A* and a numeric for the sequence in the data collection process as an identifier (i.e. A1, A2, A3, and A4). The leader participant interviews received the letter *L* and a numeric for the sequence in the data collection process as an identifier (i.e. L1, L2, and L3). Confidentiality in research is desirable as a primary means of ensuring confidentiality, to mitigate potential risks or harm to participants (Damianakis & Woodford, 2012). Sandelowski (2014) argued that assigning research participants an alphanumeric representation provides confidentiality.

Data Collection

Instruments

Collection of data during a qualitative study is progressive, encompassing data gathered from multiple sources including interviews, document analysis, and observation (Hoon, 2013). As the primary data collector, I conducted face-to-face semistructured interviews (see Appendix C), and data triangulation using an archival document containing the operational model for the government agency IS. Five leaders and four data analysts from a county government agency BIS participated in the interview process. Interviews are the cornerstone of qualitative research, allowing the detailed exploration of a phenomenon (Serena Chiucchi, 2013). Further, semistructured interviews provide study participants with an opportunity to express experiences and perceptions in-depth without restricting answers (Elo et al., 2014). Standardized questions provide the control for a semistructured interview format, without inhibiting the exploration of topics introduced during the interview, to gain further insight into the study topic (Elo et al., 2014). Semistructured interviews using open-ended questions allow the measurement of each study participant's textual data, experiences, and the interpretation of relating personal perspectives (Nakkeeran & Zodpey, 2012).

Yin (2014) noted data triangulation requires the collection of information from multiple sources to develop converging points in the exploration of a research subject. The inclusion of an archival document in the study formed the data triangulation for this research. Researchers may use an archival document in data triangulation to balance the existence of stronger and weaker resources (Bizzi & Langley, 2012). Parker (2012) argued archival documents are a popular source of information collection in qualitative research, useful in the triangulation of primary data. Moreover, when a qualitative researcher expects a limited number of study participants, use of archival documents are encouraged to ensure the robust grounding of the researcher's interpretations (Ravasi & Canato, 2013). An advantage of using an archival document in qualitative research, as a key element for data triangulation is the corroboration of evidence gained from other sources (Yin, 2014).

An element of the face-to-face interviews involved me completing research notes subtly and recording them in a research journal. Note taking during interviews, aids in data organization, interpretation and to record discourse (gestures, body language, pauses, and verbal inflections) not evidenced in verbal transcripts, and adds to the richness of the collected data (Wahyuni, 2012). Interview notes ensure self-awareness during the process and enhance insights drawn from the data (Ward, Furber, Tierney, & Swallow, 2013). The collection of notes during an interview must remain subtle to avoid the potential of discouraging or disrupting the respondent's uninhibited expression of thought (Doody & Noonan, 2013).

Characteristics of qualitative research include a profusion of perspectives by the investigator, with safeguards in place to avoid bias and maintain validity and reliability (Sandelowski, 2014). Successful interviews require planning by the researcher to maintain the legitimacy and accuracy of the gathered data (Doody & Noonan, 2013). Wahyuni (2012) argued the research interview process is essential to the transformation of ideas from a spoken language into a written format for the management and organization of research data (Wahyuni, 2012). I used member checking to ensure the accuracy of transcripts. The use of member checking requires participants to read a summary of the recorded interview transcripts to verify accuracy and enhance credibility (Houghton et al., 2013). Further, member checking ensures the authenticity of the collected data (Onwuegbuzie & Byers, 2014). The use of member checking as a tool assisted me to maintain the legitimacy and accuracy of the interview instrument for study reliability and validity.

Data Collection Technique

Data collection began after IRB study approval number 07-01-15-0317262 from Walden University. Through email communication with an authorized representative of a county government agency utilizing a BIS, I gained permission to conduct the study and interview participants onsite. All potential BIS leaders and analysts received a request to participate from an authorized county representative (see Appendix B) via email. Interested employees contacted me directly. After determining participants met study criteria, I emailed an informed consent form (see Appendix C) that includes the study overview, withdrawal process, and data safeguard to all potential participants. Following the receipt of an email consent form reply of 'I Consent' from the participant, I established a date and time for the face-to-face interview. In face-to-face interviews, the research may derive meaning to the responses through the vocalized answers and the participant's body language (Irvine, Drew, & Sainsbury, 2013). Vital to developing a rapport between the researcher and the interviewee for a successful face-to-face interview is gestures, handshakes, eye contact, and body language (Mikecz, 2012). In face-to-face interviews, the participant is immersed in the interview process and encouraged through personal participation to reflect on answers further (Rowley, 2012).

Participants received a copy of the interview questions (see Appendix C) through email correspondence before the scheduled interview. Englander (2012) determined that giving the research participants a chance to review the questions prior to the interview aids the process of disclosing richer descriptions during the interview meeting. Providing subjects with access to the questions before the interview permits the respondent to process difficult to answer queries and understand the material, allowing them time to ask for clarification for better final responses (Andersen et al., 2012). Mikecz (2012) emphasized revealing interview questions to the interviewee prior to the meeting orients participants to questions about their knowledge and serves as a basis of reference. Further, the disclosure of the interview questions prior to the meeting initiates a relationship with the participants and offers subjects an understanding of the research context for better responses (Mikecz, 2012).

I gathered information in a systematic manner from five BIS leaders and four data analyst via a semistructured interview format with opened-ended questions. The use of a semistructured interview permits the researcher to measure each participant's experiences and the relating of personal perspectives (Nakkeeran & Zodpey, 2012). Elo et al. (2014) argued that semistructured interviews provide a venue for study participant to express experiences and perceptions in-depth. Furthermore, Marion, Richardson, and Earnhardt (2014) conducted semistructured interviews with information systems decision makers at U.S. and Canadian organizations to evaluate industry practice discontinuance. The semistructured interview design afforded Marion et al. the ability to gather meaningful data and gain an understanding of relevant issues decisions makers encounter during the life cycle of an information system. The average length of each interview was approximately 50 minutes. A digital handheld audio recording of all interviews occurred with the permission granted through the emailed consent form. In addition, I used a second digital handheld audio device as a backup to prevent the loss of interview data. Interview recordings aid in the analysis of data (Al-Yateem, 2012). Sorrell (2013) argued the recording of interviews aids in the coding and theme identification process. The use of a recording device provides a verbatim record of the interview and allows the interviewer to engage the respondent by avoiding distractions created by excessive note taking (Harvey, 2011).

Inherent advantages and disadvantages exist in data collection techniques. An advantage of the semistructured interview relates to the researcher's ability to control the research focus (Elo et al., 2014). The control a researcher possesses using a semistructured interview format offers an advantage in the data collection process, without inhibiting the participant (Elo et al., 2014). Semistructured interviews allow the interviewer to communicate as acquaintances rather than strangers, and offers commentary that may further the contextual accounts of the participant's experiences (Vogl, 2013). Moreover, semistructured interview questions promote flexibility in the communication encouraging depth and vitality in the gathered data (Doody & Noonan, 2013.

A disadvantage of utilizing the semistructured interview is the potential for a socially situated encounter (Doody & Noonan, 2013). A social encounter occurs when the interviewer fails to maintain a formal construct and permits the participa\nt to assume control of the research during the interview process (Doody & Noonan, 2013). Due to the

conversational structure of a semistructured interview, the interviewee may fail to develop a trust with the researcher and prevent the discloser of valuable information (Andersen et al., 2012). Further, Yin (2014) stated in the semistructured interview reflexivity may cause the interviewee to offer answers they believe the researcher wants to hear.

All participants in the study received a summary of my interpretation of the interview transcript via email for member checking to affirm accuracy. Shields, Bruder, Taylor, and Angelo (2013) argued the use of member checking reduces the potential for bias. When study participants receive a summary of the recorded interview transcripts, they acknowledge and verify their own words, increasing the credibility of the interaction (Houghton et al., 2013). Permitting a respondent to review the transcript of the interview, contributes to the affirmation of study ethics, improves the quality of the research and empowers the interviewees (Wahyuni, 2012).

Data Organization Techniques

I identified participants with an alphanumeric title, associated with the interview sequence. An example of the identifier associated with the first analyst interview would appear as A1. In this study, the letter *L* represented BIS leaders and the letter *A* for data analysts. Assigning an alphanumeric representation ensures the confidentiality of the participants (Sandelowski, 2014). Researchers use unique participant identifiers to facilitate data management and cite information without unduly exposing the study subject's identity (Haendel, Vasilevsky, & Wirz, 2012). The protection of a study

participant's identity is an ethical issue and incumbent upon the researcher, as respondents may not fully comprehend the ramifications of involvement in research at the time of consent (Saunders, Kitzinger, & Kitzinger, 2014).

Throughout the data collection and organization process, I made interview notes in a research journal to assist with conformability relating to the reliability and validity of the study. Researchers use data logs to recognize and appropriately address the challenges associated with the interpretive flexibility of information (Sandelowski, 2011). Lin, Pang, and Chen (2013) argued a research journal is required to improve the conformability of a study. The minimization of ethical implications, the avoidance of potential bias, and increasing the trustworthiness of research material may occur when researchers utilize a journaling procedure (Greene, 2014).

After saving the interview transcripts in a Microsoft Word[®] format, I uploaded the information to NVivo[®] 10 to search for themes and patterns in the collected data. All study material and NVivo[®] 10 event logs will remain on an encrypted external hard-drive in a digital format, and placed in a fire rated safe only accessible to me for a period of 5 years. The design of NVivo[®] 10 software allows a researcher to sort unstructured data and structure subject matter (Ishak & Bakar, 2012). The rigor of a qualitative study increases when a researcher uses NVivo[®] to search for themes and patterns (Paulus, Woods, Atkins, & Macklin, 2015). Franzosi et al. (2013) stated researchers utilizing NVivo[®] 10 might establish code scheme hierarchies for information organizations and retrieval. In addition, researchers use the data tracking features of NVivo[®] 10 to establish an event

log, and to complete the analysis of latent uploads associated with the study (2013). After which a forensically validated data wiping process will render all data on the external hard-drive null.

Data Analysis

The process of making sense of data collected through observation, interview, and other techniques is analysis (Yin, 2014). Using the qualitative research method, researchers may identify interrelationships between the production of information and the contextual meaning of collected data (Anderson, 2014). I utilized data triangulation for the analysis process using open-ended questions in the semistructured interviews of leaders tasked with the implementation of a county government BIS and data analyst tasked with the transformation of raw data into intelligence, and the review of the archival document containing the operational model for the government agency IS. Researchers use data triangulation to assist with confirming information and the thoroughness of data collection (Houghton et al., 2013). Collecting multiple data sources allows a researcher to corroborate the same fact or phenomenon (Yin, 2014). Moreover, data triangulation enriches the meaning of collected data (Hoon, 2013).

In addition, I reviewed the archival document containing the operational model for the government agency IS to complete data triangulation. The use of multiple data resources is required to provide a credible and precise case study (Houghton et al., 2013). Conducting data analytics simultaneously with other data collection methods allows the researcher to capture the reality encapsulated in the gathered information (Hoon, 2013). Moreover, identification of relational dynamics during the research permits further exploration via follow-up interviews and the review of additional data sources to explore emerging themes (Yin, 2014).

Coding and Themes

The coding process involved an exploration of the interview question responses, and an archival document containing the operational model for the government agency IS. A coding process assists the researcher with the analysis and organization of collected information to provide meaning and value to the study (Sosnoski & Carlson, 2013). During the study process, researchers use text searches to aid in pattern identification processes and analysis, to determine if classifiable concepts received sufficient representation during the coding process (Knudsen et al., 2012). I used coding to confirm rigor and repeated instances in the study. Researchers use coding methods to assist with the confirmation of findings and prevent the misrepresentation of participant's views (Houghton et al., 2013).

I used the computer assisted qualitative data analysis software, NVivo[®] 10 and Microsoft Word[®] to complete node identification during the coding process to review the interview transcripts and archived data. Ishak and Bakar (2012) used Microsoft Word[®] and NVivo[®] 10 for coding and them identification. Coding interview data utilizing NVivo[®] allows a researcher to identify intersecting data points (Paulus et al., 2015) identified as nodes by software developers (Ishak & Bakar, 2012). The identification of nodes allows the researcher to provide contextual meaning (Paulus et al., 2015). Saving

the collected data in a Microsoft Word[®] format minimized errors and formatting conflicts, during the import process for use in NVivo[®] 10 and aid in the qualitative coding process and data organization.

Designed for unstructured data, Ishak and Bakar (2012) utilized NVivo[®] 10 to reduce obstructions in the coding and analysis research processes. The use of NVivo[®] by researchers increases the rigor of a qualitative study (Paulus et al., 2015). The uses of computer software tools allow a researcher to conduct multiple types of analysis, increasing the probability of discovering underlying theories and relationships in data (Paulus et al., 2015). Classifying, sorting and arranging information aided the identification of themes and development of meaningful evidence for conclusions.

The thematic analysis process for identifying key themes requires the organization of datasets, classifying information, coding, and the interpretation of data (Vaismoradi, Turunen, & Bondas, 2013). Researchers may use a qualitative method to link key themes that emerge from research into a focused meaning, which occurs when data sets receive structure (Rowley, 2012). Moreover, Cameron, Naglie, Silver, and Gignac (2013) noted that using a conceptual framework to guide data collection and analysis in their qualitative research resulted in the emergence of key themes. I completed a literature review to add to the richness of the conceptual framework. Completing a literature review adds to the conceptual framework and development of key themes (Joo, McLean, & Yang, 2013).

Reliability and Validity

Reliability is essential to ensuring the accuracy and value of research data (Morse, 2015). Research validity is a product of reducing internal and external threats through process checks (Frels & Onwuegbuzie, 2012). In qualitative research, a researcher must incorporate dependability, credibility, transferability, and conformability in the study process to ensure rigor (Houghton et al., 2013). Researchers producing a reliable study may provide generalized results for a target population (Knudson, 2012).

Researchers ensure dependability by accounting for all changes in study conditions and any adjustments in the research design required for the enhancement of contextual understanding (Venkatesh, Brown, & Bala, 2013). Using member checking for data interpretation I ensured dependability of the research. Lotfi et al. (2013) determined member checking reduced researcher bias and increased the dependability of the research. Researchers use the member checking process to minimize the misinterpretations of interview responses, and to empower participants through an active involvement in the study (Perkins, Columna, Lieberman, & Bailey, 2013). Furthermore, in a study involving government employees, Walker and East (2014) used member checking to ensure the accurate portrayal of the participant's perspective.

Credibility in qualitative research refers to an accurate representation through description or interpretation of the study participant's experiences (Tong, Chapman, Israni, Gordon, & Craig, 2013). I triangulated semistructured interviews and an archival document containing the strategic operational plan for the government agency IS to explore best practices required to utilize BISs. Hoon (2013) argued the use of triangulation enriches the meaning of collected data. Triangulation ensures the corroboration of archival data, and interview responses are representative of the participant's research topic understanding. Sandelowski (2014) cautioned the triangulation method is potentially time consuming and requires appropriate planning and organization. Furthermore, credibility occurs when several pieces of information point to the same assertion or proposition (Cope, 2014).

Using thick descriptions of the research processes, I provided readers with adequate information to determine if results of the study are comparable to other contexts. The transferability of findings to a second setting requires thick descriptions for readers to make judgments regarding the application of the information to their situation (Seale, 1999). Thick descriptions are not synonymous with long detailed characterization or explanations. Further, Seale noted the term thick descriptions, implies the need to provide a clear level of meaning for information. The transferability of study results increase when a research thoroughly describes the research context and the assumptions central to study (Denzin, Lincoln, & Giardina, 2006). Pedrosa, Näslund and Jasmand (2012) stated transferability refers to the applicability of research conclusions to the situation of other researchers, allowing them to form inferences.

Conformability is only present after credibility, transferability, and dependability are established and the evidence and results of a study are reproducible by another researcher (Cope, 2014). I implemented auditable processes for recording procedures, information collection, report analysis, and data interpretations. Morse (2015) argued, assuring rigor in research requires the use of an audit or decision trail documenting all decisions and interpretations made by the researcher. Employing a study audit trail readers may examine the processes applied by the researcher to produce the result, inclusive of accurate and recognizable descriptions (Houghton et al., 2013). Street and Ward (2012) examined the internal validity of case study research and stated the ability to overcome threats requires auditing results and accounting for alternative explanations.

Reaching data saturation, I ensured the trustworthiness of this study. Elo et al. (2014) stated developing a strategy for qualitative research must include data saturation to ensure reliability and validity of the study. Data saturation by continuing the interview process until no new information in gained from interviewee responses. A common guiding principle for data saturation is researchers must collect a volume of information sufficient to capture a full range of experiences without accumulating continually repetitious data (O'Reilly & Parker, 2013). Researchers reach data saturation to ensure enough the collected information accounts for all aspects of a phenomenon and provides the reader with a comprehensive source of data with minimum dross (Knudsen, 2012). Systematic and organized researchers include the analogous criteria for qualitative research to enhance the trustworthiness of their study (Elo et al., 2014).

Transition and Summary

Section 2 was a review of the chosen research method and design, including the data collection processes, analysis, instruments, techniques, and reliability and validation

81

assurance practices. Section 3 includes the documentation of findings and results to the application of professional practice. Additionally, implications of the study on social change, an offering of recommendations, and a reflection on the research process occur in Section 3.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change

Introduction

The purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore best practices needed by data management leaders to utilize BIS for effective resource management. Five leaders and four data analysts tasked with conducting BIS related functions in an eastern U.S. county government participated in this study. I used interview responses and information collected from the government agency IS operational policies and a procedures manual (archival document) to address the research problem. The findings derived from a review of the research data included a focus on the need for explicit policies and procedures to augment organizational asset performance through design and maximize BIS effectiveness. A reoccurring subject in the data included the training employees as informed information gatherers to improve the collection of valuable data for processing by BIS leaders and analysts. With frequency, leaders and analysts stated that leading, integrating, and managing human capital dynamics influences BIS functionality. Leaders and analysts acknowledged the difference in data analysis models and the benefits of choosing the correct method to analyze information. Further, BIS leaders could develop procedures to prevent intentionally bias or prejudicial data analytics. IS leaders and analysts need to understand data flow engineering relevant to all aspects of the IC to maximize resources in a BIS environment (Phythian, 2013).

Presentation of the Findings

The central research question for this study was: *What best practices are needed by data management leaders to utilize business intelligence systems for effective resource management?* I utilized semistructured interviews with open-ended questions (see Appendix C), and the cooperating organization's IS operational policies and procedures manual (archival document) to collect data for this study. I analyzed the research data using NVivo[®] 10. The five themes that emerged included the need to establish (a) the need for comprehensive policies and procedures for creating operating standards, (b) data acquisition training, (c) human capital dynamics management for improved efficiency, (d) protocols for transforming raw information into knowledge, and (e) safeguards for preventing bias in data analysis.

Theme 1: Development of Policies and Procedures for the Creation of Operating Standards

A successful BIS requires proper planning and the establishment of a detailed infrastructure to institute a proficient IS (Marrin, 2012a). Gold et al. (2013) stated key factors in developing a reliable predictive model for data analysis, requires an analytic framework outlining existing iterative and fluid dynamics, while incorporating the input of new data. Hoppe (2013) argued that leadership designing an organizational infrastructure with excessive focus on formality and ceremony, instead of intelligence workers as knowledge activists, might negatively influence the job performance of subordinates. Moreover, synchronicity in purpose through corroboration, reflection and action of IS personnel establishes an enhanced working environment (Hoppe, 2013). One (9%) leader stated "Validation, validation, validation with communication. We're making sure everyone knows what good intelligence is and good intelligence is validating information that's analyzed and usable." Seven (77%) members of the study population agreed that a defined IS framework was required to maximize resources. Three (75%) analysts associated the proper flow of information and accessibility as a necessity for success in converting raw information into actionable intelligence. Access to stored IS information in a timely manner is critical and achieved by selecting an appropriate data flow technological solution (Chen et al., 2012).

In alignment with the key factors argument established by Gold et al. (2013), three (75%) analysts and three (60%) leaders provided indicators that the proper selection of personnel supported by technology, policies and procedures for analyzing information are key factors in developing a reliable analytic structure. Six (67%) of the participants stated inefficiencies of database design in a BIS negatively influence an organizations information storage and retrieval functions. Harrison et al. (2015) argued leaders reduce IC vulnerabilities through the establishment of detailed BIS policies and procedures. IS leaders must cope with inherently unstable, adaptive, and complex frameworks, increasing the level of difficulty and demands of managing resources (Coyne, Bell, & Merrington, 2013). The production of actionable intelligence requires the existence of proper data collection, data analysis techniques, business IC, and decision support systems (Chen et al., 2012).

All nine (100%) participants noted a deficiency in the selection and use of technology for data analysis, storage, and retrieval. In reference to information processing, storage, and retrieval improvement, three (60%) leaders acknowledged the need to frequently assess and plan for data analytic IT instrument improvements. The expedited correct parsing of big data requires IT tools (Den Hengst & Staffeleu, 2012). An overarching concern shared by all (100%) participants was the negative influence deficient technologies could have on the development of actionable intelligence. Further, three (60%) leaders and three (75%) analysts identified that the selection of incorrect or ineffective IS procedures by personnel hindered the ability to obtain actionable intelligence. The same participants cited that the use of improper procedures by personnel creates additional stress on human capital. Three (75%) analysts and four (80%) leaders indicated that allocation of human capital to complete BIS activities, coupled with technology to aid the data analytic process, are critical to the management of resources. The identification of patterns and themes in data occurs with the selection of an appropriate technological solution applied in a favorable environment (Steden et al., 2013). Organizational leadership's selection of IT solutions must support BIS functions to capitalize on critical success factors (Sangar & Iahad, 2013).

Organizations must create an intelligence structure aligned with leadership's, implicit or explicit, IC strategic goals (Farrokhi & Laszlo, 2013). Six (67%) participants acknowledged the need for detailed policies and procedures, to provide a definitive BIS strategy, personnel expectations, training, and goals. One (20%) leader stated, "I think the policies and procedures are already in place. I think the best practices are making sure that you are following those policies and procedures." Commenting on the existence of policies, procedures and training, one (25%) analyst stated "my training when I came in was just about how to do my daily alerts...it's really kind of learn-as-you-go, and you kind of get the feel for things." In Table 1, I illustrate the frequency at which participants mentioned the need for explicit policies and procedures to establish operating standards.

Table 1

Participant	Interview questions	Total number of references
A1	3, 6, 8, 9	4
A2	1, 2, 3, 8, 9	6
A3	2, 4, 5, 7, 8	9
A4	3, 5, 8, 9	4
L1	1, 4, 8, 9	6
L2	4, 8, 9	3
L3	3, 6, 8, 9	4
L4	1, 6, 7, 8, 9	6
L5	1, 2, 3, 5, 6, 8	6

Development of Policies and Procedures for the Creation of Operating Standards (Frequency)

Archival document analysis. Regarding the managerial philosophy for BIS operations, three (60%) leaders specifically referenced the description of an intelligence-led decision-making model in the government agency IS operational policies and

procedures (archival document) manual ("Intelligence-2-Action Operational Model and Methodology" [I2A], 2015). Four (80%) leaders described the purpose of using an IS, as a managerial business philosophy focused on the collection and analysis of information to facilitate objectives, aid decision-making strategies, and effective resource management to serve stakeholders. However, four (75%) of analysts noted that an absence of detailed policies and procedures related to specific job descriptions, task assignments, and leadership and data analyst BIS training, hinder the efficiency of BIS operations. Popovic et al. (2012) stated a failure by leadership to rely on strict operational guidelines governing BIS functions, results in system deficiencies and the possibility of errant data analysis and conclusions. An explicitly defined BIS infrastructure, detailing the vital elements of the strategic features associated with training and team composition reduces the possibility of system failures (Sangar & Iahad, 2013). Furthermore, an explicit IS infrastructure minimizes IC vulnerabilities during BIS implementation (Harrison et al., 2015).

Theme 2: Data Acquisition Training

Bärenfänger et al. (2014) stated improper data acquisition wastes resources and causes distractions or misdirection for decision makers. Three (75%) analysts and three (60%) of the leaders expressed a need for proper information collection. Three (75%) analyst stressed a need for improved information gatherer training for data acquisition tasks. Three (75%) analysts indicated they frequently question the validity and credibility of information gatherer's data. Recalling a particular field interview entry by an

information gatherer, one (25%) analyst commented, "I don't even know if this is accurate or not." According to Sangar and Iahad (2013), a correlation exists between the collection of information from suitable sources and the enrichment of data using an appropriate analysis method to provide actionable intelligence. Six (67%) of the participants cited that procedures established by leaders at the government agency encouraged the collection of useless or flawed data. Further, the same participants expressed that organizational leadership has created an environment encouraging volume over substantive data collection. As Ramakrishnan et al. (2012) argued, to meet strategic BIS goals organizational leadership must define data collection criteria based on the potential use of information. Moreover, mass information collection may cause failures in an IS (Wigan & Clarke, 2013). Leadership may improve resource management by establishing data provenance and prequalifying information value (Amara et al., 2012).

Rudas, Pap, and Fodor (2013) stated an IS is a dynamic information processing system used to combine data gathered from different sources into actionable intelligence. Six (67%) participants referenced a formalized information collection format identified as a field interview. Five (56%) cited that information collectors are required to complete field interviews regularly as a measure of job performance. Six (67%) members of the study population cited that field interviews are often incomplete, filled with errors, or lacked any discernible value for transformation into actionable intelligence. Moreover, three (33%) participants described the data gathering process as flawed, resulting in the mass collection of worthless or limited value information. Related to the principles

guiding information collection, one (20%) leadership participant stated, "we're trying to determine on a daily basis what do we need people to grab. What information do we need to acquire and feed up the chain?" The information collection processes may define the purposefulness of complied data (Wigan & Clarke, 2013). In Table 2, I illustrate the frequency at which participants mentioned the significance of data acquisition training. Table 2

Participant	Interview questions	Total number of references
A1	3	1
A2	1, 2, 3, 7, 8, 9, 10	8
A3	1, 3, 5, 6	5
A4	2, 9, 10	3
L1	4, 6, 8, 10	4
L2	1, 6	2
L3	1	1
L4	1, 3, 4, 9	4
L5	3, 10	2

Data Acquisition Training (Frequency)

Prepared individuals possess the ability to adapt in a fluid work environment (Aminoff et al., 2012). Leaders establishing a plan to educate subordinates are central to the concept of valuable information sharing (Nandita, 2013). In response to questions three and nine, two (40%) leaders and two (50%) analysts suggested that modifications to the database input process would assist information gatherers in prioritization of collected data; creating an information value assignment. In the organizational policies and procedures manual (archival document), leadership referenced the IS as the defining source of intelligence in their organization (I2A, 2015).

Archival document analysis. In the archival document organizational leaders stated intelligence is a product of analytical processes to cultivate who, what, when, where and how elements from diverse information repositories (I2A, 2015). Information in the organizational policies and procedures manual (archival document) served as confirmation of leadership's expressed assertion that a productive BIS results in the application of best practices' relating to enhanced data analytics usage to formulate knowledge (I2A, 2015). Moreover, as described in the organizational policies and procedures manual (archival document), knowledge forms the basis of intelligence to determine a root cause for actions that may endanger or compromise public safety (I2A, 2015). As conveyed in the archival document, the process of information collection through reports, intelligence submissions, and field interviews for data analysis is vital (I2A, 2015). Government agency leaders, via the organizational policies and procedures manual (archival document), asserted that a correlation exists between the use of organizational resources and actionable intelligence derived by data analysts identifying contraindicated activity trends (I2A, 2015). Organizational leadership, to meet operational goals, must establish data collection criteria and define the potential uses for information (Ramakrishnan et al., 2012).

Theme 3: Human Capital Dynamics Management for Improved Efficiency

Vital to resource management and the sustainability of an organization is leadership's ability to value human capital as a resource (Gurses & Kunday, 2014). The integration and alignment of human capital management requires communication, mutual respect, and resolve by leaders and subordinates to achieve mission goals and functional excellence (Chadwick, Super, & Kwon, 2015). Five (100%) leaders placed a profound value on human IS components and the complexity associated with the collection and analysis of data. Based on the responses, five (100%) leaders valued the contributions of the analysts to the BIS. Nine (100%) participants conveyed an appreciation for the role information gatherers (internal) and stakeholders (external) perform in the development of actionable intelligence. The ability of organizational leaders to acquire, develop, share, and effectively employ knowledge to achieve goals requires skilled human capital resources for data control proficiency (Nandita, 2013).

Four (45%) of the study population attributed the efficient and accurate transformation of raw information into knowledge to the skill level of human capital resources. Leaders capable of employing human capital and integrating system resources to unify policies and business processes for improved efficiency are integral to organizational success (Chadwick et al., 2015). One (25%) analyst)stated, "I'm utilized as kind of a data entry clerk, so I'm inputting all the information and then I'm turning around and analyzing all of the information and determining what's valid or not and I feel like those should be three different tasks." Leaders accomplish aspects of human capital integration by reducing job assignment fragmentation and duplication (Chadwick et al., 2015). However, concerning the leadership to subordinate role, one (20%) leader stated, "I don't know that the leaders need a lot of training, they just need to trust their people at the bottom and realize that the people that are in the trenches know what they're doing, and trust them." Maintaining the integrity of IS components requires leaders to perform repeated task analyses and assess the value of human capital to minimize inefficiencies (Gentry, 2014).

Five (56%) of the participants described data control issues related to information access difficulties and reverse information flow. Three (75%) analysts noted the development of prejudiced information, citing how the actions of information gatherers bypassing the IC and predetermining the value of data without sufficient analysis, negatively influences the reliability of BIS outcomes. Five (56%) participants commented that accessing and disseminating information is problematic, citing examples of data floods post-analysis as a cause for reduced efficiency. Jyothirmayee, Reddy, and Akbar (2014) argued the complexity of collecting, storing, analyzing, and understanding the value of information for decision-making is challenging during a data flood. Furthermore, four (80%) leaders commented that ongoing information access improvements are necessary to disseminate BIS data proficiently. Rasanen and Nyce (2013) argued leaders facilitate work practices related to processing and storing information through the choice of a technological solution. Further, leaders should monitor selected IT solutions beyond the design and implementation phases of BISs to moderate needs for improvement.

Seven (78%) of participants cited flaws in the government organizational information flow structure that adversely affected BIS leadership goals. Identified disruptions in IS were attributed to (a) improper information collection methods and strategies, (b) the inability to access information in a timely manner by analysts, (c) misappropriation of analytic resources, (d) reverse information flow, (e) presumptive outcome request for data analysis, and (f) an inability to assess the accuracy of the analytic and IS process. One (20%) leader participant commented: "You know, it's still a computer, they don't have the ability...the emotions humans do, in the sense that leaders still need to have that humanistic side." Another (20%) leader expressed a similar perspective on the need for the human capital factor, stating "I think as far as the human aspect of it we're pretty well staffed, but we all sit here and spin our wheels and struggle trying to get the information out of the computer." One (25%) analyst noted a flaw in the IT solution used to access reports and information stored in the database, citing the inability to retrieve data in a timely manner. In example, three (75%) analyst)indicated requests for analysis and the IT solutions frequently do not align, preventing a comprehensive search or cross-referencing of stored data. Seven (78%) of the study participants shared a positive outlook for the future of the government organization, stating that preservation of human capital factors in a BIS environment is not negotiable. In the archival document, government agency leadership expressed a desire to transform information into knowledge, useable by decision makers to develop strategies and for better service to stakeholders (I2A, 2015). Mason and Simmons (2014) argued

stakeholders seek timely and transparent disclosure of plans or strategies relevant to their views and concerns, by decision makers. Assigning value to human capital may assist leaders with maximizing resources to transform information into actionable intelligence. In Table 3, I illustrate the frequency at which participants mentioned managing human capital dynamics for improved efficiency.

Table 3

Participant	Interview questions	Total number of references
A1	3, 9	2
A2	2, 3, 5, 7, 9	5
A3	2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 9	7
A4	1, 2, 8, 9, 10	8
L1	1, 2, 3, 6, 7, 8, 9	8
L2	2, 3, 4, 9	4
L3	1, 2, 3, 10	6
L4	1, 3, 4, 7, 8, 9, 10	8
L5	1, 2, 4, 5, 6, 8, 9, 10	9

Human Capital Dynamics Management for Improved Efficiency (Frequency)

Leaders striving to utilize a successful information system in a Big Data environment, must employ data and task matching, and espouse the principles of vertical and horizontal computation parallelisms (Tallon, 2013). Six (67%) study participants agreed that analysts must possess the ability to retrieve stored information in an efficient manner to produce actionable intelligence. Four (100%) analysts commented that the timely review of raw information for further analysis is difficult as the volume of collected data increases. Further, the direct retrieval of specific data is challenging when information gatherers produce incomplete or errant entries. Louridas and Ebert (2013) identified that a failure to implement an adaptable IS strategy, where personnel are capable of adjusting for considerable increases in data, will result in the loss of actionable intelligence.

Archival document analysis. A review of the government agency IS operational policies and procedures (archival document) manual indicated leaders consider the need to analyze diverse information as critical, before data constitutes *intelligence*. In the archival document, using policies and procedures, administrators described BIS best practices for strategic processing of raw information by data management leaders and analysts to vet, analyze, store and share actionable intelligence (I2A, 2015). Government organizations using BISs will only meet goals through the promotion of a structured information flow (Schnobrich-Davis, 2014). Three (75%) analysts and one (20%) leader cited instances of agency leaders, information gatherers, and IS users obviating policies written in the archival document regarding the submission, handling, and analysis of data (I2A, 2015). Further, the same participants indicated that breaches in policy are negative influences, inhibiting the cultivation of valuable information from big data in a BIS environment. When leaders lack knowledge regarding raw data transformation into actionable intelligence they impede IS infrastructure maturation and render ICs ineffective (Popovic et al., 2012). Harrison et al. (2015) cited threats to the integrity of

ICs consist of unidirectional communications, poorly regulated meta-data management, and inadequate data stores. Moreover, deficiencies in IS structures encourage problems related to the efficient exchange of information (Harrison et al., 2015).

Theme 4: Protocols for Transforming Raw Information into Knowledge

The proper structuring of a diverse IS group capable of using different analytic methodologies, influences the success of an IC and reduces the probability of flawed outcomes (Phythian, 2013). Referencing training and job assignment to facilitate organizational goals, an (25%) analyst stated the need to "have the right people in the right job and the right training." Eight (89%) participants agreed that personnel selection is essential to BIS success and should not suffer a diminished value with the introduction of IT aids. However, three (75%) analysts disclosed that job performance is hindered by a lack of analyst training and leadership's absence of formal education related to data analytics and familiarity with IS job requirements. The benefit of an education in information processing competencies strengthens an analyst's ability to process larger volumes of information proficiently (Wu, 2013).

Chen et al. (2012), and Den Hengst and Staffeleu (2012) stated ICs are most efficient when organizational leaders create an environment with a centralized information strategy and the employ highly educated people sharing a similar vision. During the semistructured interviews six (67%) participants articulated a comprehensive understanding of the organizational IS service vision, construct and function. The selection of data collection techniques and analysis methodologies for analysts to produce actionable intelligence is essential to the accuracy of leader's decisions (Chen et al., 2012). Moreover, the decision-making environment created by organizational leaders moderates the success of BISs (Isik, Jones, & Sidorova, 2013).

Although six (67%) of the participants expressed the existence of a centralized organizational strategy, five (56%) participants cited data collection and analytic practices that impede success. Seven (78%) participant's responses contained specific IS terminology regarding the selection of efficient data analysis protocols aligned with question five: What data analytic model(s) does your agency need to utilize an IS to *identify patterns or themes in information?* In response, one (25%) analyst explained, "If we want to look at anything from workflow and efficiency, to our way to allocate time based on incidence or anything like that, we should be able to with statistical certainly to make those decisions." In contrast to the assertion made by three (75%) analysts that statistical analysis is the most accurate technique, seven (78%) of the participants described the use of CBR (experiential reasoning) as the dominant technique to analyze information in the BIS. Marling et al. (2014) described CBR as an extension of human rationale, where individuals apply learned experience problem solving (Marling, Montani, Bichindaritz, & Funk, 2014). Sun et al. (2014) emphasized that the use of CBR requires analysts to possess prior case knowledge to achieve accurate outcomes. Analysts lacking a sufficient knowledge base may misinterpret data or apply flawed reasoning, negatively effecting outcomes (Sun et al., 2014). Eight (89%) participants agreed that the selection of an appropriate data analytic method is critical to cultivating intelligence from raw data.

CBR practitioners employ human rationale based on learned experiences to assess new situations or solve problems (Marling et al., 2014). Chang et al. (2015) argued the continued engagement of human capital resources using CBR is essential to maintaining a connection between contextual information and operative knowledge in a BIS. However, relying on CBR solely may result in data analysis outcome errors related to flawed reasoning (Ahmed, Banaee, & Loutfi, 2013). Behzadian, et al. (2012) noted CBR is an appropriate choice for data analysis, resulting in superior levels of accuracy in environments with reoccurring themes.

In alignment with the argument posited by Bauer et al. (2013), that a universal methodology for analyzing all data types within an organization for use by DSS staff does not exist, study participants cited the need to employ different techniques to analyze data for leaders. Four (100%) analysts and three (75%) leaders referenced the broad application of spatiotemporal analysis as a BIS analytic process. Three (75%) analysts cited BIS personnel tasked with predictive analysis select the statistically based spatiotemporal analysis method. Achieving accurate data analysis outcomes must begin with the process of selecting a technique to complete spatiotemporal distribution approximation (Ashby & Bowers, 2013).

Ashby and Bowers (2013) argued that insufficient research exists to validate the broad use of spatiotemporal analysis, or to insure the corresponding data analytic

technique is not unintentionally substituted or compromised. When analysts' conduct spatiotemporal analysis they must complete multiple steps to assess geographic space and time relationships to identify any possible themes or patterns (Without the accurate use of spatiotemporal analysis methods, the credibility of the analyst's conclusions is questionable and may result in unreliable data outcomes (). Three (34%) participants cited frequent breaches in spatiotemporal analysis best practices, resulting in a reduction of accurate data available to leaders for decision-making.

All (100%) analysts advocated the use of multiple analytic methodologies with a preference for a scientific, mathematically based design such as a multivariate-reasoning model. Furao et al. (2010) described multivariate reasoning as a method to integrate multiple decision-making methods to process complex data. In response to question seven, a cross section of three (75%) analysts and three (60%) leaders conveyed an understanding of multivariate analysis. Eight (89%) participants expressed that multivariate data analysis would enhance the credibility and reliability of IS output. Three (75%) members of the analyst group perceived value in multivariate training, further stating that analysts educated to use multiple analysis disciplines would combine or choose the most applicable methodology. One (25%) analyst participant commented: "We are pulling the information, reading it, putting things together here and there, but we're not doing the full analysis part of it. We're not turning that information into intelligence. A lot of time I think we're just regurgitating." Valuable BIS outcomes are a

product of analysts conducting quantitative (scientific) analyses, combined with intuitive and experiential (art) analysis (Marrin, 2012b).

Archival document analysis. In the operational policies and procedures (archival document), organizational administrators described the transformation of raw information into knowledge as a collaborative managerial philosophy to facilitate objectives, decision–making strategies, and effective resource management (I2A, 2015). Reviews of the government agency IS operational policies and procedures (archival document) revealed organizational leaders use data analysis to (a) achieve objectives, (b) aid decision-making strategies, and (c) accomplish effective resource management (I2A, 2015).

In the archival document, organizational leaders acknowledge the existence of different variables related to data collection and analysis (I2A). Data analysts use multivariate reasoning, and statistical analysis techniques to analyze information derived from more than one variable (Joshi, 2012). Joshi (2012) argued the use of the multivariate technique is an appropriate method for analyzing data when situations or decisions involve more than a single variable. Furthermore, multivariate reasoning consists of exploitation and incremental knowledge advantages without the duplication of results (Joshi, 2012). Three (75%) of the analyst participants recommended the use of a multivariate data analysis model to support agency leaderships goals. Further, in the archival document, administrators directly stated the goal of data analysis is to provide decision makers within an overall strategic view of identifiable problems and provide

predictive information for the tactical allocation of resources (I2A, 2015). In Table 4, I illustrate the frequency at which participants mentioned transforming raw information into knowledge.

Table 4

Participant	Interview questions	Total number of references
A1	1, 2, 3, 5	4
A2	1, 5, 4, 8, 9, 10	7
A3	4, 5, 6, 8, 10	6
A4	6, 7, 9, 10	4
L1	7, 9	3
L2	5, 6, 7, 8	5
L3	6, 7	2
L4	2, 6, 7	4
L5	2, 3, 5, 6, 7, 10	7

Protocols for Transforming Raw Information into Knowledge (Frequency)

Theme 5: Data Analysis Bias Prevention Safeguards

According to four (100%) analysts and five (100%) leaders, all leaders within the government agency create data analysis requests based on their personal experience and an understanding of required information to assess past decisions, and current or future planning needs. Bauer et al. (2013) stated that absent cognitive influence, leaders employ experiential and numeric reasoning to form decisions. Experiential factors, directly related to CBR practices, involve problem resolution knowledge gained from analyst's

experiences (Marrin, 2012a). Furthermore, Serban, Vanschoren, Kietz, and Bernstein (2013) explained leaders unfamiliar with best practices, possessing minimal training, experience, or guidance evaluate information based on trial and error. Moreover, Marrin (2012a) argued that using IS leaders or decision makers to conduct quality control evaluations to assess the accuracy and thoroughness of intelligence analysis outcomes is problematic due to possible bias. If leaders do not apply best practices during an organizational performance evaluation, incorrect assessments may occur compromising the decision-making process (Marrin, 2012a).

Four (100%) members of the analyst group disclosed that decision-makers frequently request data analysis based on ego, politics, and/or personal agenda. Six (67%) participants recalled incidents where requests to complete data analytics contained bias elements. As explained by one (25%) data analyst, "I think a lot of the way that our process is developed is bureaucratically and politically based and is removed from science and the academic spectrum." Furthermore, one (20%) leader stated, "Of course there's bias. The key is I think, really, you have to understand that you're going to get that. You're going to get some political assignments that just have to be done." Regarding bias in data analysis, one (20%) leader participant commented, "I think we just have to be cognizant of the way that we ask for that data from the analyst." Four (80%) leader's expressed, precautions to prevent intentionally prejudiced data analysis requests exist within the organizational construct; however, the leaders acknowledged the unintentional injection of bias may still occur. Moreover, three (75%) analysts stated whether the biased requests for analyses are an intentional or unintentional obviation of policy, any predisposition in data analysis risks the credibility of the results. In Table 5, I illustrate the frequency at which participants mentioned a need for bias prevention in data analysis for decision-making.

Table 5

Participant	Interview questions	Total number of references
A1	8, 10	2
A2	2, 7, 10	4
A3	2, 4, 6	3
A4	4, 9	3
L1	5, 9	2
L2	1, 3, 10	3
L3	4	1
L4	3, 4	3
L5	3, 10	2

Data Analysis Bias Prevention Safeguards (Frequency)

Business leaders use a systems thinking philosophy to troubleshoot BIS issues, without the encumbrance of pressures experienced by decision makers (Skaržauskienė & Jonušauskas, 2013). Skaržauskienė and Jonušauskas (2013) argued that members of a large operation might explore how each individual element of the group influences the overall construct to gain a better understanding of their role by using a systems thinking approach. Relating to requests for BIS data analysis, one (25%) analyst stated, "Personal vendettas on certain people. I mean, I think it's worse for some people than others" Three (34%) participants noted BIS integrity issues attributed to requests indicating the need for reports depicting the positive outcome of specific projects or programs; substituting the requirement of analysis for data demonstrating success. Marrin (2012a) warned preconceived outcomes might create a decision-making bias that influences the evaluation of data.

Themes related to bias and IS training emerged during the review of the semistructured interview responses. Popovic et al. (2012) stated a failure by leadership to maintain strict operational guidelines for BIS functions, causes data analysis deficiencies, and the potential for misinterpreted outcomes. Carter et al. (2014) stated counterproductive formal policies, insufficient staffing, and misdirected training curricula may inhibit an organizational paradigm shift to intelligence-led initiatives and decision-making by leaders. Five (56%) participants noted when a requestor supplies specific information and a directive to find particular results within the furnished data, the quality of the conclusion is questionable. Untrustworthy information, bias analytic assumptions, and computation errors represent flawed analysis outcomes (Shull, 2013). Unlike a consumer-based system, government BIS leaders service stakeholders without profit as the primary driver (Kim & Schachter, 2013).

Archival document analysis. Evans and Kebbell (2012) identified fiscal cuts and increased media attention as influencers causing government agencies to assess operations to improve efficiency, maximizing resources and adopt business philosophies

aligned with developing and managing a brand image. In a malleable business environment and to meet stakeholder expectations executives may request that leaders change organizational plans and goals, and adapt BIS functions to optimize processes and resource usage (Geller, 2012). Six (67%) participants cited that data analysis obviation occurs due to biased requests, rendering the need for valid and credible data analytics null. One (20%) leader explained that bias in the BIS is unintentional and not the direct cause of intentional personal manipulation. Government agency leadership declared, in the IS operational policies and procedures (archival document) manual, that due to dynamic multi-tiered factors within government and private organizations, personnel charged with IS duties should provide administrators with information that facilitates resource acquisition and utilization. However, one (20%) leader expressed concerns about meeting the expectations outlined by administrators in the operational policies and procedures (archival document) manual due to fiscal limits (I2A, 2015), and stated, "one I think because we're civilians we're often seen as kind of second class citizens in the agency. And so, when the training dollars get spread out they get spread out to the analysts pretty thin." Seven (78%) participants concurred, explaining budget limits, political and bureaucratic pressures influence government IS leadership. Six (67%) participants identified external influences related to budgetary concerns and internal pressures that caused bias data analytic outcomes.

Findings Aligned with the Cognitive-Experiential Self-Theory

Epstein (2014) developed the cognitive experiential self-theory to demonstrate a person's capacity to integrate preconscious, unconscious, and conscious faculties to process information. The failure of leadership to make correct decisions regarding best practices may lead to IS failures. Armstrong et al. (2012) argued that CEST as developed by Epstein, includes an explanation of psychodynamic and psychoanalysis concepts used by humans to solve problems. Data analysts use CEST to analyze large and complex data sets (Worrall, 2013). Akinci and Sadler-Smith (2013) advocated the application of CEST principles by organizational leaders to establish best practices for the utilization of BISs with effective resource management. Using BISs as a knowledge cultivation tool, supported by refined data as a driver for the decision support process, improves the efficiency and effectiveness of a project (Ellis, 2013).

Participant responses supported the conceptual framework for this study: CEST. Four (100%) analysts and five (100%) leaders indicated that successful employment of analytic-rational and intuitive-experiential processes is essential to BIS functionality and meeting stakeholder expectations. Epstein (2014) stated that the premise of CEST is that humans possess two fundamentally different methods, analytic-rational and intuitiveexperiential, for processing information. Epstein referred to this methodology as the dual information-processing paradigm. The employment of a dual information-processing paradigm by leaders may reduce the potential for bias, while improving the accuracy, of a person's decision-making (Epstein, 2014). Eight participants (89%) stated BIS leaders and analysts employ a dual information processing paradigm. Findings are relative to CEST as described by Epstein (2014).

Six (67%) study participants acknowledged the accuracy of data analysis outcomes increased as analysts gain experience and commented that expedience in analyzing information is critical for developing actionable intelligence. Armstrong et al. (2012) stated an individual's performance and experiential competence increases through associative learning experiences. Findings relate to Epstein's (2014) description of the human experiential decision-making system as an intuitive process within the scope of consciousness. In the absence of intuitive experiential reasoning, individuals employ slower deliberate language based brain activity for rational system analytics (Epstein, 2014). Moreover, Epstein (2014) explained that through the application of CEST, an individual's experiential system evolves, increasing the automatic non-verbal operations outside the scope of awareness. In congruence with Epstein's argument for a link between experience and intuition, Ward and King (2015) stated the type of information processing a person chooses for problem solving and decision making differ with the individual's personal choice to employ rational analysis or intuition outside scope of awareness.

The research findings and the significance of the study were consistent with Akinci and Sadler-Smith (2013) recommendations for a deliberate construct in data analysis to increase the probability of accurate conclusions. The ability of personnel to proficiently identify the value of information, and assimilate the data for transformation into intelligence is an indicator of leadership's ability to establish a substantive technological BIS infrastructure (Jamil, 2013). Five (56%) participants conveyed concerns relating to a lack of adaptation associated with BIS protocols by leadership, affecting the production of reliable, actionable intelligence. Bauer et al. (2013) cautioned that favoring one type of data at the exclusion of another might result in sub-optimal outcomes. Organizational leaders must establish a relevant BIS framework, promoting the use of cognitive and rationale analysis elements of CEST, for effective decision-making processes (Curtis & Lee, 2013).

Findings Aligned with Existing Literature

The findings in this study might assist practitioners, and address a gap in the literature regarding best practices needed by data management leaders to utilize BISs for effective resource management. Popovic et al (2014) stated that a gap in literature related to the strategic management of BISs, necessary to understand information behaviors and the value to strategic planning exists. Researchers have concluded that BISs are costly, resource intensive, and complex to establish; however, limited contextual studies provide the necessary information for planning and implementation (Yeoh & Popovič, 2016). Researchers have documented the benefits of BISs; however, sufficient studies do not exist measuring and assigning value to each element for better process or resource management (Massingham, 2014). Xu and Yeh (2012) argued that best practices used by leaders exemplify the most effective, acknowledged, universal, repeatable, and efficient methods to facilitate an expressed goal. Leaders using best practices comprehend

organizational goals, promote a team atmosphere, and efficiently manage resources in BIS settings (Gurses & Kunday, 2014).

Rdiouat et al (2015) stated that limited literature exists regarding the ability of organizational leaders to create adaptable BISs, except in the manufacturing industry to meet organization goals. Five (56%) participants stated concerns among BIS personnel relating to data analysis quality due to leadership's failure to recognize and modify procedures for operational needs, negatively influences the production of reliable intelligence through resource misuse. Six (67%) participants indicated the development of a reliable analytic structure for BISs requires the proper selection of personnel, technological solutions, and policies and procedures for data analyses. Congruent to my findings, Knabke and Olbrich (2015) stated limited literature is available, with the exception of software vendor documentation, regarding the design of an analytic structure and the selection of technical solutions to support data analyses.

Sharma, Mithas and Kankanhalli (2015) argued that additional research is needed to define the influence of organizational investments in decision-making processes, resource allocation, and the value of data analytics. When the incorrect intelligence analysis assessment techniques occur, results may include errant conclusions weakening the decision-making process (Marrin, 2012a). Seven (78%) of the participants cited the potentiality of errant BIS results or compromised data analyses attributed to uncorrected flaws in organizational information flow. Four (75%) of the analysts described how deficiencies in a BIS infrastructure reduce data processing effectiveness and result in the

inefficient management of resources. Organizational leaders should understand interrelated BIS functions and associated limitations to evaluate data processing effectiveness (Popovic et al., 2012). Furthermore, Bloom et al (2013) confirmed the presence of a correlation between the execution of best practices and higher productivity.

Applications to Professional Practice

The most significant contribution from the study findings may be the identification of the best practices to operate BISs for effective resource management in the private and government business sectors. Identifying best practices leaders need for effective management of resources is critical to achieving organizational success in BIS environments (Gurses & Kunday, 2014). Government agencies and private sector organization leaders may consider the findings from this qualitative case study for the selection of a proper data analytic strategy and the construction of effective BISs.

Emerged themes from the study included information related to training, policies, and procedures, and may assist organizational leaders to increase the reliability of BIS outcomes for decision-making and operational goals. Furthermore, organizational leaders may use the findings from this qualitative case study to establish an efficient BIS infrastructure supported by meaningful operational methodologies to prevent bias, errant outcomes and the misuse of resources. Marrin (2012a) argued that leaders should forward requests for analysis free of bias. Preconceived conclusions by decision-makers may result in decision-making bias, influencing data analysis (Marrin, 2012a). Wu (2013) argued that training in information processing competencies increase analyst's data processing proficiency. Moreover, resource management relates to the development of intelligence, directed training, and leadership establishment of a culture conducive to quality data retrieval and collection (Carter et al., 2014). Organizational leaders applying best practice guidelines to BIS functions may provide the necessary infrastructure to decrease the occurrence of bias in data analytics, errant outcomes and the inefficient use of resources.

The value of information begins with the point of collection (Shull, 2013). Trained analysts possessing the data analysis skills to complete multivariate reasoning and employ CEST might increase the production of actionable intelligence, and produce an organized reference database. Educated information gatherers may reduce the collection and storage of valueless material improving efficient data analyses (Amara et al., 2012). Martínez et al. (2013) stated that by establishing a statistical model to create a visual representation for multivariate data, leaders might reduce bias during data analysis. The use of visual flowchart to indicate the appropriate path data travels, from point of collection to action, might help personnel in understanding the BIS infrastructure. Further, organizational leaders could use visual analytics to create an environment conducive for the collation of new information quickly (Andrienko & Andrienko, 2013). Shull (2013) stated untrustworthy information, bias analytic assumptions, and computation errors represent flawed analysis outcomes. Reducing bias in the analysis process could result in effective management of resources. All (100%) participants expressed a confidence in the ability to analyze data with the purpose of serving stakeholders, when proper training and expectations are present.

Implications for Social Change

Thompson et al. (2015) concluded public and private organization leaders use the pervasive innovation of technology related to the storage and analysis of information to make informed decisions better serving society. The results of this study may assist domestic and international government agency leaders to recognize the value of knowledge led initiatives via BISs, to improve public safety policies and adapt business practices to provide security services. Fitz, Hauer and Steinhoff (2015) stated data is an asset equal to currency or gold, and government agencies should leverage information to offset fiscal limits. Moreover, various public service agency administrators might utilize BIS functions, maximizing resource management to complete predictive analysis for improved budget accuracy, and serve society as a whole through proactive services designed to prevent crises. Carter and Phillips (2013) stated government agency leaders use BISs to develop actionable knowledge and share information relating to public safety in a proactive effort to mitigate risks to society. Government agency leaders could increase subject matter knowledge, and reduce errors related to the anticipation or preparation of public service strategies by utilizing IS processes (Gibbs et al., 2015). Further, the vast data resources available to government agencies provide an opportunity to increase capabilities and services through predictive analytics (Fitz et al., 2015). Fitz et al. (2015) argued that the implication for social change and economics globally, due to

the influence of big data is enormous. The findings derived from this study indicated that employing best practices could affect the ability of analysts to produce actionable intelligence for increased public safety and risk mitigation. Discovering improved application processes to apply BIS best practices may allow government agency leaders to adapt business procedures for effective resource management to improve public safety policies and services. Moreover, by utilizing best practices government agency leaders might increase information management proficiency, transforming information into knowledge for the development of affective regulatory policies.

Recommendations for Action

The research findings yielded data that may assist BIS leaders with the identification of best practices needed by data management leaders to utilize BISs for effective resource management. Furthermore, the results of this study might assist organizational leaders to effectively implement policies and procedures for the proficient production of actionable intelligence and manage resources in a BIS environment. I recommend the following actions based on the study findings:

- Organizational leaders should develop a detailed infrastructure constructed of policies, procedures, and role definitions applicable to all members of the organization interacting with BIS components to improve efficiency.
- Organizational leaders should develop a training system to educate information gatherers, with a focus on the thorough collection and recording of usable data needed by analyst to produce actionable intelligence.

- Organizational leaders could assess competency levels based on each analyst's degree of skill and capability (i.e. Intelligence Analyst 1, Intelligence Analyst 2) for task assignment and supplement each level with professional development training.
- Organizational leaders could benefit from acquiring and utilizing BIS technologies specifically designed for big data storage, sorting, and retrieval of information by analysts for the efficient production of actionable intelligence.
- Organizational leaders could standardize the data analytic technique selection and decision-making methods associated with task assignment to achieve a proficient use of resources with rapid processing of large data volumes.
- Organizational leaders should understand what constitutes data analysis credibility and be diligent to prevent bias; including specific requests for analysis.

Formal and informal modes of communication may exist within organizational infrastructures to communicate or implement recommended solutions. Organizations utilize formal and informal communication media to improve collaboration and participation, internally and externally (Mergel, 2013). Further, organizations use inservice (internal) training to teach and improve employee's competency levels (Piwowar, Thiel, & Ophardt, 2013). Communicating recommendations and refinements to personnel tasked with BIS related job assignments, via internal organization publications, is one possible venue for the distribution of IS procedural changes to personnel when the information is not confidential or does not create a security risk. In-service training cycle instructors could educate information gatherers in the appropriate data collection techniques and requirements for improved task competency. However, modifications to BISs requiring organizational policy and procedure changes should include a formalized communication mode to ensure mandatory compliance. Study findings might apply broadly to all organizations utilizing BISs to increase efficiency and assist government agency leaders with public safety policy development. I will seek to disseminate my research findings through a variety of industry and academic journals focused on BISs.

Recommendations for Further Study

Study findings may contribute to existing and future research regarding best practices needed by IS leaders to utilize BISs for effective resource management and strategic goal planning. Leaders must integrate intelligence into all business processes, including BIS functions, to improve decision-making and fulfill stakeholder expectations (Popovic et al., 2012).

A limitation in this study was the small sample size as this qualitative case study included only a single government agency. Future researchers may include multiple government agency levels or businesses located in different regions of the United States. Subsequent research might include an examination of the relation between BIS leadership techniques and practices for data analytic methodology selection. Utilizing an epistemological design, researcher's may explore existing paradigms related to analyst's and leader's sources of intuitive knowledge and the influence on BIS personnel functionality at local, state, and federal government agencies. The focus solely on best practices aligned with effective resource management in a BIS environment was an additional limitation of the study. Further research could focus on BIS staff behaviors and leadership styles to assess the best practice skills needed by BIS leaders for effective resource management.

Researchers could focus on the effect of policies and procedures on BIS success in future studies. I identified, using the findings from this study, that leaders of the government agency should understand all aspects of the BIS system, and take an active role to prevent the obviation of organizational BIS policies and procedures. Further, by maintaining a working knowledge and active role in BIS, leaders may maximize performance and improve the credibility and accuracy of information analysis. Further studies examining the relationship between organization policies and procedures, trained collectors, data flow engineering, and proficient data analysis might decrease errant BIS outcomes. Moreover, additional any research associated with skilled information collection best practices may provide BIS leaders with the necessary results to improve data analysis efficiency and increase positive DSS performance.

Reflections

Reflecting on my experience within the DBA Doctoral Study process, I discovered leaders should evolve organizational policies and procedures through a review process that includes the practitioner perspective. In example, administrator's assumptions regarding effective data analysis methodologies may not coincide with the best practices needed by the analysts to perform their daily duties and utilize BIS resources efficiently. Intentional or unintentional biases, agendas, and budget constraints might influence the utilization of BIS at a government agency. Furthermore, study participants did convey the existence of an environment where human capital was valued and acknowledged. Correspondingly, participants perceived that without proper guidance and training human capital resources could diminish BIS value.

Using semistructured interviews with open-ended questions, I encouraged indepth discussions with study participants, gaining substantial insight into their perspective regarding reliable data analysis and BIS functions. The study participants indicated, without the selection of the correct technology by BIS leaders and training for human capital resources to obtain quality information, an impediment to the production of actionable intelligence may occur. Information gained from the literature review and study participant interview responses denote a correlation exists between BIS information source selection, the efficiency of data flow, and the ability to provide credible information for DSS purposes.

Summary and Study Conclusions

The objective for this qualitative single case study was to explore the best practices needed by data management leaders to utilize BISs for effective resource management. Utilizing semistructured interviews with open-ended questions and an archival document, I collected and triangulated data to answer the research question. Five themes emerged from the methodological triangulation of nine interviews and the archival document included the need to establish (a) the need for comprehensive policies and procedures for creating operating standards, (b) data acquisition training, (c) human capital dynamics management for improved efficiency, (d) protocols for transforming raw information into knowledge, and (e) safeguards for preventing bias in data analysis...

Relating to effective resource management in BISs, multiple factors articulated by the study participants were congruent with the expressed intent of the government agency leadership chronicled in the archival document. Moreover, the themes identified in the research findings were consistent with information garnered from the literature review. In example, as stated by Marrin (2012a) and confirmed in the research findings, a successful BIS requires proper planning and the establishment of a detailed infrastructure to transform raw information into knowledge. Seven (77%) of the participants referenced the need to establish IS frameworks to maximize resource. Further, three (75%) of the analysts professed that dynamics related to information flow and access in an IS directly influence the ability to transform information into intelligence for use by decisionmakers. A substantial association exists between the implementation of best practices and optimal productivity (Bloom et al., 2013).

Three (34%) participants conveyed concerns related to the mass collection of worthless or limited value information negatively influencing the integrity of the BIS. The existence of proper data collection, data analysis techniques, business IC, and decision support systems may define the ability to produce actionable intelligence in a BIS environment (Chen et al., 2012). Leadership must establish an IS structure supporting the IC strategic organizational goals (Farrokhi & Laszlo, 2013). Leadership's ability to evaluate and recognize the value of human capital as a resource is critical to achieving sustainability (Gurses & Kunday, 2014). Moreover, the statements of 100% of the study participants supported Phythian's (2013) argument for a proper IS structure comprised of a diverse group capable of employing different analytic methodologies to achieve accurate data analysis. All (100%) participants expressed a confidence in the ability to analyze data with the purpose of serving stakeholders, when proper training and expectations are present.

A failure by leaders to employ best practices in in a BIS environment may result in errant conclusions regarding the accuracy of intelligence analysis techniques and compromised decision-making (Marrin, 2012a). My findings illustrate a need for leaders to understand all aspects of the BIS, inclusive of information collection, storage, retrieval, analysis, reporting, and use by DSS. Data management leaders tasked with utilizing BISs for effective resource management must develop and adhere to best practices aligned with the current literature and research.

References

Adolph, S., Kruchten, P., & Hall, W. (2012). Reconciling perspectives: A grounded theory of how people manage the process of software development. *Journal of Systems and Software*, 85, 1269–1286.

doi:10.1016/j.jss.2012.01.059

- Affeldt, F. S., & da Silva, S. D., Jr. (2013). Information architecture analysis using business intelligence tools based on the information needs of executives. *Journal of Information Systems and Technology Management*, *10*, 251–270. doi:10.4301/S1807-17752013000200004
- Agrell, W. (2012). The next 100 years? Reflections on the future of intelligence. *Intelligence and National Security*, 27, 118–132. doi:10.1080/02684527.2012.621601
- Ahmed, M. U., Banaee, H., & Loutfi, A. (2013). Health monitoring for elderly: An application using case-based reasoning and cluster analysis. *ISRN Artificial Intelligence*, 2013, 1–11. doi:10.1155/2013/380239
- Akgün, A. E., & Keskin, H. (2014). Organizational resilience capacity and firm product innovativeness and performance. *International Journal of Production Research*, 52, 6918–6937. doi:10.1080/00207543.2014.910624
- Akinci, C., & Sadler-Smith, E. (2013). Assessing individual differences in experiential (intuitive) and rational (analytical) cognitive styles: Assessing individual

differences in cognitive styles. *International Journal of Selection and Assessment*, 21, 211–221. doi:10.1111/ijsa.12030

- Al-Yateem, N. (2012). The effect of interview recording on quality of data obtained: A methodological reflection. *Nurse Researcher*, 19(4), 31–35. Retrieved from http://nurseresearcher.co.uk
- Amara, Y., Søilen, K. S., & Vriens, D. (2012). Using the SSAV model to evaluate business intelligence software. *Journal of Intelligence Studies in Business*, 2, 29-40. Retrieved from https://ojs.hh.se/
- Aminoff, E. M., Clewett, D., Freeman, S., Frithsen, A., Tipper, C., Johnson, A., Miller,
 M. B. (2012). Individual differences in shifting decision criterion: A recognition memory study. *Memory & Cognition*, 40, 1016–1030.
 doi:10.3758/s13421-012-0204-6
- Andersen, D. L., Luna-Reyes, L. F., Diker, V. G., Black, L., Rich, E., & Andersen, D. F.
 (2012). The disconfirmatory interview as a strategy for the assessment of system
 dynamics models. *System Dynamics Review*, 28, 255–275. doi:10.1002/sdr.1479
- Andrienko, N., & Andrienko, G. (2013). Visual analytics of movement: An overview of methods, tools and procedures. *Information Visualization*, *12*, 3–24. doi:10.1177/1473871612457601
- Anton, C. (2013). Challenges in the identification and acquisition of state of the art intelligence. *Journal of Defense Resources Management*, *4*, 183–186. Retrieved from http://journal.dresmara.ro/

- Apte, C., Dietrich, B., & Fleming, M. (2012). Business leadership through analytics. *IBM Journal of Research and Development*, 56, 1–7. doi:10.1147/JRD.2012.2214555
- Armstrong, S. J., Cools, E., & Sadler-Smith, E. (2012). Role of cognitive styles in business and management: Reviewing 40 years of research: Role of cognitive styles in business and management. *International Journal of Management Reviews*, 14, 238–262. doi:10.1111/j.1468-2370.2011.00315.x
- Ashby, M. P., & Bowers, K. J. (2013). A comparison of methods for temporal analysis of aoristic crime. *Crime Science*, 2(1), 1-16. doi:10.1186/2193-7680-2-1
- Ashrafi, N., Kelleher, L., & Kuilboer, J. P. (2014). The impact of business intelligence on healthcare delivery in the USA. *Interdisciplinary Journal of Information*, *Knowledge, and Management*, 9, 117–130. Retrieved from http://www.informingscience.us/icarus/journals/ijikm
- Bärenfänger, R., Otto, B., & Österle, H. (2014). Business value of in-memory technology
 multiple-case study insights. *Industrial Management & Data Systems*, 114, 1396–1414. doi:10.1108/IMDS-07-2014-0212
- Bartes, F. (2013). Five-phase model of the intelligence cycle of competitive intelligence.
 Acta Universitatis Agriculturae et Silviculturae Mendelianae Brunensis, 61, 283–
 288. doi:10.11118/actaun201361020283

- Bauer, J. C., Schmitt, P., Morwitz, V. G., & Winer, R. S. (2013). Managerial decision making in customer management: Adaptive, fast and frugal? *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, *41*, 436–455.
 doi:10.1007/s11747-012-0320-7
- Becker, J. (2013). Examining relationships between hospital inpatient expectations and satisfaction for maximum Medicare reimbursement (Doctoral dissertation).
 Retrieved from ProQuest. (Order No. 3601243)
- Behzadian, M., Khanmohammadi Otaghsara, S., Yazdani, M., & Ignatius, J. (2012). A state-of the-art survey of TOPSIS applications. *Expert Systems with Applications*, 39, 13051–13069. doi:10.1016/j.eswa.2012.05.056
- Berger, R. (2015). Now I see it, now I don't: Researcher's position and reflexivity in qualitative research. *Qualitative Research*, 15, 219–234.
 doi:10.1177/1468794112468475
- Bharosa, N., Janssen, M., van Wijk, R., de Winne, N., van der Voort, H., Hulstijn, J., & Tan, Y. (2013). Tapping into existing information flows: The transformation to compliance by design in business-to-government information exchange. *Government Information Quarterly*, 30, S9–S18. doi:10.1016/j.giq.2012.08.006
- Bizzi, L., & Langley, A. (2012). Studying processes in and around networks. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 41, 224–234. doi:10.1016/j.indmarman.2012.01.007

- Bloom, N., Eifert, B., Mahajan, A., McKenzie, D., & Roberts, J. (2013). Does management matter? Evidence from India. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 128, 1–51. doi:10.1093/qje/qjs044
- Boyd, Danah, & Crawford, K. (2012). Critical questions for big data: Provocations for a cultural, technological, and scholarly phenomenon. *Information, Communication & Society*, 15, 662–679. doi:10.1080/1369118X.2012.678878
- Brédart, A., Marrel, A., Abetz-Webb, L., Lasch, K., & Acquadro, C. (2014). Interviewing to develop Patient-Reported Outcome (PRO) measures for clinical research: eliciting patients' experience. *Health and Quality of Life Outcomes*, *12*(1), 15. doi:10.1186/1477-7525-12-15
- Brewster, B., Akhgar, B., Staniforth, A., Waddington, D., Andrews, S., Mitchell, S. J., & Johnson, K. (2014). Towards a model for the integration of knowledge management in law enforcement agencies. *International Journal of Electronic Security and Digital Forensics*, 6, 1–17. doi:10.1504/IJESDF.2014.060169
- Buchholz, W., & Schymura, M. (2012). Expected utility theory and the tyranny of catastrophic risks. *Ecological Economics*, 77, 234–239.
 doi:10.1016/j.ecolecon.2012.03.007

Burton, C., Heintzelman, S., & King, L. (2013). A place for individual differences in what everyone knows about what everyone does: Positive affect, cognitive processes, and cognitive experiential self theory. *Social and Personality Psychology Compass*, 7, 749–761. doi:10.1111/spc3.12063 Cameron, R., & Molina-Azorin, J. (2014). The acceptance of mixed methods in business and management. *International Journal of Organizational Analysis*, 22(1), 14–29. doi:10.1108/IJOA-08-2010-0446

Cameron, J. I., Naglie, G., Silver, F. L., & Gignac, M. A. M. (2013). Stroke family caregivers' support needs change across the care continuum: A qualitative study using the timing it right framework. *Disability and Rehabilitation*, 35, 315–324. doi:10.3109/09638288.2012.691937

- Campbell, R., Pound, P., Morgan, M., Daker-White, G., Britten, N., Pill, R., Donovan, J. (2012). Evaluating meta-ethnography: Systematic analysis and synthesis of qualitative research. *Health Technology Assessment*, 15(43), 1-181. doi:10.3310/hta15430
- Carroll, P. J., Agler, R. A., & Newhart, D. W. (2015). Beyond cause to consequence: The road from possible to core self-revision. *Self and Identity*, *14*, 482–498. doi:10.1080/15298868.2015.1026385
- Carter, J. G., & Phillips, S. W. (2013). Intelligence-led policing and forces of organisational change in the USA. *Policing and Society*, 24, 1–25. doi:10.1080/10439463.2013.865738
- Carter, J. G., Phillips, S. W., & Gayadeen, S. M. (2014). Implementing intelligence-led policing: An application of loose-coupling theory. *Journal of Criminal Justice*, 42, 433–442. doi:10.1016/j.jcrimjus.2014.08.002

- Cerni, T., Curtis, G. J., & Colmar, S. H. (2012). Cognitive-experiential self theory and conflict-handling styles: Rational and constructive experiential systems are related to the integrating and compromising conflict-handling styles. *International Journal of Conflict Management*, 23, 362–381. doi:10.1108/10444061211267263
- Chadwick, C., Super, J. F., & Kwon, K. (2015). Resource orchestration in practice: CEO emphasis on SHRM, commitment-based HR systems, and firm performance:
 Resource Orchestration in Practice. *Strategic Management Journal*, *36*, 360–376. doi:10.1002/smj.2217
- Chang, J. W., Lee, M. C., & Wang, T. I. (2015). Integrating a semantic-based retrieval agent into case-based reasoning systems: A case study of an online bookstore. *Computers in Industry*, 76, 1-14. doi:10.1016/j.compind.2015.10.007
- Chaston, I., & Sadler-Smith, E. (2012). Entrepreneurial cognition, entrepreneurial orientation and firm capability in the creative industries. *British Journal of Management*, 23, 415–432. doi:10.1111/j.1467-8551.2011.00752.x
- Chen, H., Roger, C., & Storey, V. (2012). Business intelligence and analytics: From big data to big impact. *MIS Quarterly*, 36, 1165–1188. Retrieved from http://www.misq.org/
- Chen, M., Mao, S., & Liu, Y. (2014). Big data: A survey. *Mobile Networks and Applications*, *19*, doi:10.1007/s11036-013-0489-0

- Chilisa, B., & Tsheko, G. N. (2014). Mixed methods in indigenous research: Building relationships for sustainable intervention outcomes. *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, 8, 222–233. doi:10.1177/1558689814527878
- Colomb, C., Ginet, M., Wright, D., Demarchi, S., & Sadler, C. (2013). Back to the real:
 Efficacy and perception of a modified cognitive interview in the field: A field test
 of a modified cognitive interview. *Applied Cognitive Psychology*, 27, 574–583.
 doi:10.1002/acp.2942
- Cope, D. G. (2014). Methods and meanings: Credibility and trustworthiness of qualitative research. *Oncology Nursing Forum*, *41*, 89–91. doi:10.1188/14.ONF.89-91
- Copeland, L., Edberg, D., Panorska, A., & Wendel, J. (2012). Applying business intelligence concepts to Medicaid claim fraud detection. *Journal of Information Systems Applied Research*, 5(1), 51–61. Retrieved from http://jisar.org/
- Cox, B. L., & Jantti, M. (2012). Capturing business intelligence required for targeted marketing, demonstrating value, and driving process improvement. *Library & Information Science Research*, 34, 308–316. doi:10.1016/j.lisr.2012.06.002
- Coyne, J., Bell, P., & Merrington, S. (2013). Exploring ethics in intelligence and the role of leadership. *International Journal of Business and Commerce*, 2(10), 27–37.
 Retrieved from http:// www.ijbcnet.com
- Curtis, G. J., & Lee, M. W. H. (2013). Connecting cognitive-experiential self-theory's information-processing styles with organizational-influencing tactics: Rational

thinkers are rational persuaders. *The Australian and New Zealand Journal of Organisational Psychology*, 6. e2–e13. doi:10.1017/orp.2013.2

- Damianakis, T., & Woodford, M. R. (2012). Qualitative research with small connected communities: Generating new knowledge while upholding research ethics.
 Qualitative Health Research, 22, 708–718. doi:10.1177/1049732311431444
- Dane, E., Rockmann, K. W., & Pratt, M. G. (2012). When should I trust my gut? Linking domain expertise to intuitive decision-making effectiveness. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, *119*, 187–194. doi:10.1016/j.obhdp.2012.07.009
- Darroch, S., & Mazerolle, L. (2013). Intelligence-Led Policing: A Comparative Analysis of Organizational Factors Influencing Innovation Uptake. *Police Quarterly*, 16, 3–37. doi:10.1177/1098611112467411
- Demirkan, H., & Delen, D. (2013). Leveraging the capabilities of service-oriented decision support systems: Putting analytics and big data in cloud. *Decision Support Systems*, 55, 412–421. doi:10.1016/j.dss.2012.05.048
- Den Hengst, M., & Staffeleu, E. (2012). Different information organizations to produce the same high quality intelligence: An overview of the police forces in the Netherlands. *Policing: A Journal of Policy and Practice*, 6, 187–193. doi:10.1093/police/pas005
- Deng, X., & Chi, L. (2013). Understanding post-adoptive behaviors in information systems use: A longitudinal analysis of system use problems in the business

intelligence context. *Journal of Management Information Systems*, 29, 291–326. doi:10.2753/MIS0742-1222290309

- Denzin, N. K., Lincoln, Y. S., & Giardina, M. D. (2006). Disciplining qualitative research. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies in Education*, *19*, 769–782. doi:10.1080/09518390600975990
- Doody, O., & Noonan, M. (2013). Preparing and conducting interviews to collect data. *Nurse Researcher*, 20(5), 28–32. doi:10.7748/nr2013.05.20.5.28.e327
- Elbashir, M. Z., Collier, P. A., Sutton, S. G., Davern, M. J., & Leech, S. A. (2013).
 Enhancing the business value of business intelligence: The role of shared knowledge and assimilation. *Journal of Information Systems*, 27, 87–105. doi:10.2308/isys-50563
- Ellis, C. (2013). Broadening the scope and increasing the usefulness of learning analytics:
 The case for assessment analytics: Colloquium. *British Journal of Educational Technology*, 44, 662–664. doi:10.1111/bjet.12028
- Elo, S., Kaariainen, M., Kanste, O., Polkki, T., Utriainen, K., & Kyngas, H. (2014).
 Qualitative content analysis: A focus on trustworthiness. SAGE Open, 4, 1–10. doi:10.1177/2158244014522633
- Englander, M. (2012). The interview: Data collection in descriptive phenomenological human scientific research. *Journal of Phenomenological Psychology*, 43, 13–35. doi:10.1163/156916212X632943

- Epstein, S. (2014). *Cognitive-experiential theory: An integrative theory of personality*. Oxford ; New York: Oxford University Press.
- Erlingsson, C., & Brysiewicz, P. (2013). Orientation among multiple truths: An introduction to qualitative research. *African Journal of Emergency Medicine*, *3*, 92–99. doi:10.1016/j.afjem.2012.04.005
- Evans, J. M., & Kebbell, M. R. (2012). The effective analyst: A study of what makes an effective crime and intelligence analyst. *Policing and Society: An International Journal of Research and Policy*, 22, 204–219.

doi:10.1080/10439463.2011.605130

- Farrokhi, V., & Laszlo, P. (2013). Organizational and technical factors for implementing business intelligence. Oradea University Fascicle of Management and Technological Engineering Annals, 22, 75–78. Retrieved from http://www.imtuoradea.ro/auo.fmte
- Fetterman, D. M. (2010). Ethnography: step-by-step (3rd ed.). Los Angeles: SAGE.
- Fitz, D. A., Hauer, J. P., & Steinhoff, J. C. (2015). Calling all government financial managers to a more analytic role as highly-valued business advisors. *Journal of Government Financial Management*, 64(2), 40-47. Retrieved from https://www.agacgfm.org
- Franzosi, R., Doyle, S., McClelland, L. E., Putnam Rankin, C., & Vicari, S. (2013). Quantitative narrative analysis software options compared: PC-ACE and

CAQDAS (ATLAS.ti, MAXqda, and NVivo). *Quality & Quantity*, 47, 3219–3247. doi:10.1007/s11135-012-9714-3

- Frels, R. K., & Onwuegbuzie, A. (2012). Interviewing the interpretive researcher: An impressionist tale. *The Qualitative Report*, 17(30), 1–27. Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/
- Furao, S., Sudo, A., & Hasegawa, O. (2010). An online incremental learning patternbased reasoning system. *Neural Networks*, 23, 135–143. doi:10.1016/j.neunet.2009.06.002
- Ganzert, C., Martinelli, D. P., & Delai, I. (2012). Intelligence systems methodology: A systemic approach to the organizational intelligence function. *Knowledge Management Research & Practice*, *10*, 141–152. doi:10.1057/kmrp.2011.44
- Gargon, E., Gurung, B., Medley, N., Altman, D. G., Blazeby, J. M., Clarke, M., &
 Williamson, P. R. (2014). Choosing important health outcomes for comparative effectiveness research: A systematic review. *PLoS ONE*, *9*, e99111.
 doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0099111
- Garud, R., Gehman, J., & Giuliani, A. P. (2014). Contextualizing entrepreneurial innovation: A narrative perspective. *Research Policy*, 43, 1177–1188. doi:10.1016/j.respol.2014.04.015
- Geanina, E., Camelia, F., Apostu, A., & Velicanu, M. (2012). Perspectives on Big Data and Big Data analytics. *Database Systems Journal*, *3*(4), 3–14. Retrieved from http://www.dbjournal.ro/

- Geller, W., & Drachsler, H. (2012). Translating learning into numbers: A generic framework for learning analytics. *Journal of Educational Technology & Society*, 15(3), 42–57. Retrieved from http://www.ifets.info/
- Gentry, J. A. (2014). Managers of analysts: The other half of intelligence analysis. *Intelligence and National Security*, 29, 1–24. doi:10.1080/02684527.2014.961244
- George, G., Haas, M. R., & Pentland, A. (2014). Big Data and management. *Academy of Management Journal*, 57, 321–326. doi:10.5465/amj.2014.4002
- Ghadami, M., Seyedhosseini, S. M., & Makui, A. (2012). A learning algorithm for feature weighting in case-based reasoning. *International Journal of Knowledge Engineering and Data Mining*, 2, 160–173. doi:10.1504/IJKEDM.2012.051239
- Gibbs, C., McGarrell, E. F., & Sullivan, B. (2015). Intelligence-led policing and transnational environmental crime: A process evaluation. *European Journal of Criminology*, *12*, 242–259. doi:10.1177/1477370815571947
- Gibson, E., & Fedorenko, E. (2013). The need for quantitative methods in syntax and semantics research. *Language and Cognitive Processes*, 28, 88–124. doi:10.1080/01690965.2010.515080
- Gilstrap, D. (2013). Quantitative research methods in chaos and complexity: From probability to post hoc regression analyses. *Complicity: An International Journal of Complexity & Education*, 10, 57–70. Retrieved from http://ejournals.library.ualberta.ca/index.php/complicity/index

- Gioia, D. A., Corley, K. G., & Hamilton, A. L. (2013). Seeking qualitative rigor in inductive research: Notes on the Gioia methodology. *Organizational Research Methods*, 16(1), 15–31. doi:10.1177/1094428112452151
- Glerup, C., & Horst, M. (2014). Mapping "social responsibility" in science. Journal of Responsible Innovation, 1, 31–50. doi:10.1080/23299460.2014.882077
- Gold, M., McClarren, R., & Gaughan, C. (2013). The lessons Oscar taught us: Data science and media & amp; entertainment. *Big Data*, *1*, 105–109. doi:10.1089/big.2013.0009
- Gravelle, J., & Rogers, C. (2012). Initiating customer/police interaction in the UK: Early insights from research. *International Journal of Law, Crime and Justice*, 40, 309– 323. doi:10.1016/j.ijlcj.2012.01.001
- Greene, M. J. (2014). On the inside looking in: Methodological insights and challenges in conducting qualitative insider research. *The Qualitative Report*, 19, 1-13. Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/
- Greengard, S. (2012). Policing the future. *Communications of the ACM*, 55(3), 19–21. doi:10.1145/2093548.2093555
- Gurses, H., & Kunday, O. (2014). The moderating role of human capital on the relationship between business intelligence capabilities and business intelligence success. *European Journal of Business and Management*, 6, 154–167. Retrieved from http://www.iiste.org

- Haberman, C. P., & Ratcliffe, J. H. (2012). The predictive policing challenges of near repeat armed street robberies. *Policing* (Oxford): A *Journal of Policy and Practice*, 6, 151–166. doi:10.1093/police/pas012
- Hadidi, N., Lindquist, R., Treat-Jacobson, D., & Swanson, P. (2013). Participant
 withdrawal: Challenges and practical solutions for recruitment and retention in
 clinical trials. *Creative Nursing*, 19, 37–41. doi:10.1891/1078-4535.19.1.37
- Haendel, M. A., Vasilevsky, N. A., & Wirz, J. A. (2012). Dealing with data: A case study on information and data management literacy. *PLoS Biology*, *10*, e1001339. doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.1001339
- Hample, D., & Richards, A. S. (2014). A cognitive model of argument, with application to the Base-Rate Phenomenon and Cognitive-Experiential Self-Theory.
 Communication Research, 1–22. doi:10.1177/0093650214534961
- Harrison, R., Parker, A., Brosas, G., Chiong, R., & Tian, X. (2015). The role of technology in the management and exploitation of internal business intelligence. *Journal of Systems and Information Technology*, *17*, 247–262. doi:10.1108/JSIT-04-2015-0030
- Harvey, W. S. (2011). Strategies for conducting elite interviews. *Qualitative Research*, *11*, 431–441. doi:10.1177/1468794111404329

Hendriks, P. H. J., & Sousa, C. A. A. (2013). Practices of management knowing in university research management. *Journal of Organizational Change Management*, 26, 611–628. doi:10.1108/09534811311328605

- Hilbert, M. (2012). Toward a synthesis of cognitive biases: How noisy information processing can bias human decision-making. *Psychological Bulletin*, *138*, 211–237. doi:10.1037/a0025940
- Hoon, C. (2013). Meta-synthesis of qualitative case studies: An approach to theory building. *Organizational Research Methods*, *16*, 522–556.
 doi:10.1177/1094428113484969
- Hoppe, M. (2013). The intelligence worker as a knowledge activist an alternative view on intelligence by the use of Burke's pentad. *Journal of Intelligence Studies in Business*, 1(1), 59–68. Retrieved from https://ojs.hh.se/
- Horan, W. P., Reddy, L. F., Barch, D. M., Buchanan, R. W., Dunayevich, E., Gold, J. M., Green, M. F. (2015). Effort-based decision-making paradigms for clinical trials in schizophrenia: Part 2 external validity and correlates. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, *41*, 1055–1065. doi:10.1093/schbul/sbv090
- Horwitz, R. H., Roberts, L. W., Seal, D. W., Joseph, P., Maschke, K. J., Verdier, R. I.,
 Fitzgerald, D. W. (2013). Assessing whether consent for a clinical trial is
 voluntary. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, *158*, 222.
 doi:10.7326/0003-4819-158-3-201302050-00025
- Houghton, C., Casey, D., Shaw, D., & Murphy, K. (2013). Rigour in qualitative casestudy research. *Nurse Researcher*, 20(4), 12–17. Retrieved from http://nurseresearcher.rcnpublishing.co.uk/

- Hu, J., Qi, J., & Peng, Y. (2015). New CBR adaptation method combining with problem– solution relational analysis for mechanical design. *Computers in Industry*, 66, 41– 51. doi:10.1016/j.compind.2014.08.004
- Huang, M.-H., & Rust, R. T. (2013). IT-related service: A multidisciplinary perspective. *Journal of Service Research*, *16*, 251–258. doi:10.1177/1094670513481853
- Irvine, A., Drew, P., & Sainsbury, R. (2013). Am I not answering your questions properly?: Clarification, adequacy and responsiveness in semi-structured telephone and face-to-face interviews. *Qualitative Research*, 13, 87–106. doi:10.1177/1468794112439086
- Ishak, N., & Bakar, A. (2012). Qualitative data management and analysis using NVivo: an approach used to examine leadership qualities among student leaders. *Education Research Journal*, 2, 94–103. Retrieved from http://www.resjournals.com/ER
- Işık, Ö., Jones, M. C., & Sidorova, A. (2013). Business intelligence success: The roles of BI capabilities and decision environments. *Information & Management*, 50(1), 13–23. doi:10.1016/j.im.2012.12.001
- Ison, N., Cusick, A., & Bye, R. A. (2014). Techniques to tell the real story: Narrative inquiry in health services research. *BMC Health Services Research*, 14(Suppl 2), P22. doi:10.1186/1472-6963-14-S2-P22

- Jacob, S. A., & Furgerson, S. P. (2012). Writing interview protocols and conducting interviews: tips for students new to the field of qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report*, 17, 1–10. Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/
- James, A. (2014). Forward to the past: reinventing intelligence-led policing in Britain. *Police Practice and Research*, *15*, 75–88. doi:10.1080/15614263.2012.754126
- Jamil, G. L. (2013). Approaching market intelligence concept through a case analysis: Continuous knowledge for marketing strategic management and its complementarity to competitive intelligence. *Procedia Technology*, 9, 463–472. doi:10.1016/j.protcy.2013.12.051
- Jansson, G., & Nikolaidou, Z. (2013). Work-identity in ethnographic research: Developing field roles in a demanding workplace setting. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 12, 152–167. Retrieved from http://ejournals.library.ualberta.ca/
- Jenster, P., & Soilen, K. S. (2013). The relationship between strategic planning and company performance; A Chinese perspective. *Journal of Intelligence Studies in Business*, 3(1), 15–30. Retrieved from https://ojs.hh.se/
- Ji, J., Pang, W., Zhou, C., Han, X., & Wang, Z. (2012). A fuzzy k-prototype clustering algorithm for mixed numeric and categorical data. *Knowledge-Based Systems*, 30, 129–135. doi:10.1016/j.knosys.2012.01.006

- Ji, S.-H., Park, M., & Lee, H.-S. (2012). Case adaptation method of Case-Based Reasoning for construction cost estimation in Korea. *Journal of Construction Engineering and Management*, 138, 43–52. doi:10.1061/(ASCE)CO.1943-7862.0000409
- Joo, B.-K., McLean, G. N., & Yang, B. (2013). Creativity and human resource development: An integrative literature review and a conceptual framework for future research. *Human Resource Development Review*, 12, 390–421. doi:10.1177/1534484313481462
- Joshi, P. (2012). Incremental learning: Areas and methods a survey. International Journal of Data Mining & Knowledge Management Process, 2(5), 43–51. doi:10.5121/ijdkp.2012.2504
- Judkins-Cohn, T. M., Kielwasser-Withrow, K., Owen, M., & Ward, J. (2014). Ethical principles of informed consent: Exploring nurses' dual role of care provider and researcher. *Journal of Continuing Education in Nursing*, 45(1), 35–42. doi:10.3928/00220124-20131223-03
- Jyothirmayee, A. V., Reddy, D. G., & Akbar, K. (2014). Understanding big data and DV2 law. International Journal of Emerging Technology and Advanced Engineering, 4, 681-695. Retrieved from http:// www.ijetae.com
- Kahn, D. M., & Mohamudally, N. (2012, January). The adaptability of conventional data mining algorithms through intelligent mobile agents in modern distributed

systems. *International Journal of Computer Science Issues*, 9(1), 38–46. Retrieved from http://www.IJCSI.org

- Kang, Y., & Stasko, J. (2012). Examining the use of a visual analytics system for sensemaking tasks: Case studies with domain experts. *IEEE Transactions on Visualization and Computer Graphics*, 18, 2869–2878. doi:10.1109/TVCG.2012.224
- Keung, C. C. W., & Shen, L. (2013). Measuring the networking performance for contractors in practicing construction management. *Journal of Management in Engineering*, 29, 400–406. doi:10.1061/(ASCE)ME.1943-5479.0000156
- Kim, M., Lee, S., Woo, S., & Shin, D. H. (2012). Approximate cost estimating model for river facility construction based on case-based reasoning with genetic algorithms. *KSCE Journal of Civil Engineering*, *16*, 283–292. doi:10.1007/s12205-012-1482-z
- Kim, J., Price, M., & Lau, F. (2014). Case study research: Overview and critical analysis of use in primary care health informatics research. *International Journal of Health Information Management Research, 2,* 13–30.Retrieved https://ijhimr.shef.ac.uk/ojs/
- Kim, S., & Schachter, H. L. (2013). Citizen participation in the budget process and local government accountability: Case studies of organizational learning from the United States and South Korea. *Public Performance & Management Review*, 36(3), 456–471. doi:10.2753/PMR1530-9576360304

- Kirkwood, A., & Price, L. (2013). Examining some assumptions and limitations of research on the effects of emerging technologies for teaching and learning in higher education: Examining assumptions and limitations of research. *British Journal of Educational Technology*, 44, 536–543. doi:10.1111/bjet.12049
- Knabke, T., & Olbrich, S. (2015). The impact of in-memory technology on the agility of data warehouse-based business intelligence systems: A preliminary study among experts. *Wirtschaftsinformatik Proceedings*, 44, 645-659. Retrieved from http://aisel.aisnet.org
- Knudsen, L. V., Laplante-Lévesque, A., Jones, L., Preminger, J. E., & Nielsen, C.,
 Lunner, T., Kramer, S. E. (2012). Conducting qualitative research in audiology: A
 tutorial. *International Journal of Audiology*, *51*, 83–92.
 doi:10.3109/14992027.2011.606283
- Kowalczyk, M., & Buxmann, P. (2015). An ambidextrous perspective on business intelligence and analytics support in decision processes: Insights from a multiple case study. *Decision Support Systems*, 80, 1–13. doi:10.1016/j.dss.2015.08.010
- Langley, A., Smallman, C., Tsoukas, H., & Van de Ven, A. H. (2013). Process studies of change in organization and management: unveiling temporality, activity, and flow. Academy of Management Journal, 56, 1–13. doi:10.5465/amj.2013.4001
- Larsen, T. J., & Olaisen, J. (2013). Innovating strategically in information and knowledge management: Applications of organizational behavior theory. *International*

Journal of Information Management, 33, 764–774. doi:10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2013.05.003

- Leeper, E. M., Richter, A. W., & Walker, T. B. (2012). Quantitative effects of fiscal foresight. *American Economic Journal: Economic Policy*, *4*, 115–144. doi:10.1257/pol.4.2.115
- Leitão, S., Falcão, J. T. da R., & Maluf, M. R. (2015). Ethical standards of scientific research involving human subjects in brazil: Perspectives concerning psychology. *Psicologia: Reflexão E Crítica*, 28, 40–48. doi:10.1590/1678-7153.2015284007
- Li, H., & Sun, J. (2012). Case-based reasoning ensemble and business application: A computational approach from multiple case representations driven by randomness. *Expert Systems with Applications*, *39*, 3298–3310. doi:10.1016/j.eswa.2011.09.017
- Lin, M.-L., Pang, M.-C. S., & Chen, C.-H. (2013). Family as a whole: elective surgery patients' perception of the meaning of family involvement in decision making:
 The meaning of family involvement. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 22, 271–278. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2702.2012.04194.x
- Liu, L. (2013). Computing infrastructure for Big Data processing. *Frontiers of Computer Science*, 7, 165–170. doi:10.1007/s11704-013-3900-x
- Logan, H., Wolfaardt, J., Boulanger, P., Hodgetts, B., & Seikaly, H. (2013). Pilot study: Evaluation of the use of the convergent interview technique in understanding the

perception of surgical design and simulation. *Journal of Otolaryngology - Head and Neck Surgery*, *42*(1), 40. doi:10.1186/1916-0216-42-40

- Lotfi, R., Ramezani Tehrani, F., Merghati Khoei, E., Yaghmaei, F., & Dworkin, S. L.
 (2013). How do women at risk of HIV/AIDS in Iran perceive gender norms and gendered power relations in the context of safe sex negotiations? *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, 42, 873–881. doi:10.1007/s10508-012-0040-6
- Louridas, P., & Ebert, C. (2013). Embedded analytics and statistics for Big Data. *IEEE* Software, 30(6), 33–39. doi:10.1109/MS.2013.125
- Lowe, T., & Innes, M. (2012). Can we speak in confidence? Community intelligence and neighbourhood policing v2.0. *Policing and Society*, 22, 295–316. doi:10.1080/10439463.2012.671823
- Malone, H., Nicholl, H., & Tracey, C. (2014). Awareness and minimisation of systematic bias in research. *British Journal of Nursing*, 23, 279–282.
 doi:10.12968/bjon.2014.23.5.279
- Marion, J. W., Richardson, T. M., & Earnhardt, M. P. (2014). Project manager insights:
 An analysis of career progression. *Organisational Project Management*, 1, 53.
 doi:10.5130/opm.v1i1.3949
- Marling, C., Montani, S., Bichindaritz, I., & Funk, P. (2014). Synergistic case-based reasoning in medical domains. *Expert Systems with Applications*, *41*, 249–259. doi:10.1016/j.eswa.2013.05.063

Marrin, S. (2012a). Evaluating the quality of intelligence analysis: By what (mis) measure? *Intelligence and National Security*, 27, 896–912.
doi:10.1080/02684527.2012.699290

Marrin, S. (2012b). Is intelligence analysis an art or a science? *International Journal of Intelligence and Counter Intelligence*, 25, 529–545.
 doi:10.1080/08850607.2012.678690

Marshall, B., Cardon, P., Poddar, A., & Fontenot, R. (2013). Does sample size matter in qualitative research? A review of qualitative interviews in IS research. *Journal of Computer Information Systems*, 54(1), 11–22. Retrieved from http://www.iacis.org/jcis/jcis.php

Martin, K., & Parmar, B. (2012). Assumptions in decision making scholarship:
Implications for business ethics research. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 105, 289–306. doi:10.1007/s10551-011-0965-z

Martínez, L. B., Márquez, A. C., Gunckel, P. V., & Andreani, A. A. (2013). The graphical analysis for maintenance management method: A quantitative graphical analysis to support maintenance management decision making: GAMM method. *Quality and Reliability Engineering International*, 29(1), 77–87. doi:10.1002/qre.1296

Mason, C., & Simmons, J. (2014). Embedding corporate social responsibility in corporate governance: A stakeholder systems approach. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *119*, 77–86. doi:10.1007/s10551-012-1615-9

- Mergel, I. (2013). Social media adoption and resulting tactics in the U.S. federal government. *Government Information Quarterly*, 30, 123–130. doi:10.1016/j.giq.2012.12.004
- Mikecz, R. (2012). Interviewing Elites: Addressing Methodological Issues. *Qualitative Inquiry*, *18*, 482–493. doi:10.1177/1077800412442818
- Minbaeva, D., & Collings, D. G. (2013). Seven myths of global talent management. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 24, 1762–1776. doi:10.1080/09585192.2013.777539
- Molloy, J. C., & Barney, J. B. (2015). Who captures the value created with human capital? A market-based view. *Academy of Management Perspectives*, 29, 309–325. doi:10.5465/amp.2014.0152
- Mooney, C. H., & Roddick, J. F. (2013). Sequential pattern mining approaches and algorithms. *ACM Computing Surveys*, *45*(2), 1–39. doi:10.1145/2431211.2431218
- Morse, J. M. (2015). Critical analysis of strategies for determining rigor in qualitative inquiry. *Qualitative Health Research*, 25, 1212–1222.
 doi:10.1177/1049732315588501
- Morse, W. C., Lowery, D. R., & Steury, T. (2014). Exploring saturation of themes and spatial locations in qualitative public participation geographic information systems research. *Society & Natural Resources*, 27, 557–571.
 doi:10.1080/08941920.2014.888791

Moustakas, C. E. (1994). *Phenomenological research methods*. Thousand Oaks, Calif: Sage.

- Nag, R., & Gioia, D. A. (2012). From common to uncommon knowledge: Foundations of firm-specific use of knowledge as a resource. *Academy of Management Journal*, 55, 421–457. doi:10.5465/amj.2008.0352
- Nakkeeran, N., & Zodpey, S. (2012). Qualitative research in applied situations: Strategies to ensure rigor and validity. *Indian Journal of Public Health*, 56, 4–11. doi:10.4103/0019-557X.96949
- Nandita, S. (2013). Improving organization performance through knowledge management practices. *Advances in Management*, 6(2), 56–60. Retrieved from http://www.managein.net/
- Nasri, W. (2011). Competitive intelligence in Tunisian companies. *Journal of Enterprise Information Management*, 24, 53–67. doi:10.1108/17410391111097429
- Ndinguri, E., Prieto, L., & Machtmes, K. (2012). Human capital development dynamics: The knowledge based approach. *Academy of Strategic Management Journal*, 11, 121-136. Retrieved from http://www.alliedacademies.org/Public/Journals/JournalDetails.aspx?jid=13

Neuert, J., & Hoeckel, C. A. (2013). The impact of personality traits and problem structures on management decision-making outcomes. *Journal of Modern Accounting and Auditing*, 9, 380–391. Retrieved from http://www.davidpublishing.com/journals O'Reilly, M., & Parker, N. (2013). Unsatisfactory Saturation: A critical exploration of the notion of saturated sample sizes in qualitative research. *Qualitative Research*, 13, 190–197. doi:10.1177/1468794112446106

Olsen, R. B., Orr, L. L., Bell, S. H., & Stuart, E. A. (2013). External validity in policy evaluations that choose sites purposively: External validity in policy evaluations. *Journal of Policy Analysis and Management*, 32, 107–121. doi:10.1002/pam.21660

Olszak, C. M., & Ziemba, E. (2012). Critical success factors for implementing business intelligence systems in small and medium enterprises on the example of upper Silesia, Poland. *Interdisciplinary Journal of Information, Knowledge, and Management*, 7, 129–150. Retrieved from http://www.informingscience.us/icarus/journals/ijikm

Ong, I., Siew, P., & Wong, S. (2011). A Five-Layered Business Intelligence Architecture. *Communications of the IBIMA*, 2011, 1–11. doi:10.5171/2011.695619

Onwuegbuzie, A. J., & Byers, V. T. (2014, March). An exemplar for combining the collection, analysis, and interpretations of verbal and nonverbal data in qualitative research. *International Journal of Education*, 6, 183–246. doi:10.5296/ije.v6i1.4399

Paikari, E., Richter, M. M., & Ruhe, G. (2012). Defect prediction using case-based reasoning: An attribute weighting technique based upon sensitivity analysis in

neural networks. *International Journal of Software Engineering and Knowledge Engineering*, 22, 747–768. doi:10.1142/S0218194012400116

- Pankaj, S., Viswanath, V., & Supreet, J. (2013). Leveraging digital technologies: How information quality leads to localized capabilities and customer service performance. *Management Information Systems Quarterly*, 37, 565–590. Retrieved from http://misq.org/
- Parker, L. D. (2012). Qualitative management accounting research: Assessing deliverables and relevance. *Critical Perspectives on Accounting*, 23, 54–70. doi:10.1016/j.cpa.2011.06.002
- Parris, D. L., & Peachey, J. W. (2012). A systematic literature review of servant leadership theory in organizational contexts. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 113, 377–393. doi:10.1007/s10551-012-1322-6
- Paulus, T., Woods, M., Atkins, D. P., & Macklin, R. (2015). The discourse of QDAS: Reporting practices of ATLAS.ti and NVivo users with implications for best practices. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, *6*, 1–13. doi:10.1080/13645579.2015.1102454
- Pee, L. G., & Kankanhalli, A. (2015). Interactions among factors influencing knowledge management in public-sector organizations: A resource-based view. *Government Information Quarterly*, 33, 188-199. doi:10.1016/j.giq.2015.06.002

Pedrosa, A. da M., Näslund, D., & Jasmand, C. (2012). Logistics case study based research: towards higher quality. *International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management*, 42, 275–295. doi:10.1108/09600031211225963

Perkins, K., Columna, L., Lieberman, L., & Bailey, J. (2013). Parents' perceptions of physical activity for their children with visual impairments. *Journal of Visual Impairment & Blindness*, 107, 131-142. Retrieved from http://www.afb.org/info/publications/jvib/12

Perry, N. C., Wiggins, M. W., Childs, M., & Fogarty, G. (2012). Can reduced processing decision support interfaces improve the decision-making of less-experienced incident commanders? *Decision Support Systems*, 52, 497–504. doi:10.1016/j.dss.2011.10.010

Pettigrew, A. M. (2013). The conduct of qualitative research in organizational settings:
Qualitative research in organizational settings. *Corporate Governance: An International Review*, 21, 123–126.

doi:10.1111/j.1467-8683.2012.00925.x

Petty, N. J., Thomson, O. P., & Stew, G. (2012). Ready for a paradigm shift? Part 2: Introducing qualitative research methodologies and methods. *Manual Therapy*, *17*, 378–384. doi:10.1016/j.math.2012.03.004

Phythian, M. (2012). Policing uncertainty: Intelligence, security and risk. *Intelligence and National Security*, 27, 187–205. doi:10.1080/02684527.2012.661642

- Phythian, M. (Ed.). (2013). *Understanding the intelligence cycle*. Milton Park, Abingdon, Oxon: Routledge
- Piwowar, V., Thiel, F., & Ophardt, D. (2013). Training inservice teachers' competencies in classroom management. A quasi-experimental study with teachers of secondary schools. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 30, 1–12. doi:10.1016/j.tate.2012.09.007.
- Popovič, A., Hackney, R., Coelho, P. S., & Jaklič, J. (2012). Towards business intelligence systems success: Effects of maturity and culture on analytical decision making. *Decision Support Systems*, 54, 729–739. doi:10.1016/j.dss.2012.08.017
- Popovič, A., Hackney, R., Coelho, P. S., & Jaklič, J. (2014). How information-sharing values influence the use of information systems: An investigation in the business intelligence systems context. *The Journal of Strategic Information Systems*, 23, 270–283. doi:10.1016/j.jsis.2014.08.003
- Ramakrishnan, T., Jones, M. C., & Sidorova, A. (2012). Factors influencing business intelligence (BI) data collection strategies: An empirical investigation. *Decision Support Systems*, 52, 486–496. doi:10.1016/j.dss.2011.10.009

Rasanen, M., & Nyce, J. M. (2013). The raw is cooked: Data in intelligence practice. *Science, Technology & Human Values*. 38, 655–677.
doi:10.1177/0162243913480049

Ravasi, D., & Canato, A. (2013). How do I know who you think you are? A review of research methods on organizational identity: Research methods on organizational identity. *International Journal of Management Reviews*, 15, 185–204. doi:10.1111/ijmr.12008

Rdiouat, Y., Bahsani, S., Lakhdissi, M., & Semma, A. (2015). Measuring and improving information systems agility through the balanced scorecard approach. *International Journal of Computer Science Issues (IJCSI)*, *12*, 58-71. Retrieved from www.IJCSI.org

- Rigoux, L., Stephan, K. E., Friston, K. J., & Daunizeau, J. (2014). Bayesian model selection for group studies: Revisited. *NeuroImage*, 84, 971–985. doi:10.1016/j.neuroimage.2013.08.065
- Rivard, S., & Lapointe, L. (2012). Information technology implementers' responses to user resistance: Nature and effects. *MIS Quarterly*, *36*, 897–905. Retrieved from http://www.misq.org/

Roberts, N., & Grover, V. (2012). Leveraging information technology infrastructure to facilitate a firm's customer agility and competitive activity: An empirical investigation. *Journal of Management Information Systems*, 28, 231–270. doi:10.2753/MIS0742-1222280409

Rowley, J. (2012). Conducting research interviews. *Management Research Review*, 35, 260–271. doi:10.1108/01409171211210154

- Rudas, I. J., Pap, E., & Fodor, J. (2013). Information aggregation in intelligent systems:
 An application oriented approach. *Knowledge-Based Systems*, 38, 3–13.
 doi:10.1016/j.knosys.2012.07.025
- Sahin, I., & Matusitz, J. (2013). Using network theory to improve outcomes for drug law enforcement agencies. *Journal of Policy Practice*, 12, 125–142. doi:10.1080/15588742.2013.766948
- Sallee, M. W., & Flood, J. T. (2012). Using qualitative research to bridge research, policy, and practice. *Theory Into Practice*, *51*, 137–144. doi:10.1080/00405841.2012.662873
- Sandelowski, M. (2011). When a cigar is not just a cigar: Alternative takes on data and data analysis. *Research in Nursing & Health*, 34, 342–352. doi:10.1002/nur.20437
- Sandelowski, M. (2014). A matter of taste: Evaluating the quality of qualitative research. *Nursing Inquiry*, 21. doi:10.1111/nin.12080
- Sandelowski, M., & Leeman, J. (2012). Writing Usable Qualitative Health Research Findings. *Qualitative Health Research*, 22, 1404–1413. doi:10.1177/1049732312450368

Sangar, A. B., & Iahad, N. B. (2013). Critical factors that affect the success of business intelligence systems (BIS). *International Journal of Scientific & Technology Research*, 2, 176–180. Retrieved from http://www.ijstr.org

- Sargeant, J. (2012). Qualitative research Part II: Participants, analysis, and quality assurance. *Journal of Graduate Medical Education*, 4, 1–3. doi:10.4300/JGME-D-11-00307.1
- Saunders, B., Kitzinger, J., & Kitzinger, C. (2014). Anonymising interview data: Challenges and compromise in practice. *Qualitative Research*, 14, 1–17. doi:10.1177/1468794114550439
- Scammon, D. L., Tomoaia-Cotisel, A., Day, R. L., Day, J., Kim, J., Waitzman, N. J., Magill, M. K. (2013). Connecting the dots and merging meaning: Using mixed methods to study primary care delivery transformation. *Health Services Research*, 48, 2181–2207. doi:10.1111/1475-6773.12114
- Schatz, E. (2012). Rationale and procedures for nesting semi-structured interviews in surveys or censuses. *Population Studies*, 66, 183–195. doi:10.1080/00324728.2012.658851
- Schnobrich-Davis, J. (2014). The changing landscape of policing: the Metro-LEC approach. *Police Practice and Research*, *15*(17), 1–15. doi:10.1080/15614263.2014.958084
- Schrodt, P. A. (2014). Seven deadly sins of contemporary quantitative political analysis. *Journal of Peace Research*, 51, 287–300. doi:10.1177/0022343313499597
- Seale, C. (1999). Quality in qualitative research. *Qualitative Inquiry*, *5*, 465–478. doi:10.1177/107780049900500402

- Serban, F., Vanschoren, J., Kietz, J.-U., & Bernstein, A. (2013). A survey of intelligent assistants for data analysis. ACM Computing Surveys, 45(3), 1–35. doi:10.1145/2480741.2480748
- Serena Chiucchi, M. (2013). Intellectual capital accounting in action: Enhancing learning through interventionist research. *Journal of Intellectual Capital*, 14, 48–68. doi:10.1108/14691931311289011
- Sharma, R., Mithas, S., & Kankanhalli, A. (2014). Transforming decision-making processes: a research agenda for understanding the impact of business analytics on organisations. *European Journal of Information Systems*, 23, 433–441. doi:10.1057/ejis.2014.17
- Shields, N., Bruder, A., Taylor, N., & Angelo, T. (2013). Getting fit for practice: An innovative pediatric clinical placement provided physiotherapy students opportunities for skill development. *Physiotherapy*, 99, 159–164. doi:10.1016/j.physio.2012.02.001
- Shokouhi, S. V., Skalle, P., & Aamodt, A. (2014). An overview of case-based reasoning applications in drilling engineering. *Artificial Intelligence Review*, 41, 317–329. doi:10.1007/s10462-011-9310-2
- Shull, F. (2013). Getting an intuition for Big Data. *IEEE Software*, *30*(4), 3–6. doi:10.1109/MS.2013.76

- Shuttleworth, C. C. (2014). The management accounting vocational fallacy. *South African Journal of Economic and Management Sciences*, *17*, 336–348. Retrieved from http://www.scielo.org.za/scielo.php
- Sinkovics, R. R., & Alfoldi, E. A. (2012). Progressive focusing and trustworthiness in qualitative research: The enabling role of Computer-Assisted Qualitative Data Analysis Software (CAQDAS). *Management International Review*, 52, 817–845. doi:10.1007/s11575-012-0140-5
- Skaržauskienė, A., & Jonušauskas, S. (2013). Defining innovative competencies of leading: systems intelligence. *International Journal of Innovation and Regional Development*, 5, 132–148. doi:10.1504/IJIRD.2013.055236
- Sorrell, J. M. (2013). Qualitative research in clinical nurse specialist practice. *Clinical Nurse Specialist*, 27, 175–178. doi:10.1097/NUR.0b013e3182990847
- Sosnoski, J. J., & Carlson, G. S. (2013).Coding collected research papers to create a simple information system. *International Journal of Sociotechnology and Knowledge Development*, 5, 38–58. doi:10.4018/ijskd.2013100104
- Staller, K. (2010). Qualitative research. In N. Salkind (Ed.), *Encyclopedia of research design*. (pp. 1159–1164). Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications, Inc. doi:10.4135/9781412961288.n350
- Steden, R. van, Wood, J., Shearing, C., & Boutellier, H. (2013). The many faces of nodal policing: Team play and improvisation in Dutch community safety. *Security Journal*, 26, 1-13 doi:10.1057/sj.2013.30

- Steinhoff, J., C., & Carnahan, T., L. (2012). Smart use of data mining is good business and good government. *Journal of Government Financial Management*, 61(1), 16– 22. Retrieved from http://www.agacgfm.org
- Stiegler, M. P., & Tung, A. (2014). Cognitive processes in anesthesiology decision making. *Anesthesiology*, 120, 204–217. doi:10.1097/ALN.0000000000000073
- Street, C. T., & Ward, K. W. (2012). Improving validity and reliability in longitudinal case study timelines. *European Journal of Information Systems*, 21, 160–175. doi:10.1057/ejis.2011.53
- Stuckey, H. (2013). Three types of interviews: Qualitative research methods in social health. *Journal of Social Health and Diabetes*, 1(2), 56. doi:10.4103/2321-0656.115294
- Summerville, K., & Dai, Z. (2012). Business process, financial performance and data management. *Competition Forum*, 10, 180–184. Retrieved from http://www.eberly.iup.edu/ASCWeb/journals_cf.html
- Sun, J., Li, H., Huang, Q.-H., & He, K.-Y. (2014). Predicting financial distress and corporate failure: A review from the state-of-the-art definitions, modeling, sampling, and featuring approaches. *Knowledge-Based Systems*, 57, 41–56. doi:10.1016/j.knosys.2013.12.006
- Suri, H. (2011). Purposeful sampling in qualitative research synthesis. *Qualitative Research Journal*, 11, 63–75. doi:10.3316/QRJ1102063

- Tallon, P. P. (2013). Corporate governance of big data: Perspectives on value, risk, and cost. *Computer*, 46(6), 32–38. doi:10.1109/MC.2013.155
- Teixeira, A. A., Jabbour, C. J. C., & Jabbour, A. B. L. de S. (2012). Relationship between green management and environmental training in companies located in Brazil: A theoretical framework and case studies. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 140, 318–329. doi:10.1016/j.ijpe.2012.01.009
- Thompson, N., Ravindran, R., & Nicosia, S. (2015). Government data does not mean data governance: Lessons learned from a public sector application audit. *Government Information Quarterly*, 32, 316–322. doi:10.1016/j.giq.2015.05.001
- Tong, A., Chapman, J. R., Israni, A., Gordon, E. J., & Craig, J. C. (2013). Qualitative research in organ transplantation: Recent contributions to clinical care and policy. *American Journal of Transplantation*, 13, 1390–1399. doi:10.1111/ajt.12239
- Tong, A., Flemming, K., McInnes, E., Oliver, S., & Craig, J. (2012). Enhancing transparency in reporting the synthesis of qualitative research: ENTREQ. BMC Medical Research Methodology, 12, 181.

doi:10.1186/1471-2288-12-181

- Tuohy, D., Cooney, A., Dowling, M., Murphy, K., & Sixsmith, J. (2013). An overview of interpretive phenomenology as a research methodology. *Nurse Researcher*, 20(6), 17–20. doi:10.7748/nr2013.07.20.6.17.e315
- U.S., County Government, Intelligence. (2015). *Intelligence-2-Action Operational Model and Methodology* (3rd ed., Vol. 1, G.O. 23.13, pp. 1-4). FL: GCFL.

- Vaismoradi, M., Turunen, H., & Bondas, T. (2013). Content analysis and thematic analysis: Implications for conducting a qualitative descriptive study: Qualitative descriptive study. *Nursing & Health Sciences*, 15, 398–405. doi:10.1111/nhs.12048
- Venkatesh, V., Brown, S. A., & Bala, H. (2013). Bridging the qualitative-quantitative divide: Guidelines for conducting mixed methods research in information systems. *MIS Quarterly*, 37, 21–54. Retrieved from http://www.misq.org/
- Vogl, S. (2013). Telephone versus face-to-face interviews: Mode effect on semistructured interviews with children. *Sociological Methodology*, 43, 133–177. doi:10.1177/0081175012465967
- Wahyuni, D. (2012). The research design maze: Understanding paradigms, cases, methods and methodologies. *Journal of Applied Management Accounting Research*, 10, 69-80. Retrieved from

http://cmawebline.org/publications/jamar.html

- Walker, L. A., & East, J. F. (2014). The benefits of including engaged residents and professionals in low-income neighborhood redevelopment planning processes. *Journal of Community Practice*, 22, 342–364. doi:10.1080/10705422.2014.929063
- Ward, D. J., Furber, C., Tierney, S., & Swallow, V. (2013). Using framework analysis in nursing research: A worked example. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 69, 2423– 2431. doi:10.1111/jan.12127

- Ward, S. J., & King, L. A. (2015). Individual differences in intuitive processing moderate responses to moral transgressions. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 87, 230–235. doi:10.1016/j.paid.2015.08.021
- Wigan, M. R., & Clarke, R. (2013). Big data's big unintended consequences. *Computer*, 46(6), 46–53. doi:10.1109/MC.2013.195
- Winter, J. M., Lemeire, J., Meganck, S., Geboers, J., Rossi, G., & Mokros, A. (2013).
 Comparing the predictive accuracy of case linkage methods in serious sexual assaults: Predictive accuracy of linkage methods. *Journal of Investigative Psychology and Offender Profiling*, *10*(1), 28–56. doi:10.1002/jip.1372
- Worrall, J. L. (2012, June). The police sixth sense: An observation in search of a theory. *American Journal of Criminal Justice*, 38, 306–322.
 doi:10.1007/s12103-012-9176-0
- Wu, Y. (2013, October). Strengthening intelligence education with informationprocessing and knowledge-organization competencies. *Journal of Strategic Security*, 6(3), 10–24. doi:10.5038/1944-0472.6.3.2
- Wyatt, K. (2013). How to "get" grounded and not "get" lost: Review of grounded theory for qualitative research: A practical guide. *The Qualitative Report*, *18*, 1–4. Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/
- Wynn Jr, D., & Williams, C. K. (2012). Principles for conducting critical realist case study research in information systems. *MIS Quarterly*, *36*, 787-810. Retrieved from http://www.misq.org/

- Xindong Wu, Xingquan Zhu, Gong-Qing Wu, & Wei Ding. (2014). Data mining with big data. *IEEE Transactions on Knowledge and Data Engineering*, 26(1), 97–107. doi:10.1109/TKDE.2013.109
- Xu, M. A., & Storr, G. B. (2012). Learning the concept of researcher as instrument in qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report*, *17*(21), 1-18. Retrieved from http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/
- Xu, Y., & Yeh, C.-H. (2012). An integrated approach to evaluation and planning of best practices. *Omega*, 40, 65–78. doi:10.1016/j.omega.2011.03.007
- Yeoh, W., & Popovič, A. (2016). Extending the understanding of critical success factors for implementing business intelligence systems: Extending the understanding of critical success factors for implementing business intelligence systems. *Journal of the Association for Information Science and Technology*, 67, 134–147. doi:10.1002/asi.23366
- Yilmaz, K. (2013). Comparison of quantitative and qualitative research traditions: Epistemological, theoretical, and methodological differences. *European Journal* of Education, 48, 311–325. doi:10.1111/ejed.12014
- Yin, R. K. (2014). Case study research: Design and methods (Fifth edition.). Los Angeles: Sage Publications.
- Zeng, L., Li, L., & Duan, L. (2012). Business intelligence in enterprise computing environment. *Information Technology and Management*, 13, 297–310. doi:10.1007/s10799-012-0123-z

Zhao, Y., & Harrison, S. P. (2012). Mid-Holocene monsoons: a multi-model analysis of the inter-hemispheric differences in the responses to orbital forcing and ocean feedbacks. *Climate Dynamics*, 39, 1457–1487. doi:10.1007/s00382-011-1193-z

Appendix A: Organizational Approval to Conduct Research

Walden University

Exploring Best Practices to Implement a Business Intelligence System

{Organization Name} {Organization Contact}

{Date}

Dear Authorizing Representative,

My name is John McHenry and I am a doctoral candidate at Walden University, working to complete my Doctor of Business Administration degree with a concentration in Information Systems Management. I am conducting a dissertation research study on the best practices needed by data management leaders to utilize business intelligence systems for effective resource management. My research will involve interviewing *leaders tasked with utilizing a business intelligence system, data analyst tasked with transforming raw data into knowledge, and* the review of an *archival document assessing the function of current intelligence system practices.* Your organization was identified as meeting the necessary criteria. Therefore, I am contacting you to determine the possibility of including employees from your organization in my study.

Upon your approval of the proposed study, I will email you a letter of introduction with a request to forward the invitation to participate to all intelligence system leaders and analysts on my behalf. If permissible, all employees will contact me directly to express interest and receive an informed consent form for participation. All interviews will occur in private (i.e. the participant's office, designated office) and be scheduled to prevent any disruption to their workday. The desired archival document would include a professional study assessing the function of the organization current intelligence system practices, policies and/or strategies. You may terminate this agreement to conduct research at any time by providing written notice thirty (30) days prior to the expected termination date.

After the study is finalized and approved by Walden University, a summary of findings will be provided for review. The names of the organization, study participants, and requested archival document will remain confidential. If you would be willing to allow me to conduct the study with this agency, per the description above, please sign below.

Sincerely,

John McHenry

 Authorizing Representative

 Signature:______

 Print Name:______

 Print Table:______

Appendix B: E-mail Introduction

Hello XXXXXX,

My name is John McHenry and I am a doctoral candidate at Walden University working to complete my Doctor of Business Administration degree. I am conducting a doctoral research study on what best practices are needed by data management leaders to utilize intelligence systems for effective resource management?

I believe that your participation and your knowledge of data management/analytics, and intelligence cycles will make an important contribution to the research and available literature. I am requesting your participation in face-to-face interview and only ask for about 45 minutes of your time.

If you agree to participate in the study, you will receive a summary of the findings, which will provide an opportunity to learn what other best practices methodologies other organizations use to create effective intelligence systems. Your confidentiality will be protected.

If you are willing to participate in the interview process, please contact me at XXX-XXX-XXXX or via email at John.McHenry@Waldenu.edu with any questions and to receive a consent form for review. The consent form contains additional information about the study. Following the receipt of an emailed consent form response of '*I Consent*', I will contact you to arrange a time and date for the interview. I look forward to speaking with you soon.

Thank you,

John McHenry

Appendix C: Interview Protocol and Questions

Interview Protocol

- A. Personal introduction to the participant.
- B. Verify participant received interview questions via email, and answer any questions and/or participant concerns.
- C. Confirm the participant knows all interviews are recorded for accuracy.
- D. Turn on the digital recorders.
- E. Thank participant for accepting the invitation to participate in the study.
- F. Start interview with question #1; follow through to final question.
- G. Complete interview and discuss member checking with participant.
- H. Turn off the digital recorders.
- I. Thank the interviewee for their participation in the study. Confirm the participant has contact information for follow up questions and concerns.
- J. End protocol.

Interview Questions

- 1. What task analyses are necessary to utilize an intelligence system for effective resource management?
- 2. What skills and training do leaders need to utilize an intelligence system for resource management?

- 3. What principles can leaders espouse when utilizing an intelligence system to establish best practices to manage resources?
- 4. What are best practices that may assist leaders in effectively utilizing intelligence systems at government agencies?
- 5. What data analytic model(s) does your agency need to utilize an intelligence system to identify patterns or themes in information?
- 6. How do the data analytic model(s) used by your agency transform information into actionable intelligence?
- 7. What data analytic reasoning process(es) should leaders choose for the implementation of an intelligence system for the proficient use of resources?
- 8. What information technology requirements are essential for the successful implementation of an intelligence system?
- 9. What knowledge relating to data analysis technologies and methodologies do leaders need for the effective utilization of an intelligence system to proficiently employ resources?
- 10. What additional information can you add that would be valuable to this study?